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Declaration by the Board of Directors and statement of 

responsibility pursuant to sections 297 (2) and 315 (1) of the 

German Commercial Code (HGB) 

 
The Board of Directions of Wintershall Dea GmbH is responsible for preparing the annual financial 

statements and the group management report of the Wintershall Dea Group (up until 16 May 2019: 

Wintershall Group). 

 

The consolidated financial statements of Wintershall Dea Group for the short fiscal year ending 31 

December 2019 were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) published by the International Accounting Standards (IASB), London, and adopted by the 

European Union. 

 

We have established effective internal control and management systems to ensure that the group 

management report and the consolidated financial statements of the Wintershall Dea Group comply 

with the applicable accounting standards and to ensure due and proper corporate reporting. 

 

The risk management system that we have established is designed to allow the Board of Directors to 

identify material risks at an early stage so that it can take appropriate measures to counteract them 

if necessary. The reliability and functionality of the internal control and risk management system are 

reviewed by the Internal Audit department throughout the Group on an ongoing base. 

 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable accounting principles, the 

consolidated financial statements of the Wintershall Dea Group give a true and fair view of the net 

assets, financial position and results of operations of the Wintershall Dea Group. Furthermore, the 

group management report of the Wintershall Dea Group provides a true and fair view of Group's 

business development, including the business results and situation of the Wintershall Dea Group, 

together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 

development of the Wintershall Dea Group. 

 

Kassel/Hamburg, 26 February 2020 

 

 

 

 

Mehren Smith 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Wieland Dijkgraaf 



 

 

Group Management Report of the Wintershall Dea Group 

for the short fiscal year from 1 May to 31 December 2019 

 

1. The Wintershall Dea group 

1.1. Organization 

Wintershall Dea GmbH, headquartered in Kassel and Hamburg, is the parent company of the 

Wintershall Dea group.  

 

The group was formed on 1 May 2019 through the combination of: 

• the oil and gas business of BASF (including the gas transportation business) which was 

held in Wintershall Dea GmbH (formerly Wintershall Holding GmbH) and its subsidiar-

ies; and 

• the oil and gas business of LetterOne, comprising Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG 

(formerly DEA Deutsche Erdoel AG) and its subsidiaries (Dea). 

 

The group’s business is conducted in six segments: 

• E&P Northern Europe 

• E&P Russia 

• E&P Middle East/North Africa (MENA) 

• E&P Latin America (LATAM) 

• Midstream 

• Other 

 

The four E&P segments are further divided into 11 divisions, based on countries in the respec-

tive region. The E&P segments comprise exploration and appraisal, field development and pro-

duction activities in the following divisions: 

• E&P Northern Europe: Germany, Norway and Denmark/the Netherlands/UK 

• E&P Russia: Russia 

• E&P Middle East/North Africa: Egypt, Libya, Algeria and United Arab Emirates (UAE) 

• E&P Latin America: Argentina, Mexico and Brazil 

 
The segment Midstream comprises the onshore and offshore gas transportation activities in 

Europe. The segment Other includes the Board of Management, corporate functions, inter alia 

Strategy, Global Exploration, Technology & Innovation, Digital Transformation, holding compa-

nies, as well as trading activities managed by headquarter.  
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1.2. Sites, Market and Environment 

The Wintershall Dea group is a European gas and oil company with full life-cycle capabilities 

across exploration, development and production activities, as well as a stable, cash flow-gen-

erative European midstream business with investments in European gas transportation assets 

(onshore and offshore) and pipeline operators. 

 

The group’s production, development and exploration assets are located in Northern Europe, 

Russia, Middle East/North Africa and Latin America. In addition to operating a number of key 

assets, the group is a partner in a number of long-term joint venture arrangements with some 

of the world’s leading oil and gas companies.   

 

The group has a significant number of major development projects that are due to come on-

stream in 2020 and 2021, including six major development projects in Norway, one in Russia and 

additional projects in various stages of their development phases in Egypt, Argentina, UAE and 

Mexico.  

 

1.3. Management system and performance indicators 

The group uses various key performance indicators to manage and steer its performance and 

to achieve sustainable and value-oriented growth. Production, adjusted EBITDAX (EBITDAX), 

development/production capex and free cash flow are the major key metrics used for the pur-

poses of internal management control. These key performance indicators were harmonized 

for Wintershall Dea group after the merger. In the previous period, revenue, production, EBIT 

and the range of reserves were the key performance indicators of Wintershall group. All fore-

casts of the previous fiscal year were met, since the KPI’s increased significantly due to the 

merger. 

 

In order to ensure the value-oriented management of the group, we use planning and control 

processes to make key figures and information available to the decision-making bodies 

throughout the group. Based on the long-term plans, the relevant budgets are defined and 

tracked during the year using monthly forecasts. This allows any deviations from the budget 

to be detected promptly, analysed and, in the event of negative developments, balanced to 

the greatest extent possible by taking suitable countermeasures.  
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2. Our Strategy 

Wintershall Dea is a European gas and oil company with a complementary midstream business 

that has stable and predictable cash flows.  

 

Our strategy is to strengthen Wintershall Dea’s position as a European gas and oil company, 

by delivering safe profitable growth, a sustainable return to shareholders, and play an active 

role in the energy transition. 

 

We expect that demand for our products will continue to grow over the next few decades, 

particularly natural gas which will help industry and society to adapt to the low carbon econ-

omy. Our preference for future growth projects is for those projects that have a lower carbon 

footprint, and therefore complement our existing low carbon intensity portfolio. Technology, 

digitalisation, innovation, partnerships, and especially our people, are all essential for the suc-

cessful delivery of our strategy.  

 

Sustainability is at the heart of our business model, as we work to balance value creation for 

investors with the expectations of our wider stakeholders, in a responsible manner. We contin-

uously aim to achieve zero harm to people, the environment and our assets. This responsibility 

lies with everyone in our company now as well as in future.   

 

Our strategy is to ensure that Wintershall Dea remains well positioned to deliver value through 

the cycle. We have a rigorous capital allocation framework that is anchored on the principle 

of maintaining our investment grade rating and providing the capacity to return competitive 

dividends to shareholders. Our low-cost production base supports the resilience of our portfo-

lio through the commodity price cycle, and our investment in new projects is focused on those 

assets that offer low-cost, profitable growth.  

 

Our E&P portfolio is centred in Northern Europe, Russia, Latin America, North Africa and the 

Middle East. In Germany, Norway, Russia, Egypt and Argentina, we continue to optimize our 

existing portfolio, focus on delivery of our development projects and in some cases to grow 

through further exploration and business development. In Mexico, Brazil and Abu Dhabi/UAE 

where we have yet to commence material production, we aim to increase our presence signif-

icantly in the coming years, primarily through focused exploration and development projects. 
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3. The Wintershall Dea group’s business year 

3.1. Material changes and developments 

Wintershall Dea GmbH declared the period from 1 May until 31 December 2019 a short fiscal 

year to bring the financial year back in line with the calendar year. Since the short fiscal year 

only comprised an 8-month period and the preceding financial year comprised a 4-month pe-

riod, amounts presented in the financial statements in the year-to-year comparison are not 

comparable. In addition, comparative figures do not include the former Dea group, therefore 

the reporting and preceding period are not comparable. In addition to the comparison of the 

reporting period (1 May 2019 – 31 December 2019) with the previous financial year (1 January – 

30 April 2019; comparison period), the results of operations for the full calendar year, derived 

from the addition of audited consolidated financial statements of the Wintershall Dea group 

for the reporting period, the audited consolidated financial statements of the Wintershall 

group for the comparison period and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Dea 

group for the comparison period, were compared with the results of operations for the full 

calendar year 2018, derived from the addition of the audited consolidated financial state-

ments of the Wintershall group for 2018 and the audited consolidated financial statements of 

the Dea group for 2018. The numbers for the like-for-like periods are not audited and the com-

parison is for informational purposes only. For computational reasons, rounding differences to 

the exact mathematical figures (monetary units, percentages, etc.) may occur. 

 

In June, Wintershall Dea closed the sale of Untertage Speicher Gesellschaft mbH, comprising 

its underground storage facility in Blexen, Germany.  

 

In September, Wintershall Dea completed the sale of interests in certain non-operated oil and 

gas assets in Emsland and Grafschaft Bentheim in Germany.  

 

In November, Wintershall Dea sold a 45% interest share in the Aguada Federal block situated 

in the Neuquén basin (Argentina) to ConocoPhillips. Wintershall Dea, as the operator, will retain 

a 45% share in the block. ConocoPhillips also acquired a 50% share in the nearby Bandurria 

Norte block from Wintershall Dea. Wintershall Dea retained the other 50% and remains the 

operator of the block. Final investment decision for the first development phase is foreseen by 

end of 2020. 

 

The onshore gas transportation activities of the group in Germany are bundled under the hold-

ing company WIGA Transport Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG (WIGA), which is owned by Winter-

shall Dea with 50.02% and GAZPROM Germania GmbH (GPG) (49.98%). Historically, the results 

of WIGA were fully consolidated into Wintershall Dea group’s financial statements. As a result 

of the merger, Wintershall Dea and GPG agreed to an adjustment of the corporate governance 

in WIGA with effect from 1 December 2019 which resulted in a loss of Wintershall Dea’s control 
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over WIGA and led to joint control of Wintershall Dea and GPG. This in turn led to a consolida-

tion based on the equity method of the whole WIGA group in Wintershall Dea’s consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

In December, Wintershall Dea sold its interests in its Norwegian infrastructure projects in the 

Nyhamna terminal and in the Polarled pipeline. Also, in December we sold the subsidiary own-

ing the office building in Norway. We signed a long-term lease contract for the office building 

with the new owner. 

 

In December, Wintershall Aktiengesellschaft (WIAG), which is accounted for using the equity 

method, and Libya’s National Oil Corporation (NOC) signed two Exploration and Production 

Sharing Agreements (EPSAs), relating to the Libyan onshore business. The parties agreed to 

convert WIAG’s Concessions 96 and 97 to the latest EPSA IV contractual standard, taking ret-

roactive economic effect as of 1 January 2008. The conversion had no impact on the fair value 

of the related assets. By converting the concessions to EPSAs, the terms of the EPSA for Area 

91 (formerly Concession 96) will last until 2036 and the terms of the EPSA for Area 107 (formerly 

Concession 97) will last until 2037. WIAG and NOC will establish a joint operating company (JOC) 

named “Sarir Oil Operations” (51% NOC, 49% WIAG) that, following a transitional 6-month pe-

riod of continued WIAG operatorship, will assume operational responsibility in both contract 

areas. Due to the critical economic and political environment in Libya, WIAG closely monitors 

the transition phase into EPSA. The project is covered by an investment guarantee from the 

Federal Government of Germany. 

 

At the end of December, Wintershall Dea signed a contract to sell its operated participating 

interests in certain oil concessions mainly located in Southern Germany. The transaction is sub-

ject to customary regulatory approvals and is expected to be closed in the first half of 2020. 

 

Following Wintershall’s merger with Dea, the previous financing arrangement (BASF group fi-

nancing) was replaced by an external financing arrangement with a consortium of banks (Syn-

dicated Credit Facilities Agreement). The first tranche (€ 631 million and $ 1,801 million) was 

drawn on 30 April 2019 and the second tranche (€ 2,822 million and $ 572 million) was drawn on 

2 May 2019. Facility A, with a nominal amount of € 2,286 million and $ 1,575 million, was fully 

repaid in September 2019. As of 31 December 2019, a nominal amount of € 1,879 million was 

utilized (Facility B and C). Additionally, a 5-year revolving credit facility of € 900 million was 

agreed with the bank consortium, which can be utilised if necessary; the revolving credit facility 

is currently undrawn. 
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On 25 September 2019, Wintershall Dea Finance B.V. (a fully owned subsidiary of Wintershall 

Dea GmbH) issued four bonds in the total amount of € 4,000 million. The tranches (€ 1,000 mil-

lion each) have tenors of 4, 6, 9 and 12 years, respectively. Wintershall Dea Finance B.V. on-lent 

the net proceeds to Wintershall Dea GmbH in € and Wintershall Dea Norge AS in $ which, in 

turn, used it to repay Facility A under the Syndicated Credit Facilities Agreement, to finance 

transaction costs incurred in connection with the take-out financing and for general corporate 

purposes.   

 

3.2. Macro fundamentals 

Economic environment 

According to current estimates by the International Monetary Fund, global economic output in 

2019 increased by approximately 2.9%, which is below the previous year’s growth rate of ap-

proximately 3.6%. The slowing global economic activity was due to geopolitical tensions, inten-

sifying social unrest and further worsening relations between the United States and its trading 

partners (especially China). However, concerns decreased due to an accommodative monetary 

policy and a positive trend on US-China trade negotiations. According to estimates by the Eu-

ropean Central Bank, Gross Domestic Product in the Eurozone is expected to have risen in 2019 

by 1.2%, compared with 1.8% in 2018. 

 
Oil prices 

Average crude oil prices decreased by 10% from $ 71 per bbl. in 2018 to $ 64 per bbl. for the 

calendar year 2019. Prices decreased due to increased global supply, primarily from US uncon-

ventional production, and a slowdown in demand due to increased trade tension between the 

US and China.  

 

The average oil price for Brent decreased by 2%, from $ 65 per bbl. in the short fiscal year 

ending 30 April 2019 to $ 64 per bbl. in the short fiscal year ending 31 December 2019.  

 

$/barrel 
May – Dec. 

2019 
Jan. – Apr. 

2019 
Jan. – Dec. 

2019 
Jan. – Dec. 

2018 

Average Brent price for the period1  64 65 64 71 

1 Source: Heren/Argus/Platts 

 
 
Gas prices 

TTF gas prices decreased by 44% from $ 7.9 per mscf in 2018 to $ 4.4 per mscf for the calendar 

year 2019. Gas prices were negatively influenced by mild weather conditions during winter sea-

son and increased supply in Western Europe, mainly due to increased LNG supply to Europe. 
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Average TTF prices decreased by 36% to $ 3.8 per mscf in the reporting period, compared 
with $ 5.9 per mscf in the previous reporting period.  
 

$/mscf 
May – Dec. 

2019 
Jan. – Apr. 

2019 
Jan. – Dec. 

2019 
Jan. – Dec. 

2018 

Average TTF price for the period1 3.8 5.9 4.4 7.9 

1 Source: Heren/Argus/Platts; FX conversion according to ECB 

 

 
Foreign currency  

The $ traded sideways against the € in the reporting period. The € traded at $ 1.11/€ on average 

for the short fiscal year ending 31 December 2019 (Jan.-Apr. 2019: $ 1.13/€). At the end of De-

cember, the € was trading at $ 1.12/€ (30 April 2019: $ 1.12/€). 

 

The Russian rouble (RUB) appreciated slightly against the € in the reporting period. The € traded 

at RUB 71.5/€ on average for the short fiscal year ending 31 December 2019 (Jan.-Apr. 2019: RUB 

74.3/€). At the end of December, the € was trading at RUB 69.9/€ (30 April 2019: RUB 72.2/€). 

 

The Argentine peso (ARS) continued to depreciate, averaging to ARS 57.9/€ in the reporting 

period (Jan.-Apr. 2019: ARS 45.3/€). At the end of December, the € was trading at ARS 67.2/€ (30 

April 2019: ARS 49.1/€). 
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3.3. Business performance and profitability 

 

Production 

Natural gas  
(mboe/d) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Northern Europe 104 61 105 89 

Russia 229 243 234 210 

Middle East/North Africa 42 - 39 26 

Latin America 68 63 67 67 

 443 367 445 392 

 

Liquids (mboe/d) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winter-
shall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Northern Europe 94 66 95 114 

Russia 55 58 56 42 

Middle East/North Africa5 13 2 12 11 

Latin America 10 6 9 7 

 172 132 172 174 

 

Total production (mboe/d) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Northern Europe 198 127 201 203 

Russia 284 300 289 252 

Middle East/North Africa5 55 2 51 37 

Latin America 78 69 76 74 

 615 499 617 566 

mboe/d – thousand barrel of oil equivalent per day 
1 The reporting period comprises production for Wintershall Dea group on a working interest basis; including proportional production 
from at equity accounted companies  
2 The comparison period comprises production for Wintershall group (excluding Dea group) on a working interest basis; including pro-
portional production from at equity accounted companies 
3 The period comprises production for Wintershall Dea group on a like-for-like basis (aggregating production for Wintershall Dea group 
for the reporting period, production for Wintershall group for the short fiscal year ending 30 April 2019 and the production for Dea 
group for the short fiscal year ending 30 April 2019) on a working interest basis; including proportional production from at equity ac-
counted companies 
4 The period comprises production for Wintershall Dea group on a like-for-like basis (aggregating production for Wintershall group for 
2018 and the production for Dea group for 2018) on a working interest basis; including proportional production from at equity accounted 
companies 
5 Excluding Libya onshore due to the change to EPSA contracts 
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In the period under review, the group’s daily production averaged 615 mboe/d, of which gas 

was 443 mboe/d and liquids 172 mboe/d. This represents an increase of 23% compared to the 

previous year, mainly due to the merger with Dea. This was only partially offset by lower pro-

duction in Northern Europe and Russia due to the impact of the summer maintenance period 

in the reporting period. 

 

The group’s daily production in the calendar year 2019 (on a like-for-like basis) averaged 617 

mboe/d, of which gas was 445 mboe/d and liquids 172 mboe/d. This represents an increase of 

9% compared to 2018 on a like-for-like basis. 

 
 
Realized prices 

 

 
May – Dec. 

20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Average realized liquids price including 
oil price hedge result (in $/bbl)  

38 37 40 49 

Average realized liquids price exclud-
ing oil price hedge result (in $/bbl) 

38 37 40 50 

   Northern Europe 51 54 53 62 

   Russia5 12 14 12 11 

   Middle East/North Africa 60 - 59 67 

   Latin America 45 47 47 61 

Average realized gas price (in $/mscf) 2.2 2.2 2.3 3.1 

   Northern Europe 4.1 6.5 4.8 8.2 

   Russia5 0.9 0.9 0.9 1.0 

   Middle East/North Africa 3.5 - 3.5 3.8 

   Latin America 3.1 3.1 3.1 4.3 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation. 
5 Includes the deduction of costs and applicable taxes. 

 

 

Our oil sales are primarily priced against the Brent oil benchmark, with discounts or premia 

according to the quality of oil sold. Our production of condensate and NGL’s in Russia is mar-

keted to Gazprom based on agreed formulae, taking into account market prices and the de-

duction of relevant costs and taxes. 
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Our gas sales in North-western Europe are based on the NBP and the TTF. In Russia, the realized 

prices for production from our projects with Gazprom are based on agreed price formulae. 

Those formulae reflect a combination of export and domestic prices, including the deduction 

of transportation costs and relevant cost and taxes. Our gas production in Argentina is mainly 

sold in the local market, partially at regulated prices and based partially on $, whereas our gas 

sales in Egypt are sold through domestic gas contracts. 
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Results of operations 

Consolidated income statement of the Wintershall Dea group 

€ million  
May – Dec. 

20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Revenues gas and oil 2,932 1,276 4,664 5,666 

Revenues midstream 121 73 194 237 

Revenues other 219 180 401 365 

Net income from equity-accounted in-
vestments: gas and oil 

12 17 29 25 

Net income from equity-accounted in-
vestments: midstream 

70 44 114 104 

Other operating income 519 10 528 341 

 3,873 1,600 5,930 6,738 

Production and operating expenses -1,298 -655 -2,095 -2,273 

Production and similar taxes -110 -36 -177 -227 

Depreciation and amortization -1,053 -295 -1,485 -1,168 

Net impairment on assets -298 -1,206 -1,579 -351 

Cost of sales midstream -19 -10 -29 -54 

Exploration expenses -148 -76 -211 -221 

General and administration expenses -206 -277 -694 -315 

 741 -955 -340 2,129 

Financial income 107 38 167 186 

Financial expenses -247 -42 -314 -308 

 -140 -4 -147 -122 

Income/loss (-) before taxes 601 -959 -487 2,007 

Income taxes -286 108 -186 -1,055 

Net income/loss (-) 315 -851 -673 952 

 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation, aggregating the income statement of Wintershall Dea group for the short fiscal year ending 31 December 
2019, the income statement of the Wintershall group for the short fiscal year ending 30 April 2019 (in the new reporting structure) and 
the income statement of the Dea group for the short fiscal year ending 30 April 2019 (in the new reporting structure). Effects from the 
purchase price allocation are included from 1 May 2019 onwards only. 
4 Like-for-like presentation, aggregating the income statement of the Wintershall group for the calendar year 2018 (in the new report-
ing structure) and the income statement of the Dea group for the calendar year 2018 (in the new reporting structure), excluding any 
effects from the purchase price allocation. 
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Comparison May-December 2019 versus January-April 2019 

In the reporting period May-December 2019, revenues and other income increased by € 2,273 

million or 142%, to € 3,873 million, compared with € 1,600 million in the prior year. This is mainly 

relating to the merger with Dea and the different duration of reporting and comparison peri-

ods. It was partially offset by lower commodity prices: Brent declined by 2%, whereas gas prices 

(TTF) declined by 36%. Gas trading volumes in Germany accounted for € 536 million in the re-

porting period, compared to € 427 million in the previous period. Commodity hedges for oil and 

gas accounted for € 38 million; the comparison period does not include hedges. In addition to 

the timing effect, net income from equity-accounted investments: midstream increased due to 

the fact that from 1 December 2019 onwards the equity consolidation includes the whole WIGA 

group. The other operating income increased significantly, mainly owing to the effect from the 

change in the consolidation method for WIGA group as of 1 December 2019, which led to a gain 

of € 385 million. In addition, the gain from the deconsolidation of two subsidiaries in Northern 

Europe and the farm-down of Aguada Federal and Bandurria Norte in Argentina led to an in-

crease of other operating income. 

 

Production and operating expenses increased by € 643 million or 98%, to € 1,298 million com-

pared with € 655 million in the previous period, mainly owing to the merger with Dea and the 

different duration of reporting and comparison periods. This was partially offset by lower cost 

for purchased gas trading quantities.  

 

Depreciation and amortization increased by € 758 million or 257%, to € 1,053 million compared 

with € 295 million in the previous period, mainly owing to the merger with Dea and the different 

duration of reporting and comparison periods. In addition, depreciation and amortization in-

creased in parallel to higher production volumes, as the unit of production method is applied.  

 

Net impairment on assets decreased by € 908 million or 75%, to € 298 million compared to € 

1,206 million in the previous period. In the reporting period, impairments mainly resulted from 

producing assets in Northern Europe, from an exploration asset in Latin America as well as 

from the impairment of goodwill allocated to Latin America and Middle East/North Africa. In 

the comparison period, closing related impairments resulted mainly from producing assets in 

Northern Europe and impairments of equity-accounted investments in Northern Europe and 

Russia, as well as goodwill impairment.  

 

Cost of sales midstream increased by € 9 million or 90%, to € 19 million compared with € 10 

million in the prior year, mainly owing to the different duration of reporting and comparison 

periods.  
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Exploration expenses increased by € 72 million or 95%, to € 148 million compared with € 76 mil-

lion in the previous period, mainly owing to the merger with Dea and the different duration of 

reporting and comparison periods.  

 

In the reporting period, exploration expenses included dry well costs for 8 wells in Latin America 

and Northern Europe (comparison period: 1 well). In addition, exploration expenses included 

expenses for the acquisition of seismic data, license fees and changes in provisions for out-

standing work programmes. 

 

Exploration expenses 

(€ million) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Northern Europe 70 27 100 139 

Russia - - 0 2 

Middle East/North Africa 1 0 (1) 17 

Latin America 77 36 117 50 

Other 0 13 (5) 13 

 148 76 211 221 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation. 

 

General and administration expenses decreased by € 71 million or 26%, to € 206 million com-

pared with € 277 million in the previous period, mainly owing to additions to provisions for re-

structuring (€ 306 million) and for change-of-control payments (€ 40 million) in the comparison 

period. This was partially offset by the merger with Dea and the different duration of reporting 

and comparison periods.  

 

The financial income and financial expenses decreased in total by € 136 million to € -140 million 

compared with € -4 million in the previous period, mainly owing to the different duration of 

reporting and comparison periods. In addition, interest expenses increased due to refinancing 

of short-term BASF shareholder loans with long-term external financing. This was partially 

compensated by higher interest income due to higher loans to Achim Development and Nord 

Stream 2 AG.   

 
In the reporting period May-December 2019, the income before taxes amounted to € 601 million 

(comparison period: loss of € 959 million). In the reporting period, Wintershall Dea incurred total 

tax expenses of € 286 million. The effective tax rate in the reporting period amounted to 48% 

(comparison period: 11%). Owing to the fact, that impairments and certain expenses were not 

tax deductible in the comparison period, the tax rate in the comparison period was lower than 

in the reporting period. 



- 14 - 
 

 

 

The net income amounted to € 315 million, considerably higher than for the comparison period 

due to the merger with Dea, the timing effect as well as lower net impairments on assets and 

lower additions to restructuring provisions.  

 

All in all, the Wintershall Dea group continues to operate in an environment of ongoing volatil-

ity and pressure on oil and gas prices. The group’s portfolio of low-cost assets provides it with 

a competitive advantage throughout the commodity price cycle, enabling resilience in a low-

price environment and enhancing net cash flow when commodity prices are higher. In the re-

porting period, the group has been successful in further reducing its already low average unit 

production costs. The group has principally achieved this through cost saving initiatives, realiz-

ing economies of scale and increased utilization of technology, innovation and digitalization 

to optimize its overall production performance by leveraging our technical expertise and ef-

fectively deploying production technology and reservoir management to increase up-time and 

recovery. In combination with the increased production and positive non-recurring effects, this 

could overcompensate lower commodity prices and generate a positive net income. 

 
Comparison January-December 2019 versus January-December 2018 (unaudited) 

In the period January-December 2019, revenues and other income amounted to € 5,930 million, 

a 12% decrease compared to 2018. The main reason for that is the decline in commodity prices. 

Brent declined by 10% year-on-year, whereas gas (TTF) declined by 44%. Gas trading volumes 

in Germany accounted for € 963 million, compared to € 1,441 million in 2018. Commodity hedges 

for oil and gas account for € 31 million compared to € -50 million in 2018. Revenues midstream 

declined year-on-year due to the deconsolidation of the gas transportation companies as of 

30 November 2019; thus, revenues of the WIGA group are only included for 11 months in 2019. 

In addition, the temporary restrictions in transit capacity marketing for the OPAL pipeline in 

the fourth quarter 2019 led to a decrease of revenues. In contrast, due to the change of the 

consolidation method for the WIGA group, net income from equity-accounted investments: 

midstream increased slightly since from 1 December 2019 onwards the whole WIGA group is 

included in the equity valuation. The other operating income increased significantly, mainly due 

to the effect from the change of the consolidation method for the WIGA group which led to a 

gain of € 385 million, the gain from the deconsolidation of two subsidiaries and the farm-down 

of assets in Argentina. In 2018, other revenues included income from an insurance claim. 

 
Production and operating expenses amounted to € 2,095 million, an 8% decrease compared to 

2018, mainly due to lower cost for purchased gas trading quantities, which declined in parallel 

to the revenues from gas trading.  

 
Production and similar taxes amounted to € 177 million, a 22% decrease compared to 2018, 

mainly due to lower commodity prices and lower production volumes in Germany. 
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Depreciation and amortization amounted to € 1,485 million, a 27% increase compared to 2018, 

mainly due to higher production volumes and the purchase price allocation on Dea assets. 

 
Net impairment on assets amounted to € 1,579 million, mainly due to closing related impair-

ments of producing assets in Northern Europe, as well as an exploration asset in Latin America 

and impairments of equity-accounted investments in Northern Europe and Russia. Goodwill im-

pairment amounted to € 741 million in the calendar year 2019. 

 
Cost of sales midstream amounted to € 29 million in the calendar year 2019, a 46% decrease 

compared to 2018, mainly due to lower fuel gas cost. In addition, the change in the consolida-

tion method for the WIGA group and the fact that parts of the WIGA group where only fully 

consolidated for 11 months in 2019, led to a further decrease. 

 
Exploration expenses amounted to € 211 million, a 5% decrease compared to 2018, mainly due 

to lower dry well cost. 

 
General and administration expenses amounted to € 694 million, a 120% increase compared to 

2018, mainly due to the addition to provisions for restructuring (€ 273 million) and for change-

of-control fees (€ 40 million) in 2019. 

 
The financial income and financial expenses in total amounted to € -147 million, a decrease of 

20% compared to 2018, mainly due to higher interest expenses due to refinancing of BASF 

shareholder loans.  

 
In the calendar year 2019, the loss before taxes amounted to € -487 million (2018: profit before 

taxes € 2,007 million). The effective tax rate in 2019 amounted to 38% (2018: 53%). 

 
The net loss amounted to € 673 million. The result is significantly lower compared to 2018 due 

to higher net impairments on assets and higher additions to restructuring provisions. Adjusted 

for special items like impairments, expenses related to the merger such as restructuring, 

change-of-control fees and integration, gain from the deconsolidation of WIGA group as well 

as income from an insurance claim, adjusted net income would have amounted to € 879 million 

for the calendar year 2019 (2018: € 1,055 million), a decrease of 17% year-on-year, mainly owing 

to lower commodity prices. 
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Additional indicators for business performance 

EBITDAX 

EBITDAX is a non-GAAP financial measure and is used for internal management control pur-

poses within the Wintershall Dea group. It is a key indicator obtained from the income state-

ment, derived from the profit/loss (-) before taxes and adjusted by the following items: 

 

a. Interest income and expenses and income from investments shown as financial income 

and expenses in the income statement but adjusted for interest effects regarding pen-

sion provisions and pension assets which are shown separately in the line ’Pension 

items’. 

b. Income and expenses attributable to exploration but excluding depreciation, amortiza-

tion, impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses, interest income and ex-

penses, currency effects and pension items for exploration, since these are adjusted in 

separate line items. 

c. Depreciation, amortization and net impairment on assets as shown in the income state-

ment. 

d. Acquisition, disposal and restructuring costs and further identified items as stated be-

low. This represents all fees, costs and expenses, stamp duty, registration and other 

taxes incurred by the company in connection with an acquisition or a disposal and ma-

terial items of an unusual or non-recurring nature (e.g. resulting from restructuring ac-

tivities). 

e. Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses (including hedging results). 

f. Gains over or losses on book value arising from the disposal of any fixed assets (other 

than the sale of trading stock). 

g. Income from pension assets, interest expenses, service costs or other charges attribut-

able to a post-employment benefit scheme (Pension items). 
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EBITDAX 

(€ million) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Income/loss (-) before taxes  601 -959 -487 2,007 

Interest and other financing costs 6 -9 17 -25 

Exploration expenses 146 75 208 220 

Depreciation, amortization and net im-
pairment on assets 

1,350 1,502 3,063 1,519 

Acquisition, disposal and restructuring 
costs, and identified items5 

-425 187 -61 -238 

Realized and unrealized gains/losses 
from foreign currency valuation and fi-
nancial derivatives 

103 8 108 147 

Gains/ losses attributable to the disposal 
of fixed assets 

11 -22 -10 -70 

Pension items -13 3 -10 31 

EBITDAX 1,779 785 2,828 3,591 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation. 
5 Includes the following identified items: 
May-Dec 2019: including restructuring cost € -33 million, acquisition cost € 5 million, integration cost € 30 million, gain from deconsolida-
tion of two subsidiaries € -42 million, the change of consolidation method for WIGA group € -385 million  
Jan-Apr 2019: including restructuring cost € 180 million, integration cost € 7 million 
Jan-Dec 2019: including restructuring cost € 273 million, change-of-control fees € 40 million, acquisition cost € 8 million, integration cost 
€ 45 million, gain from deconsolidation of two subsidiaries € -42 million, the change of consolidation method for WIGA group € -385 
million  
Jan-Dec 2018: including restructuring cost € 9 million, integration cost € 23 million, loss from deconsolidation of a subsidiary € 10 million, 
income from an insurance claim € -280 million  

 

In the reporting period, EBITDAX amounted to € 1,779 million, up by € 994 million compared with 

the previous fiscal year. This is mainly owing to the duration of the reporting and comparison 

periods as well as to the merger with Dea.  

 

For the full calendar year 2019, EBITDAX amounts to € 2,828 million (2018: € 3,591 million). The 

decrease is mainly due to lower commodity prices and due to the decrease in revenues mid-

stream. At the same time, production and operating expenses did decrease only to a lesser 

degree compared to the revenues. This was partially offset by lower production and similar 

taxes and lower cost of sales midstream.  
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Production costs 

 

Production costs per boe 

($/boe) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Northern Europe 6.0 6.6 6.6 8.1 

Russia 0.8 0.4 0.6 0.6 

Middle East/North Africa 3.6 0 3.9 4.7 

Latin America 4.0 3.1 3.9 4.9 

Total production cost group 4.1 3.3 4.3 5.4 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation. 

 

Production costs relate to the production in consolidated companies only and comprise all 

costs related to our operations including G&A allocation but exclude export and processing 

tariffs, finance items and expenses for research and development. Since we operate in Russia 

on a net-back basis, the majority of the production costs are already considered in the price 

formula, leading to lower realized prices and lower production costs. 

 

For the calendar year 2019, production cost amounted to 4.3 $/boe, a decrease of 20% com-

pared with 2018. This is mainly related to lower absolute production costs and higher produc-

tion volumes.  
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3.4. Net assets 

Balance sheet of the Wintershall Dea group 

Assets (€ million) 31-12-2019 30-04-20191 
01-05-20192 

(unaudited) 

Goodwill 2,580 1,072 2,844 

Exploration assets 1,577 140 1,512 

Other intangible assets 2,925 745 3,227 

Property, plant and equipment and in-
vestment property 

9,932 6,311 10,732 

Equity-accounted investments 2,685 2,191 2,191 

Other financial assets 5 2 5 

Financial receivables 1,064 905 905 

Derivative instruments 72 - 7 

Other receivables 135 50 62 

Deferred tax assets 96 224 442 

Non-current assets 21,071 11,640 21,927 

Inventories 227 143 226 

Financial receivables 181 731 912 

Trade and other receivables 1,227 803 1,285 

Derivative instruments 57 17 17 

Income tax assets 83 19 19 

Cash and cash equivalents 814 889 1,060 

Current assets 2,589 2,602 3,519 

Assets 23,660 14,242 25,446 

 
1 Restated. 
2 Like-for-like presentation, including the merger with Dea on 1 May 2019 and the respective purchase price allocation. 
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Equity and liabilities (€ million) 31-12-2019 30-04-20191 
01-05-20192 

(unaudited) 

Equity 8,289 3,118 10,269 

Pension provisions 579 344 529 

Decommissioning provisions 2,815 1,633 2,497 

Other provisions 230 199 216 

Financial debt 6,028 1,526 1,577 

Derivative instruments 22 - 12 

Income tax liabilities 8 1 13 

Other liabilities 35 20 62 

Deferred tax liabilities 3,477 1,312 3,960 

Non-current liabilities 13,194 5,035 8,866 

Decommissioning provisions 58 27 54 

Other provisions 317 103 504 

Financial debt 576 1,630 3,783 

Trade and other payables 1,096 4,104 1,589 

Derivative instruments 51 35 71 

Income tax liabilities 79 190 310 

Current liabilities 2,177 6,089 6,311 

Equity and liabilities 23,660 14,242 25,446 

 
1 Restated. 
2 Like-for-like presentation, including the merger with Dea on 1 May 2019 and the respective purchase price allocation. 
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Comparison 31 December 2019 versus 30 April 2019 

Non-current assets amounted to 89% of total assets and stood at € 21,071 million as of 31 De-

cember 2019, up by € 9,431 million compared to 30 April 2019. The main driver for the increase 

was the merger with Dea and the respective purchase price allocation, which led to an increase 

of non-current assets of € 8.3 billion (thereof € 4.3 billion from the step-up in the course of the 

purchase price allocation). In addition, the significant capital expenditures were only partially 

offset by depreciation and amortization, impairments, asset disposals and adverse fx move-

ments. In contrast, the change in the consolidation method for the WIGA group led to a reduc-

tion of non-current assets. Intangible assets amounted to € 7,082 million, up by € 5,125 million. 

The increase is due to the merger and the capital expenditures of the reporting period, partially 

offset by impairments and disposals. Property, plant and equipment and investment property 

increased by € 3,621 million, resulting from the merger as well as from the capital expenditures, 

partially offset by depreciation and disposals. Equity-accounted investments (€ 2,685 million 

as at 31 December 2019) increased due to the change of the consolidation method of WIGA 

group,  

 

Current assets remained nearly stable compared to 30 April 2019 and stood at € 2,589 million 

as of 31 December 2019. Financial receivables declined by € 550 million, mainly due to the set-

tlement of the receivable under the profit and loss transfer agreement with the shareholder 

BASF. In contrast, trade and other receivables increased by € 424 million, mainly owing to the 

merger.    

 

The equity ratio of Wintershall Dea group amounted to 35% as at the balance sheet date (30 

April 2019: 22%). As of 31 December 2019, equity amounted to € 8,289 million, which is a signifi-

cant increase compared to 30 April 2019, mainly due to the capital increase in the course of 

the merger with Dea. This was partially offset by cash and non-cash reductions of the capital 

reserves. 

 

The non-current provisions and liabilities amounted to € 13,194 million as of 31 December 2019, 

a significant increase compared with 30 April 2019. This is due to the merger with Dea. Pension 

provisions increased by € 235 million to € 579 million as of 31 December 2019; the impact of the 

merger was partially offset by the release of pension provisions as one pension scheme be-

came a multi-employer plan after the merger. Decommissioning provisions increased by € 1,182 

million due to the merger, additional wells and adverse fx effects. Non-current financial debt 

increased significantly by € 4,502 million, mainly due to the issuance of the notes in September 

2019.  

 

Current provisions and liabilities stood at € 2,177 million as of 31 December 2019, a significant 

decrease compared with 30 April 2019. Current financial debt decreased by € 1,054 million, 

mainly due to the refinancing of the Syndicated credit facility that was drawn in the previous 
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fiscal year, via the issuance of long-term notes. Trade and other payables decreased by € 3,008 

million due to the conversion of shareholder loans into equity in the course of the merger. In 

contrast, current decommissioning and other provisions increased mainly due to the merger 

with Dea.  

 

Comparison 31 December 2019 versus 1 May 2019 (unaudited) 

Non-current assets as of 31 December 2019 decreased by € 856 million compared to 1 May 

2019. The decrease was mainly driven by the change of consolidation method for the WIGA 

group and depreciation, amortization, impairments, asset disposals and adverse fx move-

ments, partially offset by the significant capital expenditures. Intangible assets amounted to 

€ 7,082 million as of 31 December and include goodwill, exploration assets and other intangible 

assets. Compared to 1 May 2019 this is a decrease of € 501 million, mainly driven by goodwill 

impairment, amortization and disposals, which overcompensated the capital expenditures. 

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties amounted to € 9,932 million, a de-

crease of € 800 million compared to 1 May 2019. This is mainly due to the change in the consol-

idation method for WIGA group, depreciation and disposals, which overcompensated the cap-

ital expenditures in the reporting period. Investments accounted at equity increased by € 494 

million, mainly due to the step-up in the course of the fair valuation of the WIGA group. 

 

Current assets as of 31 December 2019 decreased by € 930 million compared to 1 May 2019. 

Financial receivables stood at € 181 million, a decrease of € 731 million compared to 1 May 

2019. This decrease is mainly related to the receivables under the profit and loss transfer 

agreements of both legacy companies with the respective shareholders for the previous fiscal 

year, which were settled in a non-cash way against reduction of capital reserves in the report-

ing year. Trade and other receivables amounted to € 1,227 million, nearly stable compared to 

1 May 2019. In addition, cash and cash equivalents declined in the course of the year and stood 

at € 814 million as of 31 December 2019. 

 

Equity as of 31 December 2019 decreased by € 1,980 million compared to 1 May 2019, mainly 

due to merger closing related reductions of capital reserves from payments to shareholders 

and non-cash settlements of receivables against the shareholders.  

 

Non-current financial debt stood at € 6,028 million, a significant increase compared to 1 May 

2019, mainly due to the issuance of notes in September. Decommissioning provisions stood at 

€ 2,815 million, up by € 318 million compared to 1 May 2019, mainly due to additional wells and 

increased cost estimates, partially offset by the change of consolidation method for WIGA 

group. Deferred tax liabilities amounted to € 3,477 million, a decrease of € 483 million compared 

to 1 May 2019, mainly due to fx effects, the change in the consolidation method for the WIGA 

group and other changes.   
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Current provisions and liabilities as of 31 December decreased by € 4,134 million compared to 

1 May 2019. Current financial debt stood at € 576 million, a decrease of € 3,207 million compared 

to 1 May 2019, mainly due to the refinancing of the Syndicated credit facility as well as the 

repayment of external financing of Dea immediately after the merger. Trade and other paya-

bles amounted to € 1,096 million, a decrease of € 493 million compared to 1 May 2019, mainly 

resulting from the change of the consolidation method for the WIGA group. 

 

3.5. Financial position 

Financing policy and credit ratings 

Wintershall Dea’s financial strategy aims to provide a long-term balance between shareholder 

returns and profitable growth, whilst maintaining a conservative financial profile and balance 

sheet strength through the commodity price cycle. The group will aim to ensure financial sta-

bility through its long-term commitment to its investment grade credit rating. The group is fo-

cused on maintaining cash flow discipline and active cash management will be a priority. We 

manage capital commitments to generate positive cash flow from operations in order to sus-

tain our dividend and investment capacity and create financial flexibility through the economic 

cycles. The group’s capital allocation framework prioritizes cash as follows: (i) maintenance 

capital to sustain production, (ii) balance sheet strength and maintaining investment grade rat-

ing, (iii) shareholder dividends and (iv) profitable organic/inorganic growth. 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 

(€ million) 
May – Dec. 

20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Cash flow from operating activities  1,115 564 1,866 2,796 

Cash flow from investing activities -1,027 -252 -2,416 -1,803 

Cash flow from financing activities -341 332 804 -694 

Change in cash and cash equivalents -253 644 254 299 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall roup only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation, excluding cash flows from discontinuing operations at Dea. 
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Comparison for May-December 2019 with January-April 2019 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Cash inflow from operating activities increased by € 551 million from € 564 million in the com-

parison period to € 1,115 million in the reporting period. The increase is mainly due to the dif-

ferent duration of the reporting and comparison periods and the effect from the merger with 

Dea.   

 
Cash flow from investing activities 

Cash outflow from investing activities amounted to € 1,027 million in the reporting period, com-

pared with € 252 million in the previous fiscal year. The increase is mainly due to the different 

duration of the reporting and comparison periods and the effect from the merger with Dea.   

 

Investments 
(€ million) 

May – Dec. 
20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Capital expenditure      

   Northern Europe 860 93 1,198 870 

       Development/production 791 47 1,071 806 

       Exploration 69 47 127 64 

   Russia 28 7 35 61 

       Development/production 28 7 35 52 

       Exploration - - - 9 

   Middle East/North Africa 204 29 329 480 

       Development/production 194 29 311 328 

       Exploration 10 - 18 152 

   Latin America 70 39 110 156 

       Development/production 42 31 73 72 

       Exploration 28 8 37 84 

   Midstream 0 0 0 1 

   Other 2 2 4 2 

 1,164 170 1,676 1,570 

Acquisitions - 0 740 317 

Total 1,164 170 2,416 1,887 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation. 
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Capital expenditures (capex) comprise payments for intangible assets, property, plant and 

equipment and investment property as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows of 

the Wintershall Dea group. 

 
Our expenditure for tangible and intangible assets increased significantly in the reporting pe-

riod compared to the previous fiscal year, mainly due to the timing effect between reporting 

and comparison periods, as well as due to the effect from the merger with Dea. The majority 

of the capex was spent in Northern Europe, mainly for our ongoing development projects such 

as Nova, Dvalin, Njord and Ærfugl in Norway. Moreover, we invested in the Raven field in the 

Egyptian West Nile Delta project. In addition to spending on development projects, key capex 

investments were made in existing producing fields in Northern Europe, Russia, Middle 

East/North Africa and Latin America. In total, our capital expenditure (excluding acquisitions) 

amounted to € 1,164 million.  

 

From exploration activities, we capitalized € 107 million in the reporting period. This relates to 

14 wells drilled in Northern Europe and Latin America, of which 7 were expensed as dry wells in 

following periods. The remaining 7 wells were either successful or are not yet finalized as of 

the balance sheet date and are still capitalized at the end of 2019.   

 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to € -341 million in the reporting period, com-

pared with a cash flow from financing activities of € 332 million in the previous fiscal year. Cash 

flow from financing activities in the reporting period reflects payments to shareholders, the 

payments and repayments of debt under the Syndicated credit facilities agreement as well as 

the issuance of the notes. 

 

Free cash flow 

(€ million) 
May – Dec. 

20191 

(WD) 

Jan. – Apr. 
20192 

(Winters-
hall only) 

Jan. – Dec. 
20193 

(unaudited) 
(WD)  

Jan. – Dec. 
20184 

(unaudited) 
(WD) 

Cash flow from operating activities  1,115 564 1,866 2,796 

Cash flow from investing activities -1,027 -252 -2,416 -1,803 

Less payments for acquisitions5 0 - 740 189 

Free cash flow 88 312 190 1,182 

 

1 The reporting period comprises Wintershall Dea group. 
2 The comparison period comprises Wintershall group only, excluding Dea. 
3 Like-for-like presentation. 
4 Like-for-like presentation. 
5 In 2018 including a repayment of financial receivables from shareholder earmarked for acquisitions. 
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The free cash flow, which comprises the cash flow from operating activities and the cash flow 

from investing activities but excludes payments for acquisitions, amounted to € 88 million in 

the reporting period, compared with € 312 million in the previous fiscal year.  

 

Comparison for January-December 2019 with January-December 2018 (unaudited) 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Cash inflow from operating activities for the calendar year 2019 amounted to € 1,866 million, a 

decrease of € 930 million compared with the calendar year 2018. This is mainly due to a lower 

net result (excluding depreciation, impairments and gains from the deconsolidation of WIGA 

group), resulting from lower commodity prices, higher integration related costs and non-recur-

ring payments in 2018. 

 
Cash flow from investing activities 

Cash outflow from investing activities for the calendar year 2019 amounted to € 2,416 million, 

an increase of € 613 million compared with the calendar year 2018. This is mainly owing to 

higher capex and higher payments for acquisitions, partially compensated by higher proceeds 

from divestitures and the disposal of non-current assets. 

 

Our capital expenditure for the calendar year amounted to € 1,676 million, an increase of € 106 

million compared to 2018. The increase was mainly due to higher development capex in North-

ern Europe, mainly for our Norwegian development projects. This was partially compensated 

by lower capex for development and production in Middle East/North Africa, since Giza & Fay-

oum in the Egyptian West Nile Delta came on stream in the first quarter of 2019. In total we 

capitalized € 182 million for exploration wells, relating to 17 wells drilled in Northern Europe 

and Latin America, of which 8 were expensed as dry wells in later periods. The remaining 9 wells 

were either successful or are not yet finalized as of the balance sheet date and are still capi-

talized at the end of 2019.  

 

Cash outflow for acquisitions amounted to € 740 million, relating to the acquisition of Sierra 

and the second instalment for the purchase price Ogarrio (Mexico) in the first quarter 2019. 

Acquisitions in 2018 mainly related to the Ghasha concession in Abu Dhabi/UAE and Ogarrio in 

Mexico. 

 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Cash flow from financing activities for the calendar year 2019 amounted to € 804 million (2018: 

€ -694 million). The increase mainly related to higher external financing via the issuance of 

notes, partially compensated by higher payments to shareholders.  

 

  



- 27 - 
 

 

Free cash flow 

Free cash flow for the calendar year 2019 amounted to € 190 million, compared with € 1,182 

million in 2018. 

 
4. Non-financial performance indicators 

The Wintershall Dea group prepares a separate Sustainability report (unaudited) that will be 

published on the company’s website together with the consolidated financial statements of 

the group. In that Sustainability report, the group will present further details on environmental, 

social (including health and safety) and governance aspects. 

  

4.1. Employees 

The number of employees as at 31 December 2019 of the Wintershall Dea group decreased by 

98, from 2,945 as of 1 May 2019, to 2,847 full-time equivalents (FTEs) for all fully and propor-

tionately consolidated companies. The main reason for the decrease is related to restructuring, 

mainly in Germany and Norway. In addition, the change of the consolidation method for the 

WIGA group led to a reduction of the consolidated workforce of the group (-16 FTE). In contrast, 

our workforce in Latin America and Russia increased due to the enlargement of operations.  

 

Through our employer-funded company pension schemes, we make a contribution to our em-

ployees’ retirement provision and support them in the event of invalidity or bereavement. Our 

company pension scheme provides for a personal pension to be paid to each employee of 

Wintershall Dea GmbH once a qualifying period has elapsed. The amount of this company pen-

sion depends on years of service and remuneration paid. At Wintershall Dea GmbH and some 

of the German group companies, the basic level of benefits is provided via BASF Pensionskasse 

VVaG, a legally independent plan. Exceeding levels of occupational pension commitments are 

financed via pension provisions at the respective group company. To supplement the em-

ployer-funded pension scheme, our employees also have the option of providing for their re-

tirement themselves by means of a remuneration conversion, thus further securing their stand-

ard of living after retirement. At Wintershall Dea, employees have the choice of investing parts 

of their gross remuneration in pension insurance funds, pension funds, direct life insurance and 

direct commitments. Our employees also benefit from pension plans in a number of our foreign 

companies. 
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4.2. Occupational safety (unaudited) 

We want to prevent anyone who works for us from being harmed in connection with our oper-

ations – our goal is zero accidents. Therefore, safety is the first priority of Wintershall Dea. Our 

globally applicable concepts serve to protect our employees, contractors, assets and the en-

vironment as well as the neighbours of our production sites. Regular safety talks, emergency 

training courses, awareness workshops and seminars take place on a regular basis at all our 

locations – for contractors too. In addition, periodic occupational safety audits are conducted 

at our sites. Among the performance measures we track is the Total Recordable Injury Rate per 

million hours worked (TRIR). In 2019, TRIR amounted to 2.66, compared with 3.17 in 2018.  

 
4.3. Research and development 

Our company’s activities in the exploration and development of hydrocarbon reservoirs are 

typical for our industry. To support these activities, we have our own laboratories in our Tech-

nology and Innovation Department for production engineering and geosciences, for example. 

The focus of our research activities is on the ongoing improvement of our methods for the 

exploration, development and production of hydrocarbon deposits. We are also investigating 

opportunities in production of hydrogen and Carbon Capture and Storage. Our expenditure on 

research and development in the reporting period came to a total of € 19 million.  

 

4.4. Additional information regarding reserves (unaudited) 

The Wintershall Dea group provides updates on developments in the group’s reserves and re-

sources once a year. Reserves as of 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 are mainly certified by 

independent engineers (93% of total 2P reserves on working interest basis is certified), while 

reserves as of 31 December 2019 are internally estimated by trained Wintershall Dea engi-

neers. As such, the reserves and resources information as of 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 

may not be directly comparable to the reserves and resources information as of 31 December 

2019. 

 

The volumes of reserves are classified in accordance with the Petroleum Resources Manage-

ment System (PRMS) of the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE), World Petroleum Council 

(WPC) and others, which Wintershall Dea will apply as well in future, as follows: 

 

1P reserves, or “proved reserves”, are those quantities of petroleum, which, by analysis of geo-

science and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially 

recoverable, from a given date forward, from known reservoirs and under defined economic 

conditions, operating methods, and government regulations. If deterministic methods are used, 

the term reasonable certainty is intended to express a high degree of confidence that the 

quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 90% 

probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. 
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2P reserves, or “proved plus probable reserves”, are 1P reserves plus those additional reserves 

which analysis of geoscience and engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered than 

1P reserves. It is equally likely that actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater than 

or less than the estimated 2P reserves. In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, 

there should be at least a 50% probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or 

exceed the 2P reserves estimate. 

 

2C resources or “contingent resources” are those quantities of petroleum which are estimated, 

on a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations by application of 

development projects but which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable 

owing to one or more contingencies, of the same technical confidence as probable, but not 

commercially matured to reserves. It is equally likely that actual remaining quantities recov-

ered will be greater than or less than the estimated 2C resources. In this context, when proba-

bilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 50% probability that the actual quantities 

recovered will equal or exceed the 2C resources estimate. 

 

As at 31 December 2019, the Wintershall Dea group had 2P reserves of 3,826 million barrels of 

oil equivalent, an increase of 3% compared to 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 on a like-for 

like basis.  

 
1P Reserves 

Gas in million boe 
Northern 
Europe Russia MENA LATAM Total 

Group 

1P reserves as of 1 Jan 2019*  145 1,611  140 1,896 

Merger with Dea 196  104 5 305 

Wintershall Dea like-for-like as 
of 1 Jan 2019 

340 1,611 104 146 2,201 

Revisions and other changes 40 -88 -27 20 -54 

Maturation and discoveries 13 0 79 0 92 

Purchase/sale of reserves 0   0 -1 

Production -38 -85 -14 -24 -162 

1P reserves as of 31 Dec 2019 355 1,438 141 141 2,076 

Thereof equity-acc. companies 6 520   525 
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Liquids in million boe 
Northern 
Europe Russia MENA** LATAM Total 

Group 

1P reserves as of 1 Jan 2019*  167 455 15 11 649 

Merger with Dea 158  14 10 182 

Wintershall Dea like-for-like as 
of 1 Jan 2019 

325 455 29 22 831 

Revisions and other changes 3 -28 -7 11 -21 

Maturation and discoveries 21 0 119 0 139 

Purchase/sale of reserves 0   0 0 

Production -35 -20 -4 -3 -63 

1P reserves as of 31 Dec 2019 314 407 136 29 886 

Thereof equity-acc. companies 8    8 

 

 

 

Total in million boe 
Northern 
Europe Russia MENA** LATAM Total 

Group 

1P reserves as of 1 Jan 2019*  312 2,066 15 152 2,545 

Merger with Dea 354  118 16 487 

Wintershall Dea like-for-like as 
of 1 Jan 2019 

666 2,066 133 167 3,032 

Revisions and other changes 44 -115 -35 31 -76 

Maturation and discoveries 33  198 0 231 

Purchase/sale of reserves 0   0 -1 

Production -73 -106 -19 -28 -225 

1P reserves as of 31 Dec 2019 669 1,846 277 170 2,962 

Thereof equity-acc. companies 13 520   533 

* No new reserves update was made for 30 April 2019 
** Excluding Libya onshore 
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2P Reserves1 

Gas in million boe 
Northern 
Europe Russia MENA LATAM Total 

Group 

2P reserves as of 1 Jan 2019*  184 1,846  218 2,248 

Merger with Dea 261  159 12 432 

Wintershall Dea like-for-like as 
of 1 Jan 2019 

445 1,846 159 230 2,680 

Revisions and other changes 40 9 -23 6 32 

Maturation and discoveries 13 0 111 0 124 

Purchase/sale of reserves -1   0 -1 

Production -38 -85 -14 -24 -162 

2P reserves as of 31 Dec 2019 459 1,770 233 211 2,673 

Thereof equity-acc. companies 8 673   681 

 

 

Liquids in million boe 
Northern 
Europe Russia MENA** LATAM Total 

Group 

2P reserves as of 1 Jan 2019*  233 499 17 17 765 

Merger with Dea 215  25 22 262 

Wintershall Dea like-for-like as 
of 1 Jan 2019 

448 499 42 38 1,027 

Revisions and other changes 15 -16 2 9 10 

Maturation and discoveries 29 0 149 0 178 

Purchase/sale of reserves 0   0 0 

Production -35 -20 -4 -3 -63 

2P reserves as of 31 Dec 2019 457 463 189 44 1,153 

Thereof equity-acc. companies 12    12 

 

 
  



- 32 - 
 

 

 

Total in million boe 
Northern 
Europe Russia MENA** LATAM Total 

Group 

2P reserves as of 1 Jan 2019*  417 2,345 17 235 3,013 

Merger with Dea 476 0 185 33 694 

Wintershall Dea like-for-like as 
of 1 Jan 2019 

893 2,345 201 268 3,707 

Revisions and other changes 55 -6 -21 14 43 

Maturation and discoveries 42  261 0 303 

Purchase/sale of reserves -1   0 -1 

Production -73 -106 -19 -28 -225 

2P reserves as of 31 Dec 2019 916 2,234 423 254 3,826 

Thereof equity-acc. companies 20 673   693 

* No new reserves update was made for 30 April 2019 
1 2P reserves (proved plus probable reserves) are inclusive of 1P reserves (proved reserves) 
** Excluding Libya onshore 

 

The production for the year was more than offset by reserve additions from organic additions 

resulting from the maturation of the Ghasha development project in Abu Dhabi/UAE and from 

additional reserves in producing fields like Norwegian fields Edvard Grieg, Gjøa and Vega as 

well as the new development Solveig, but partially offset by reduced expected recovery for 

the Disouq field in Egypt. The reserve replacement ratio was 109% for 2P reserves and 34% for 

1P reserves, respectively. Our 2C resources as of 31 December 2019 amount to 2,202 million 

barrels of oil equivalent. 

 
The group has a 1P Reserves Life of 13 years and 2P Reserves Life of around 17 years.  
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5. Forecast 

5.1. Underlying assumptions 

Our guidance is based on forwards for commodity prices and the exchange rates. For 2020, 

these parameters would be as follows: 

• Brent prices of 62 $/bbl  

• TTF gas prices of 4.2 $/mmbtu 

• $/€ exchange rate of 1.11. 

Production guidance is based on our latest production profiles for each of the fields. 

 

5.2. Outlook 

The Wintershall Dea group’s new medium-term planning (MTP) was prepared and adopted in 

early February 2020. Our guidance, which does not include potential M&A activities, is based on 

this MTP. 

 

We continue to focus on optimisation of production from and further development of our ex-

isting assets in order to be well positioned during the ongoing volatility in commodity prices 

that are relevant for us. We are also working on ensuring that all of our key infrastructure 

maintains high reliability levels in order to achieve consistent delivery of target production lev-

els.   

 

For 2020 we expect our production (adjusted for exclusion of the Libyan onshore production) 

to be in the range of 600 – 630 million boe/d – broadly in line with 2019.   

 

For 2020, we expect development and production capex (excluding acquisitions) to be in the 

range of € 1.4 – 1.6 billion – broadly in line with the calendar year 2019.  

 

We expect to increase our EBITDAX over the medium term. 

 

We expect free cash flow, comprising cash flow from operating activities and cash flow from 

investing activities, including disposals but excluding acquisitions, to be positive in 2020 (based 

on our underlying commodity price assumptions for 2020). 
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5.3. Opportunities and Risks 

Risk management system 

Wintershall Dea is developing and finalizing an integrated risk management system based on 

the internationally recognized COSO framework (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 

the Treadway Commission) and industry best-practices. Overall responsibility for the group-

wide risk management is with the Board of Management of Wintershall Dea GmbH. The Board 

of Management is supported by the corporate unit Risk Management, which designs the risk 

management process, defines related structures and methodologies and provides the required 

transparency over risks, opportunities and their response measures at group level. 

 

The goal of Wintershall Dea’s risk management is to identify and evaluate risks and opportu-

nities as early as possible and to take appropriate measures in order to seize opportunities, 

limit business losses and avoid risks that pose a threat to Wintershall Dea’s continued exist-

ence. Risk management is aligned with the financial framework and integrated into planning, 

reporting, approval and audit processes in place throughout the group, and gives appropriate 

consideration to the risk aspect in decisions and business processes at Wintershall Dea.  

 

Corresponding to the quarterly performance dialogues and regular Audit Committee meetings, 

a report over the relevant risks, opportunities and their response measures is created and sub-

mitted to the executive and supervisory bodies to provide an overview over the enterprise risk 

portfolio. The evaluation of risks and opportunities is linked to the key performance indicators 

at group level. The materiality and ranking of reported risks and opportunities is performed on 

the basis of the potential impact and probability of occurrence of each event. 

 

Commodity price risks and opportunities 

As an upstream enterprise, we are exposed to the risks, but also stand to benefit from the 

opportunities, arising from the level of oil and gas prices on international markets. These are 

constantly analysed, quantified and reported on a regular basis. As part of our medium-term 

planning, we have assessed the sensitivities of commodity prices. We plan our business using a 

range of oil and gas price outlooks in order to ensure that the company is well positioned in 

the event of industry down-turns and to capture oil & gas price upside for shareholders. 

 

Holding constant the part of the portfolio that is priced off formulas and indices, such as for 

example Russia and Egypt, a change in the Brent oil price of -10% would lead to a change in 

EBITDAX of approximately € -190 million and a change in free cash flow of € -120 million in the 

calendar year 2020 and a change in the European gas prices (TTF) of -10% would result in a 

change of approximately € -70 million in our EBITDAX and of approximately € -40 million in our 

free cash flow in the calendar year 2020. Rising oil and gas prices would lead to corresponding 

opportunities for Wintershall Dea group in its EBITDAX and free cash flow. 
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The group may, from time to time, use financial instruments and physical delivery contracts to 

hedge its exposure to these risks or otherwise optimise its business. If the group engages in 

hedging, the group will be exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by 

counterparties to the associated financial instruments. Additionally, depending on the type of 

hedging instruments, such practices could limit the group’s ability to receive the full benefit of 

commodity price increases and the group may not be able to find pricing for hedging on suita-

ble terms. The group also engages, but to a limited extent, in natural gas trading for optimisa-

tion of sales in its European markets. Any related trading risks are limited and monitored on a 

daily basis. All hedging transactions serve the exclusive purpose of covering the risk from op-

erational and financial transactions as well as underlying transactions accounted for or ex-

pected with a high degree of probability. In previous periods, commodity-price agreements 

have been concluded for the calendar years 2020 – 2023.  

 

Due to the nature of our portfolio, especially with activities in Russia that are subject to special 

pricing mechanisms, we are less affected by declining prices than our competitors in the E&P 

sector. In addition, the midstream business generates stable earnings contributions with par-

tially regulated fees. 

 

Risks and opportunities from exchange rate fluctuations 

The group is exposed to market fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Its reporting currency 

is the Euro. Revenues are based on several currencies including U.S. dollars, while operational 

costs and investment may be denominated in other currencies, including, for example, the Nor-

wegian kroner and Russian rouble. The group’s net foreign currency exposure (after natural 

hedges) is hedged actively with linear contracts where feasible to eliminate gains and losses 

from currency fluctuations in the group’s income statement. Significant fluctuations in ex-

change rates between U.S. dollars, the Euro and our other operational currencies could mate-

rially and adversely affect our reported results. According to our current medium-term plan-

ning, an appreciation of the $/€ exchange rate of $ 0.1/€ would lead to a decrease of approxi-

mately € 210 million in EBITDAX and of approximately € 50 million in free cash flow in the cal-

endar year 2020. Conversely, decreasing exchange rate ratios would lead to opportunities in 

EBITDAX and free cash flow for the Wintershall Dea group. 

 
  



- 36 - 
 

 

Risks specific to the E&P industry 

As we are an E&P group operating internationally, our operations are subject to all risks com-

mon in our industry (e.g. blow outs, oil spills). In addition to our internal risk mitigation 

measures, rules and regulations we maintain insurance that we believe is consistent with cus-

tomary industry practice in the jurisdictions in which we do business, in order to protect our core 

business against losses and liabilities to third parties.   

 

Wintershall Dea also faces risks that involve above all possible inaccurate assessments of ge-

ological structures and the resultant dry wells drilled. We contain such risks through state-of-

the-art technology and systematic quality assurance. Our workforce is continuously adapted 

to meet the corresponding requirements and receives development training in all key technical 

areas. We use the latest drilling and production techniques, are committed to stringent cost 

management, and focus on the efficiency and profitability of our assets.  

 

Reserve estimates may undergo positive or negative changes in the course of time and exert 

an influence on current depreciation and amortisation, as well as the value of the company’s 

assets. In general, estimates of economically recoverable oil and gas reserves are based on a 

number of factors and assumptions made as of the date on which the reserve estimates are 

determined, such as geological and engineering estimates, historical production from the 

fields, the assumed effects of regulation by governmental agencies, and estimates of future 

commodity prices and operating costs, all of which may vary considerably from actual results. 

Our Integrated Reservoir Management Department maintains oversight and compliance re-

sponsibility for our internal reserve estimate process and provides appropriate data to our in-

dependent reserves’ auditors for the annual estimation of our year-end reserves.   

 

The ability to replace produced reserves with competitive exploration and development costs, 

to tap into new potential and to maintain an appropriate gas and oil reserve life is a funda-

mental prerequisite for ensuring long-term commercial success. In order to achieve this goal, 

we concentrate on core regions in which we have developed a high level of regional and/or 

technological expertise. This allows us to pick up on opportunities at an early stage and to 

identify regions with above-average discovery expectations. We use an active portfolio man-

agement to optimize our license portfolio on an ongoing basis to ensure the highest possible 

probability of success for exploration with the funds available. The group seeks to maintain 

and grow its operating capabilities in countries where it can add value through the deep 

knowledge and experience in engineering, reservoir management, execution and operations of 

its in-house technical and operating team. By means of strategic partnerships and cooperation 

with renowned partners such as Gazprom in Russia, Equinor in Norway and ADNOC in Abu 

Dhabi/UAE we strive to get access to new projects and to benefit from region-specific exper-

tise and influence and implement joint projects on a significant scale. 
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Liquidity and credit risks 

Our principal sources of liquidity are operating cash flows from our producing assets, mid-

stream business and external debt financing. Our liquidity is used to cover working capital, cap-

ital expenditure, debt service requirements and other liquidity requirements that may arise 

from time to time, including maintenance capital to sustain production, balance sheet strength 

and maintaining investment grade rating, shareholder returns and profitable organic/inorganic 

growth. A firm liquidity risk management programme is in place to ensure that the Wintershall 

Dea group is in a position to meet its payment obligations at all times. The group is committed 

to ensure financial stability through its long-term commitment to an investment grade credit 

rating. Its net debt as of 31 December 2019 was € 5,762 million, implying a net debt to EBITDAX 

ratio of 2.0. The group will continue to monitor its business performance with the aim to provide 

a long-term balance between shareholder returns and profitable growth, whilst maintaining a 

conservative financial profile and a strong balance sheet through the commodity cycle. In the 

reporting period, Wintershall Dea was in compliance with its obligations under all financing 

arrangements. 

 

The group’s business is exposed to credit risks, meaning that the amounts owed by its custom-

ers for products sold or services rendered may not be paid when due, and that some customers 

may not be able to fulfil their obligations fully and on time, for example, due to insolvency. In 

such cases, the group seeks to resolve any disputes and recover amounts owed to it in con-

formity with the laws of the jurisdictions where the group operates, and with established busi-

ness practices. The group is also exposed to credit risk through its arrangements with suppliers, 

and its joint venture and other partners. We closely monitor liquidity risk through cash flow 

forecasts and sensitivity analyses. We manage our credit risk by assessing the creditworthiness 

of potential counterparties before entering into transactions and through ongoing creditwor-

thiness evaluations with regard to ongoing transactions. 

 

Political, environmental and regulatory risks and opportunities 

In the course of its foreign operations, Wintershall Dea is exposed to the political risks prevail-

ing in the relevant countries. The group’s investments in its North African and Russian assets, 

as well as its investment in Ogarrio, Mexico, benefit from investment guarantees provided by 

the Federal Republic of Germany for direct investments made by German companies in devel-

oping and emerging countries. These investment guarantees provide protection against a num-

ber of political risks, including expropriation, nationalization, civil wars, wars or other armed 

conflicts and payment embargoes or moratoria, under certain conditions. 

 

Larger, unexploited oil and gas reserves are often found in less developed regions of the world. 

In order to reduce the resulting uncertainties, we particularly pay attention to ensure a bal-

anced portfolio when selecting future projects.  

 



- 38 - 
 

 

In Argentina, macroeconomic turbulences continued throughout 2019. Along with a further de-

valuation of the Argentine peso, the annual inflation rose by more than 50% and interest rates 

more than 40%. In 2019, the government issued a decree which stipulates certain foreign ex-

change restrictions, inter alia repatriation of export receivables and restrictions on pay-

ments/dividends in foreign currency. On the gas market, gas prices fell in $-terms due to an 

oversupply and regulatory intervention by the government. In the light of the economic situa-

tion and the outcome of the presidential elections, we anticipate continued high volatility and 

fierce price competition in the Argentine gas market in the course of 2020 which carries risks 

both for liquidity and earnings. 

 

In Libya, WIAG and Libya’s National Oil Corporation (NOC) agreed to convert WIAG’s Conces-

sions 96 and 97 to the latest EPSA IV contractual standard, taking retroactive economic effect 

as of 1 January 2008. The transition to EPSA IV is beneficial for Wintershall Dea as under the 

interim agreement being previously in place WIAG was only receiving a marketing share to 

cover its operational expenditures. The required transfer of operatorship from WIAG to a joint 

operating company will reduce our operational risks and liabilities, but also restrict our possi-

bility for decision-making within the onshore operations. Due to the political and security situ-

ation the country continues to experience a shortage of available qualified foreign personnel 

and service companies, which remains challenging for the maintenance and, hence, security of 

assets and infrastructure. 

 
Risks associated with health, safety and environmental protection 

Health, safety and environmental protection are a top priority at Wintershall Dea. The explo-

ration and production of gas and oil require activities in increasingly challenging regions with 

complex reservoir conditions, sensitive habitats and difficult political conditions. Accordingly, 

the associated risks in the areas of health, safety and environmental protection are becoming 

increasingly complex. These are minimized by the systematic application of high HSE stand-

ards, which are being enhanced and optimized on an ongoing basis as part of our integrated 

HSE management system.  

 

Risks associated with the midstream business 

The group has economic interests in onshore and offshore gas pipelines in Germany and Eu-

rope. The onshore pipelines are operated by regulatory unbundled group participations, 

whereas the offshore pipeline Nord Stream 1 is operated by a third party in which the group 

has a minority share. The midstream business has historically been a stable source of revenue. 

The European onshore gas transportation business is heavily regulated. The regulatory frame-

work applicable to the group’s participations in natural gas transport has been stable from 

2008 to 2018 until the amendment of the EU Gas Directive. However, the risk of further regula-

tory intervention, both in the general framework and in the operation and expansion of gas 

pipelines, for example, as part of investment measures ordered under net development plans 
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or in relation to the connection of biogas, cannot be excluded. The group also finances Nord 

Stream 2 AG. The group’s involvement with the Nord Stream 2 project is limited to the provision 

of loans, being one of the five European financial investors of the project company. End of 

December 2019, the U.S. Government enacted a bill which offers the possibility to impose sanc-

tions towards certain pipelay contractors of the Nord Stream 2 project. The financing arrange-

ments to which the group is a party are grandfathered under the implementing guidance to 

the ‘‘Countering America’s Adversaries Through Sanctions Act’’ as they were signed prior to Au-

gust 2017.  

 

Following the decision of the General Court of the European Union (EuG) upon the action 

brought by Poland for annulment of the 2016 European Commission approval of the Settle-

ment Agreement, the marketing of the OPAL transit capacities is currently limited to 50% and 

is based on the exemption from regulation decision of 2009. Federal Republic of Germany has 

filed an appeal against this EuG decision.  It is expected that the relevant parties will enter into 

discussions targeting a joint way forward to address the requirements of the ruling; thus, in-

crease the level of capacity bookings for the pipeline and, hence, Wintershall Dea’s at-equity 

results. 

 

Integration after the merger 

The completion of the merger between Wintershall and Dea and the subsequent integration 

create significant growth potential for the combined group. The group expects to realize cost 

savings through the combination of procurement, exploration and research and development 

functions. The group also intends to optimize cash flow and capital expenditure by actively 

managing its combined operating portfolio, including by focusing on the most profitable assets 

and most probable discoveries. In order to manage the risks and opportunities associated with 

the integration, plans and strategies are in place. A dedicated department is responsible for 

tracking all relevant measures and to ensure their realization both in time and budget. 

 

Digital transformation 

Digitalization is becoming an increasingly influential factor within the value chain of the E&P 

industry. At Wintershall Dea, digital transformation has been identified as having considerable 

potential for improving existing processes. This potential includes the ability to create faster 

and better decision bases, as well as to reduce costs and project terms. In addition, digital 

transformation holds the promise of better cooperation with stakeholders and an improve-

ment in HSE performance. All digital projects in Wintershall Dea group are steered by the newly 

established department “Digital Transformation”. The implementation of a dedicated digitali-

zation strategy will secure future opportunities and minimize possible competitive disad-

vantages.   
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The overall Wintershall Dea group’s risk assessment  

Our assessment of the general situation in the risk environment is the result of a consolidated 

analysis of all material individual risks. From today’s perspective, there are no material individ-

ual risks threatening the continued existence of Wintershall Dea group as a going concern. 

 

 

 

 

Kassel/Hamburg, 26 February 2020 

 

The Board of Management 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mehren                            Dijkgraaf Smith                  Wieland 
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Consolidated Statement of Income 
 

 

€ million Note 

May - Dec. 

2019 

Jan. - Apr.1) 

2019 

 
 

  
Revenues gas and oil 4 2,932 1,276 

Revenues midstream 4 121 73 

Revenues other 4 219 180 

Net income from equity - accounted investments:  

gas and oil 2 12 17 

Net income from equity - accounted investments: 

midstream 2 70 44 

Other operating income 4 519 10 

  
3,873 1,600 

    
Production and operating expenses 5 -1,298 -655 

Production and similar taxes 
 

-110 -36 

Depreciation and amortization 
 

-1,053 -295 

Net impairment on assets 12 -298 -1,206 

Cost of sales midstream  
 

-19 -10 

Exploration expenses 6 -148 -76 

General and administration expenses 
 

-206 -277 

  
741 -955 

    
Financial income 8 107 38 

Financial expenses 8 -247 -42 

  
-140 -4 

    
Income/loss (-) before taxes 

 
601 -959 

Income taxes 9 -286 108 

Net income/loss (-) 
 

315 -851 

    

Net income/loss (-) attributable to shareholders  285 -869 

Net income/loss (-) attributable to non-controlling 

interests 

10 30 18 

    
  1) Restated (refer to "changes in financial statement presentation and other restatements") 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

 

€ million Note 17 

May - Dec. 

2019 

Jan. - Apr. 

2019 

 
 

  
Net income/loss (-)  315 -851 

Actuarial gains/losses   -47 -24 

Actuarial gains/losses from equity investments  0 0 

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement  

at a later date, recognized directly in equity  

 

-47 

 

-24 

    
Unrealized gains/losses on currency translation  33 151 

Unrealized gains/losses on currency translation from 

equity investments  15 32 

Fair value changes in derivatives designated in 

cash flow hedges  11 - 

Fair value changes in derivatives designated in 

cash flow hedges from equity investments  6 2 

Income and expenses that will be reclassified to the  

statement of income at a later date, recognized directly 

in equity  

 

 

65 

 

 

185 

Other comprehensive income (net of tax)  18 161 

Total comprehensive income  333 -690 

Total comprehensive income attributable to  

shareholders  

 

303 

 

-708 

Total comprehensive income attributable to  

non-controlling interests  

 

30 

 

18 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
 

 

€ million  Note 31-12-2019 30-04-20191) 01-01-20191) 

  
 

  
 

Assets   
  

 

      

Non-current assets    
 

 

Goodwill  12 2,580 1,072 1,572 

Exploration assets  12 1,577 140 140 

Other intangible assets  12 2,925 745 712 

Property, plant and equipment, and investment 

property 12 9,932 6,311 6,368 

Equity-accounted investments  13 2,685 2,191 2,566 

Other financial assets   5 2 2 

Financial receivables  15 1,064 905 820 

Derivative instruments  25 72 - - 

Other receivables   16 135 50 76 

Deferred tax assets  9 96 224 136 

 
  21,071 11,640 12,392 

 
   

 
 

Current assets    
 

 

Inventories 
 

14 227 143 137 

Financial receivables 
 

15 181 731 646 

Trade and other receivables 
 

16 1,227 803 262 

Derivative instruments 
 

25 57 17 11 

Income tax assets 
 

9 83 19 5 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 814 889 219 

   2,589 2,602 1,280 

Total assets   23,660 14,242 13,672 

  1) Restated (refer to "changes in financial statement presentation and other restatements") 
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€ million Note 31-12-2019 30-04-20191) 01-01-20191) 

     

Equity and Liabilities 
   

 

    
 

Equity 
 

 
 

 

Subscribed capital 17 189 105 105 

Capital reserve 17 6,152 1,173 1,266 

Retained earnings and other comprehensive 

income 17 1,948 1,686 1,805 

Shareholders’ equity 
 

8,289 2,964 3,176 

Non-controlling interests 
 

- 154 136 

  
8,289 3,118 3,312 

  
 

 
 

Non-current liabilities 
 

 
 

 

Pension provisions 18 579 344 307 

Decommissioning provisions 19 2,815 1,633 1,487 

Other provisions 19 230 199 85 

Financial debt  20 6,028 1,526 1,001 

Derivative instruments 25 22 - 0 

Income tax liabilities 9 8 1 33 

Other liabilities 21 35 20 16 

Deferred tax liabilities 9 3,477 1,312 1,483 

  
13,194 5,035 4,412 

     

Current liabilities 
 

 
 

 

Decommissioning provisions 19 58 27 27 

Other provisions 19 317 103 45 

Financial debt  20 576 1,630 1,267 

Trade and other payables 21 1,096 4,104 4,415 

Derivative instruments 25 51 35 29 

Income tax liabilities 9 79 190 165 

  2,177 6,089 5,948 

Total equity and liabilities  23,660 14,242 13,672 

  1) Restated (refer to "changes in financial statement presentation and other restatements") 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

(Note 17) 

 

    Other comprehensive income    

€ million 

Subscribed 

capital of 

Wintershall 

Dea GmbH 

Capital 

reserves of 

Wintershall 

Dea GmbH 

Retained 

earnings 

and net 

retained 

profit 

Remeasure- 

ment of 

benefit  

plans 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

Cash flow 

hedges 

Share- 

holders’ 

equity 

Non-

controlling 

interests 

Total 

          

As of 01-05-2019 105 1,173 2,699 -143 -834 -36 2,964 154 3,118 

Other comprehensive  

income - -  -47 48 17 18 0 18 

Net income/loss (-) - - 285    285 30 315 

Total comprehensive 

income - - 285 -47 48 17 303 30 333 

Changes in scope of 

consolidation - - - - - - - -132 -132 

Capital increase/ 

decrease 84 4,979 - - - - 5,063 - 5,063 

Dividend distribution - - - - - - - -52 -52 

Other changes - - -41 - 0 - -41 - -41 

As of 31-12-2019 189 6,152 2,943 -190 -786 -19 8,289 - 8,289 

    
  

 
  

 
  

As of 01-01-2019 105 1,266 3,134 -119 -1,017 -38 3,331 136 3,467 

Restatement IAS 8   -155    -155  -155 

As of 01-01-2019 

(restated) 105 1,266 2,979 -119 -1,017 -38 3,176 136 3,312 

Other comprehensive  

income - - - -24 183 2 161 - 161 

Net income/loss (-) - - -869 - - - -869 18 -851 

Total comprehensive 

Income - - -869 -24 183 2 -708 18 -690 

Capital increase/ 

decrease - -93 - - - - -93 - -93 

Profit and loss 

transfer - - 589 - - - 589 - 589 

Dividend distribution - - - - - - - - - 

Other changes - - - - - - - - - 

As of 30-04-2019 105 1,173 2,699 -143 -834 -36 2,964 154 3,118 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 

(Note 20) 

  

May - Dec. 

 2019 

Jan. - Apr.  

2019 

€ million 
  

Net income/loss (-) 315 -851 

Amortization/depreciation/impairment losses/reversal of impairment losses 1,378 1,533 

Changes in provisions -214 206 

Changes in deferred taxes 196 -295 

Gains (-)/losses from disposals of non-current assets 54 -22 

Gains (-)/losses from deconsolidation -427 0 

Other non-cash income/expenses -135 -98 

Changes in working capital 51 89 

Changes in other balance sheet items  -103 2 

Cash flow from operating activities 1,115 564 

   
Payments for intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investment 

property -1,164 -170 

Payments for financial assets 0 0 

Payments for acquisitions - - 

Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 191 1 

Proceeds from divestitures 116 - 

Payments for financial receivables -170 -83 

Cash flow from investing activities -1,027 -252 

   
Payments to shareholders from capital reserves -1,400 -324 

Distribution to non-controlling interests -52 - 

Proceeds from shareholder loans - 51 

Repayment of shareholder loans -242 -682 

Proceeds from bonds 3,986 - 

Proceeds from debt to banks 3,393 2,251 

Repayments of debt to banks -5,657 - 

Change in financial liabilities (related parties) -328 -951 

Repayment of lease liabilities  -41 -13 

Cash flow from financing activities -341 332 

Change in cash and cash equivalents -253 644 

   
Effects of foreign exchange rates changes, consolidation-related changes and 

other changes in value 178 26 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of reporting period 889 219 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of reporting period 814 889 

 
  

Supplementary information on cash flows from operating activities    

Income tax paid (less refunds) 303 206 

Interest paid 23 12 

Interest received 51 29 

Dividends received 110 - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

General information 

 

Wintershall Dea GmbH is a German limited company (registration court: Local Court (Amtsgericht) of 

Lüneburg; entry no.: HRB 200519) and has its registered office in Celle, Lower Saxony, Germany. The 

headquarters are in Kassel (Friedrich-Ebert-Strasse 160 in 34119 Kassel) and Hamburg (Überseering 40 

in 22297 Hamburg), Germany. The nature of the operations and principal activities is the exploration 

and production of natural gas and oil and other resources, along with the resulting products and co-

products, and to trade in all of the resources and commodities, as well as to operate natural gas 

pipeline systems. The consolidated financial statements will be filed electronically with the operator 

of the German Government Gazette and promulgated therein after their filing. 

 

Wintershall Dea declared the period from 1 May until 31 December 2019 a short fiscal year in order to 

bring the financial year back into line with the calendar year. Since the short fiscal year only comprises 

an 8 months period and the preceding financial year comprised a 4 months period and since the 

business is also subject to seasonal effects, amounts presented in the financial statements in the 

year-to-year comparison are not entirely comparable. 

 

Effective 1 May 2019, pursuant to the merger contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, 

dated as of 27 September 2018, Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG (formerly DEA Deutsche Erdoel AG) 

was merged with and into Wintershall Dea GmbH. As a result, Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG 

became a subsidiary of Wintershall Dea GmbH. Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG and subsidiaries are 

included in Wintershall Dea's consolidated tax groups and related income tax returns within certain 

jurisdictions effective with the date of the merger.  

 

As the comparative figures do not comprise Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG and subsidiaries, 

reporting and preceeding period are not directly comparable. 

 

Basis of Presentation 

 

The group consolidated financial statements of Wintershall Dea GmbH and its subsidiaries ("WD 

Group" or the "Group") have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) applicable in the European 

Union (EU), and in accordance with the supplementary accounting regulations pursuant to section 

315e (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). IFRSs are only applied after they have been adopted 

by the EU. All IFRSs and pronouncements of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) that are binding for the 2019 short fiscal year have been applied.  
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in Euro (€). All amounts, including the 

figures for previous years, are generally reported in millions of Euro (€ million). Exceptions to this rule 

are explicitly marked in the text (individual figures are shown in thousands of Euro – € thousands). The 

change in presentation from Euro thousands to Euro millions does not result in any loss of information. 

The statement of income is prepared in accordance with a modified cost-of-sales method which also 

considers certain items based on the nature of expenses (e.g. depreciation and amortization). Various 

items of the Consolidated Statement of Income and Consolidated Balance Sheet are combined to 

improve the transparency of presentation. These items are shown and explained separately in the 

Notes. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 

certain items that have been measured at fair value as described in "Significant accounting policies 

and assumptions". 

 

The financial statements of the consolidated companies were prepared as of the balance sheet date 

of the consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies applied essentially correspond to 

those applied in the previous year. This does not apply to changes resulting from the application of 

new or revised accounting standards and the harmonization of accounting policies as a result of the 

merger (refer to "Changes in accounting policies" and "Changes in financial statement presentation"). 

 

Consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WD Group and its subsidiaries over 

which the company has control. The scope of consolidation is based on the application of IFRS 10 and 

IFRS 11. According to IFRS 10, a group consists of a parent company and its subsidiaries, which are 

controlled by the parent company. WD Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the investee. A subsidiary is deconsolidated from the date that control is lost.  

 

According to IFRS 11, which regulates the accounting of joint arrangements, a distinction must be 

made between joint ventures and joint operations. In the case of a joint venture, the parties that have 

joint control of a legally independent company have rights to the net assets of that arrangement. In 

joint operations, the parties that have joint control have direct rights to the assets and obligations for 

the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Companies whose corporate governance structures classify 

them as joint arrangements are analyzed to determine if they meet the criteria for joint ventures or 

joint operations in accordance with IFRS 11. Should the arrangement be structured through a separate 

vehicle, its legal form, contractual arrangements and all other facts and circumstances are reviewed. 

There are joint arrangements in the course of development and production activities as well as for 

the midstream business.  

 

Associated companies are entities that are not subsidiaries, joint ventures or joint operations, and over 

whose operating and financial policies significant influence can be exercised. In general, this applies 

to companies in which WD Group has an investment of between 20% and 50%. Such investments are 

accounted for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the equity method and are 

initially recognized at cost. Equity-accounted income is reported as part of revenues and other 

income. 
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In addition to Wintershall Dea GmbH, the consolidated financial statements include all material 

subsidiaries in full, and one joint operation on a pro rata basis. Companies whose business is dormant 

or of low volume and are therefore of minor importance for the presentation of a true and fair view 

of the net assets, financial position and results of operations, are not consolidated, but rather are 

reported under "Other financial assets". These companies are carried at amortized cost and are 

written down in the event of an impairment. The aggregated assets as well as equity of these 

companies amount to less than 2.5% of both corresponding values at Group level.  

 

The financial statements of the domestic and foreign companies included in the consolidated 

financial statements of WD Group are uniformly recognized and measured in accordance with the 

principles described herein. For companies accounted for using the equity method, material deviations 

in measurement resulting from the application of other accounting principles are adjusted for. 

 

Expenses and earnings as well as accounts receivable and payable between the consolidated 

subsidiaries are eliminated in full. For joint operations, they are proportionally eliminated. 

Intercompany gains or losses are eliminated, unless they are negligible. Capital consolidation is 

performed by offsetting the carrying amounts of subsidiaries against their underlying equity. 

Depreciation charged in the companies' individual statements on shares in, and loans to, consolidated 

subsidiaries is reversed. 

 

In accordance with IFRS 3, cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets acquired 

and liabilities assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

in a business combination (including contingent liabilities) are measured initially at their fair values at 

the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. Finally, the acquisition 

cost is compared with the proportional share of the net assets acquired at fair value. The resulting 

positive differences are capitalized as goodwill. Negative differences are recognized directly in profit 

or loss. 

 

The incidental acquisition costs of a business combination are recognized in the income statement 

under general and administrative expenses. The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income from the date of acquisition or 

until their disposal, respectively. 

 

Foreign currency translation 

Foreign currency transactions are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary foreign currency items are measured at the current exchange rate at each 

balance sheet date. Exchange gains or losses incurred by the balance sheet date are recognized in 

the income statement under financial result. 

 

The financial statements of Group companies with functional currencies different from the Group's 

presentation currency (Euro) are translated using the closing rate method. All balance sheet items are 

translated at the current exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Differences from 

previous year translation are recognized in other comprehensive income without impact on profit or 

loss. Income statement items are translated generally at annual average rates. The use of average 

rates for the income statement creates additional differences compared with the application of 
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current exchange rates for balance sheet items which are also recognized in other comprehensive 

income. 

 

The following exchange rates were applied in translating foreign currencies to EUR: 

 

EUR 1 = Balance sheet date Average 

  31-12-2019 30-04-2019 May -Dec. 2019 Jan. – Apr. 2019 

     
Argentina (ARS) 67.21 49.15 57.99 45.32 

Brazil (BRL) 4.52 4.41 4.47 4.37 

UK (GBP) 0.85 0.86 0.88 0.87 

Norway (NOK) 9.86 9.67 9.92 9.71 

Russia (RUB) 69.96 72.21 71.53 74.33 

USA (USD) 1.12 1.12 1.11 1.13 

Mexico (MXN) 21.22 - 21.49 - 

     
 

Changes in accounting policies 

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has not adopted new International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), new Interpretations and amendments to existing standards, which 

became effective for the Group as of 1 May 2019.  

 

New accounting policies 

Since 1 May 2019, the IASB has issued the following standards and amendments which are not 

expected to have any material effects on the Group’s consolidated financial statements: 

 

Standards, interpretations and amendments 

IASB  

effective date 

  
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptional Framework in IFRS 

Standards (2018)  1 January 2020 

Amendments to IFRS 3 (2018) "Business Combinations"  1 January 2020 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (2018) "Definition of Material"  1 January 2020 

IFRS 17 (2017) "Insurance Contracts"  1 January 2021 

  
 

Significant accounting policies and assumptions 

 

Realization of revenues 

Revenues are recognized when a performance obligation has been satisfied by transferring a 

promised good or service to a customer. The transfer criterion is fulfilled when the customer obtains 

control. They are measured at the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance 

obligation. 
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At WD Group revenues primarily consist of gas and oil sales. Gas and oil revenues are recognized at 

the time of delivery to the contractual delivery point. This is generally the case, if oil passes the vessel's 

rail or, in case of gas and oil supply via pipeline, when passing agreed delivery points.  

 

Gas storage and gas transportation contracts contain a stand-ready obligation for providing storage 

or transportation services over an agreed period. Revenues are recognized as WD Group satisfied 

contractual performance obligations by transferring the services to its customers. Gas storage and 

midstream businesses are part of the consolidated financial statements until their deconsolidation in 

the reporting period (refer to Note 3 "Acquisitions and Divestitures"). 

 

Revenues and expenses from gas and oil concessions are often allocated based on defined formula 

via exploration and production sharing agreements between the state and one or more development 

and production companies. The proceeds due under these contracts are reported as revenue. 

 

As it applies the simplification rule set out in IFRS 15, the Group does not adjust the amount of the 

agreed consideration to reflect the effects of a material financing component if, on the contract start 

date, it is expected that the period between the transfer of the goods or services to the customer and 

the date on which the customer is expected to pay for those goods or services will be one year or less. 

 

Income taxes 

Tax positions under respective local tax laws and tax authorities' views can be complex and subject 

to different interpretations by tax payers and local tax authorities. Different interpretations of tax 

laws may result in additional tax payments for previous years and are included in management 

considerations. 

 

Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax 

consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of 

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. This also comprises temporary differences 

arising from business combinations, except for goodwill. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

calculated using the country-specific tax rates applicable for the period in which the asset is realized, 

or the liability settled. Tax rate changes enacted or substantively enacted on or before the balance 

sheet date are taken into consideration.  

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized if sufficient future taxable profit is available, including knowledge 

about income from forecast operating earnings, the reversal of existing taxable temporary 

differences and established tax planning opportunities. As of each period end, the WD Group 

evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets on the basis of projected future taxable profits. 

According to the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the 

periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, the WD Group believes it is probable the 

company will realize the benefits of these deductible differences. As future developments are 

uncertain, assumptions are necessary to estimate future taxable profits as well as the period in which 

deferred tax assets will recover. Estimates are revised in the period in which there is sufficient 

evidence to revise the assumption. 
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Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities provided they are related to the same 

tax authority and have the same maturities. 

 

Changes in deferred taxes in the balance sheet are recognized as deferred tax expense/income if the 

underlying transaction is also recognized in profit or loss. For those effects which have been 

recognized in equity, changes to deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are also recognized directly in 

equity.  

 
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include capitalized exploration expenditure, other intangible assets such as cost 

recovery rights, license rights in the production phase, commercial and technical software and 

goodwill.  

 

The exploration phase comprises the period from the receipt of exploration rights until their expiry or 

until technical feasibility of a field development and economic viability have been demonstrated. The 

exploration expenditure capitalized during this phase includes, for example, concession acquisition 

costs, licenses and exploration rights and exploration wells. Exploration wells are accounted for at 

their historic cost of acquisition or production according to the successful efforts method; i.e. expenses 

incurred on exploration wells are generally capitalized only if they were successful, in the sense that 

they led in particular to the discovery of oil and gas deposits. Costs for geological and geophysical 

investigations are generally reported under exploration expenses. Once the reserves are proved and 

commercial viability is established and the development is highly probable, the exploration wells are 

reclassified into property, plant and equipment and intangible exploration rights are reclassified into 

other intangible assets. During the exploration phase, the exploration expenditure capitalized is not 

subject to scheduled amortization/depreciation. At least once a year, all exploration wells are 

assessed from an economic, technical and strategic viewpoint to see if development is still intended. 

If this is not the case, the capitalized expenses for the respective well are written off. With the start 

of production, it is amortized/depreciated according to the unit-of-production method (refer to 

Property, Plant and Equipment). Exploration wells for which no reserves could be proven are shown as 

an asset disposal and are expensed under exploration expenses.  

 

Other intangible assets have a finite useful life and are therefore subject to systematic linear or 

production- related depreciation. The useful life of concessions and other license rights corresponds 

to the contractual term or comprises the period until the end of economic production. Software for 

commercial or technical applications is depreciated under the straight-line method over 3 to 10 years. 

The useful economic life and amortization methods are subject to annual review. 

 

The intangible asset from the marketing agreement for natural gas from the Yuzhno Russkoye natural 

gas field is amortized in accordance with WD Group's share of the volume produced and marketed. 

 

Goodwill is not subject to systematic amortization. It is subject to an impairment test on an annual 

basis or whenever there are indications of a diminution in value (impairment test). Goodwill is part of 

cash- generating units. The goodwill impairment test is performed at the level of a cash-generating 

unit or a group of cash-generating units. This is the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 

internal management purposes. 
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Property, plant and equipment and investment property 

Property, plant and equipment comprise land and buildings, gas and oil assets, other plant, machinery 

and equipment as well as fixtures and fittings and office equipment. They are valued at amortized 

acquisition or production cost. Borrowing costs that can be directly allocated to the acquisition or 

production of an asset are capitalized as part of acquisition or production costs if a considerable 

period is necessary to convert the asset into its intended state for use or sale ("qualified asset"). The 

cost of property, plant and equipment also includes the estimated cost of de-installation or demolition 

and removal and of the reconditioning of the site under public or private law obligations, to the extent 

related provisions are set up. Maintenance and repair costs are stated as expenses. 

 

Gas and oil assets are generally depreciated using the unit-of-production method. Basically, in the 

case of capitalized wells the depreciation is based on the current production of the period in relation 

to proved developed producing reserves and in the case of acquisition costs and production 

facilities/support equipment the current production of the period is set in relation to total proved 

reserves. Other property, plant and equipment, except for land and similar rights, is depreciated using 

the straight-line method. 

 

The estimated useful lives and depreciation methods of property, plant and equipment are based on 

historical values, plans and estimates. The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed at each balance sheet date. The typical useful lives of WD Group’s non-production-related 

property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

 

Useful lives Years 

   
 

Buildings 6 - 50 

 
Technical plant and machinery 1 - 25 

  Factory and office equipment 1 - 23 

   
 

Leases 

A lease is a contract in which the right to control the use of an identified asset is conveyed for an 

agreed- upon period in return for compensation. 

 

The present value for future lease payments is generally recognized as a financial liability at the 

commencement date for all lease agreements where the Group acts as the lessee. Lease payments 

are split into principal and interest portions using the effective interest method. Correspondingly, the 

right of use asset is recognized at the present value of the liability, adding any directly attributable 

costs. Payments made before the commencement date and incentives received from the lessor are 

also included in the carrying amount of the right of use asset. 

 

The right of use assets are shown under intangible assets or property, plant and equipment and are 

generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Right of use assets, that are 

allocated to the asset category "gas and oil assets", are depreciated on a straight-line basis or 

according to the unit-of-production-method. The provisions of IAS 36 concerning the determination 

and recognition of impairments of assets also apply to right of use assets. 
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If the expected lease payments change as a result of index-linked consideration, for example, or on 

the basis of new assessments of contractual options, the liability is remeasured. The adjustment to 

the new carrying amount is generally carried out without impact on profit or loss trough corresponding 

adjustment to the right of use asset. 

 

For leases of low-value assets with a maximum amount of € 5 thousand and short-term leases with a 

maximum term of 12 months the Group exercises the optional application exemptions. The lease 

payments under these contracts are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term 

as expense in the income statement. 

 

Impairment test  

An impairment loss is recognized for intangible assets as well as for property, plant and equipment 

and investment properties if the recoverable amount of the asset is less than it's carrying amount. 

Exploration assets are required to be tested for impairment as soon as the technical feasibility and 

profitability of a resource can be proven. The presence of facts and circumstances indicating an 

impairment also gives rise to an impairment test. If the asset is part of a cash-generating unit (the 

smallest identifiable group of assets generating cash flows, which are largely independent of the cash 

inflows of other assets or other groups of assets), then an impairment is derived on the basis of the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. In the event that the carrying amount of a cash-

generating unit to which a goodwill was allocated exceeds the recoverable amount, a resulting 

impairment loss is initially applied to the allocated goodwill. Any further impairment loss required will 

be taken into account through a pro-rata reduction in the remaining carrying amounts of the cash-

generating unit. A reversal of an impairment loss up to the value of amortized cost is made if the 

reasons for an earlier impairment no longer exist. In this case, the increased book value resulting from 

a reversal must not exceed the carrying amount net of amortization or depreciation. Impairment 

losses are reported net of reversals of impairment losses as net impairments on assets. 

 

Within the scope of the impairment test, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 

determined. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of fair value less cost of disposal or 

value in use. The fair value represents the best possible estimate for the amount for which an 

independent third party would acquire the cash-generating unit on the balance sheet date; the cost 

of disposal is deducted. Value in use reflects the present value of the future cash flows which are 

expected to be generated with the cash-generating unit. If either of these amounts exceeds the 

carrying amount, it is not always necessary to determine both amounts. These values are generally 

determined on the basis of discounted cash flow calculations which, in turn, are generally based on 

current corporate planning. The cash flow forecasts pertain to the life-of-field-period for the 

individual concession/license or groups of concessions/licenses. The calculations are based on 

historical experience as well as expectations of future market trends. The principal assumptions 

underlying the determination by management of the recoverable amount are the forecasts for market 

prices of oil and natural gas, the estimated reserves, the production forecast as well as the discount 

rates. The discount rates applied are based on weighted average capital costs taking into 

consideration specific country risks. The calculation was not related to the actual capital structure of 

the company but was derived by a peer group. 
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The goodwill impairment test is based on groups of cash-generating units. At WD Group, these largely 

correspond to the business units. If there is a need for an impairment, the existing goodwill is, if 

necessary, completely written off. Goodwill impairments are reported under net impairments on 

assets. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. 

 

Equity-accounted investments 

The carrying amounts of these companies are increased/reduced annually based on the pro rata 

share of net income, dividends and other changes in equity. These effects are recognized within the 

equity result. Should there be indications of a reduction in the value of an investment that is not only 

temporary, an impairment is recognized in net impairments on assets. 

 

Inventories 

Inventories are carried at cost of acquisition or production or at the lower net realizable value. 

Production costs reflect the full costs directly related to production and are determined on the basis 

of the normal capacity. To the extent that the net realizable value of previously impaired inventories 

has increased, the resulting reversal is recognized in the same expense item in which the original 

impairment was recorded. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when WD 

Group becomes a party to a financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when WD Group 

no longer has a contractual right to the cash flows from the financial asset or when the financial asset 

is transferred together with all material risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 

derecognized when the contractual obligations expire, are discharged or cancelled. Regular-way 

purchases and sales of financial instruments are accounted for using the settlement date as a general 

rule.  

 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. If 

pricing on an active market is available, for example in the form of share prices, these are used as the 

basis for the measurement. Otherwise, the measurement is based on internal measurement models 

using current market parameters or external measurements, for example, from banks. These internal 

measurements predominantly use the net present value method and option pricing models.  

 

Except for financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, this requires the recognition 

of impairments for expected credit losses, independent of whether there any actual default events 

and specific valuation allowances if there is evidence of a permanent need for impairment. If this 

evidence no longer exists, the impairment is reversed in the statement of income up to the carrying 

amount of the asset had the default event not occurred. Valuation allowances are generally 

recognized in separate accounts. 
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The classification and measurement of financial assets are based, on the one hand, on what is known 

as the cash flow condition (exclusively cash flows from interest and principal repayments), i.e. the 

specific structure of the contractually agreed cash flows from an individual financial asset. On the 

other hand, they also depend on the business model based on which portfolios of financial assets are 

managed. Based on these two criteria, the WD Group uses the following measurement categories for 

financial assets: 

 

 Financial assets to be measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

 Financial assets to be measured at amortized costs 

 

Financial assets are classified as at amortized costs only if the asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and if the contractual term give rise to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

 

Except for trade accounts receivables from revenues, at initial recognition, financial assets are 

measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 

transaction cost that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Trade accounts 

receivable from revenues are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 

unless they contain significant financing components. 

 

After initial recognition, financial assets are measured depending on their classification either at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method or at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized costs, expected credit losses are recognized. The 

assessment of credit losses is carried out on a forward-looking basis. Impairment losses according to 

IFRS 9 are presented in the respected line item for the operating functions in the income statement. 

Reversals of impairment losses are credited against the same line item. 

 

Financial liabilities are classified in the following measurement categories: 

 Financial liabilities to be measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

 Financial liabilities to be measured at amortized costs 

 

Financial liabilities are measured at its fair value less, in the case of a financial liability not at fair value 

through profit or loss, transaction cost that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 

liabilities. 

 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured depending on their classification either at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method or at fair value through profit and loss. 

 

Financial guarantees of the WD Group are contracts that require compensation payments to be made 

to the guarantee holder if a debtor fails to make payment when due under the terms of a transaction 

entered into with the holder of the guarantee. Financial guarantees issued by the WD Group are 

measured at fair value upon initial recognition. In subsequent periods, these financial guarantees are 

carried at the higher of amortized cost or the best estimate of the present obligation as of the 

reporting date. 
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Derivative financial instruments 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently measured to their fair values at the end of each reporting period. The accounting 

for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivate is designated as a hedging 

instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

 

At inception of the hedge relationship, the group documents its risk management objective and 

strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions as well as the economic relationship between hedging 

instrument and hedged items including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instrument 

are expected to offset changes in the cash flow of hedged items. 

 

The group has designated derivatives as hedging instruments within the scope of cash flow hedges. 

Cash flow hedges are used to hedge the risk of variability in cash flows related to highly probable 

forecast transactions. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivates that are 

designated as cash flow hedges is recognized as other comprehensive income within equity. The gains 

or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or 

loss. When a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the 

criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred gains or losses in equity at that time remains 

in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to 

occur, the cumulative gains or losses are immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

Changes in the fair values of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are 

recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

Agreements concluded for the purpose of receiving or supplying non-financial items in accordance 

with the company’s expected buying, selling or utilization demand and held for this purpose (own-use 

contracts) are not accounted for as financial derivatives but as pending transactions. If the 

agreements contain embedded derivatives, then the derivatives will be accounted for separately from 

the underlying agreement if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are 

not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the underlying agreement. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are set up for all legal or factual obligations to third parties as at the balance sheet date 

which are based on past events and will probably lead to an outflow of resources in the future and 

the extent of which can be reliably estimated. Possible obligations to third parties or existing 

obligations where an outflow of resources is improbable or the extent thereof cannot be reliably 

determined, are not to be recognized as provisions. They have to be disclosed as contingent liabilities 

in the notes unless the possibility of an outflow of resources with economic benefits is remote. 

 

Provisions are carried at their foreseeable settlement amount and not netted against any recovery 

claims. The settlement amount comprises cost increases to be taken into account as of the balance 

sheet date. In the case of non-current provisions, the amounts are discounted to the present value, 

applying the country- specific or currency-specific market interest rate applicable as of the respective 

balance sheet date. Provisions based on a large number of similar events are reported at their 
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expected value. Releases of provisions are written back against the expense item against which the 

provision was originally set up. 

 

Decommissioning provisions cover the updated commitments for the plugging of wells, the de-

installation of onshore and offshore production facilities and the reconditioning of operations and 

drilling sites. Their extent is based on the anticipated full costs, taking into account the empirical data 

and the cost benchmarks determined by the Association of German Crude Oil and Natural Gas 

Producers, with comparable assumptions available for foreign activities. Should any changes in 

interest rates or estimates in terms of the time or the level of payouts lead to changes in this provision, 

then the carrying amount of the associated asset will be adjusted accordingly. If the reduction is higher 

than the book value, the excess amount must be recorded with direct impact on income. 

 

Provisions for pensions are recognized for defined benefit plans. This relates to commitments by the 

company to cover vested entitlements of employees in active service and current benefits to active 

and former employees or their dependents. These commitments relate in particular to old-age 

pension payments. The specific commitments are based on benefits that vary throughout the industry; 

however, as a rule they are measured according to employees' length of service and remuneration. 

 

The company pension plan consists both of defined-benefit and contribution-based benefit plans. 

Provisions for defined-benefit plans are based on the actuarial projected benefit obligation, measured 

using the projected unit credit method. This benefit/years of service method takes into account not 

only the pension benefits and benefit entitlements known as of the balance sheet date, but also 

anticipated future increases in salaries and pension benefits. The calculation is based on actuarial 

reports, taking into account appropriate biometric parameters. The provision is reduced by the fair 

value of the plan assets set up to cover the pension commitments. The service cost, i.e. the increase in 

the obligation resulting from the work performed by employees in the period under review, is disclosed 

in the operating functional areas and the interest expenses/income are reported in financial expenses. 

 

Results of the remeasurement of defined-benefit plans are fully recognized in the fiscal year in which 

they occur. They are reported outside profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income and immediately assigned to retained earnings. Therefore, they remain outside profit or loss 

in subsequent periods as well. 

 

The defined benefit plans comprise the participation in a legally independent multi-employer plan 

provided by BASF Pensionskasse VVaG, which is financed by employer and employee contributions as 

well as the return on plan assets. After Wintershall Dea GmbH is no longer a 100% subsidiary of BASF, 

sufficient information is not available to continue defined benefit accounting for this multi-employer 

plan. Therefore, the company accounts for the plan as if it was a defined contribution plan. 

 

In the case of contribution-based benefit plans, the company does not incur any further obligations 

beyond making contribution payments to special-purpose funds. The contribution payments are 

recorded as expenses. 
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Discontinued operations and assets held for sale 

Discontinued operations are reported when a component of an entity that either has been disposed 

of or is classified as "held for sale" represents a separate major line of business or geographical area 

of operations. In the consolidated income statement, the result from discontinued operations is 

reported separately from the result from continuing operations. In the consolidated cash flow 

statement, the cash flows from discontinued operations are presented separately from cash flows of 

continuing operations. Previous periods are, in each case, presented on a comparable basis. The 

disclosures in the notes, except for note (1), that refer to the consolidated income statement and the 

consolidated cash flow statement relate to continuing operations. In order to present the financial 

effects of discontinued operations, income and expenses as well as receivables and liabilities arising 

from intragroup transactions are eliminated. Non- current assets classified as "held for sale" are 

measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, unless these assets 

are not part of the measurement scope as defined in IFRS 5. Depreciation and amortization cease 

from the date of classification as "held for sale". 

 

Important estimates and assumptions 

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements on the basis of IFRS requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses as well as disclosed contingent liabilities and fair values. The assumptions and estimates 

mainly concern the following areas: 

 

Gas and oil reserves 

Natural gas and oil reserves are applied to determine the recoverable amount in the framework of 

the impairment test as well as for the production-related depreciation and amortization using the 

unit-of- production method. Reserves are estimated by the Group's own qualified engineers and 

geoscientists applying standardized valuation methods and are classified in line with international 

industry standards. This process is subject to defined principles.  

 

Impairment tests 

Key assumptions within impairment tests for intangible assets (including goodwill) and property, plant 

and equipment and equity-accounted investments relate to estimated reserves, forecasts for market 

prices of natural gas and crude oil, production forecasts and discount rates.  

 

The company’s in-house forecasts of the long-term development of gas and oil prices are based on 

empirically sound analyses of global gas and oil supply and global gas and oil demand. Long-term 

estimates also include assumptions on inflation, production volumes and costs, as well as energy 

efficiency and substitution of energy sources. Gas and oil price estimates are regularly checked for 

plausibility based on external sources and studies. The discount rates are based on weighted average 

cost of capital taking into consideration specific country risks.  

 

Impairment on financial assets 

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about probability of default and 

expected credit losses. The inputs to the impairment calculation are based on the group's history, 

existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates. 
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Derivative financial instruments 

In accounting for derivative financial instruments, assumptions have to be made as to whether the 

principles of hedge accounting apply. In addition, for certain contracts a decision is required as to 

whether they are to be recognized as derivatives or treated as pending transactions like what are 

known as own-use contracts. 

 

Provisions 

Decommissioning provisions mainly require estimates and assumptions with regard to terms, costs to 

be considered and discount rates. Future actual cash outflows can differ, owing to changes in relation 

to these items. 

 

With regard to pension provisions, the discount rate is one of the very important estimators. The 

discount factor for pension obligations is determined on the basis of yields on high quality, fixed-rate 

corporate bonds on the financial markets as of the balance sheet date. 

 

Leases 

When determining right of use assets and corresponding lease liabilities, especially assumptions 

regarding the exercise of extension or termination options as well as discount rates are to be made. 

 

All assumptions and estimates are based on conditions and evaluations made as at the balance sheet 

date. In addition, with regards to expected future business trends, the future development (considered 

realistic at the current time) of the economic environment in the industries and the regions in which 

the WD Group operates is considered. If the actual trend deviates from the assumed development of 

conditions, then the assumptions and, if necessary, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities 

concerned will be adjusted accordingly. As of the date of preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements, it is not expected that there will be a material change in the assumptions and estimates. 

 

Changes in financial statement presentation and other restatements 

As a result of the merger and in order to be more aligned with peers, the presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements has been adjusted. Reclassifications of prior period amounts have 

been made to improve comparability and conform to the presentation that has been adopted by WD 

Group.  

 

Consolidated Statement of Income 

The Company adjusted the presentation of consolidated statement of income. The adjustment can 

be classified in four categories: 

  

a) More detailed split of presented line items 

 The consolidated income statement provides a more detailed split of presented line items 

especially with regard to revenues and net income from equity-accounted investments. 

 

b) Less detailed split of presented line items 

 The former break-down of the financial result was replaced by the less detailed line items 

"financial income” and “financial expenses". 
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c) Allocation of former line items into functional areas and allocation from functional areas into 

separate line items 

 Income and expenses previously reported as other operating income and expenses as well as 

distribution and research costs were mainly allocated to the individual functional areas under the 

new structure. By contrast, depreciation and amortization, impairments and reversal of impair-

ments on assets were allocated from the individual functional areas into separate line items. In 

addition, the total item cost of sales was allocated to "production and operating expenses", 

"production and similar taxes", "cost of sales midstream" as well as "general and administration 

expenses". 

 

d) Accounting adjustments 

 Foreign currency gains and losses and related income and expenses from derivative financial 

instruments as well as net impairments on financial receivables are no longer shown in the 

operating result but are instead recognized as financial result. 

 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 

The Company reclassified exploration assets from "property, plant and equipment" to "intangible 

assets". In addition, non-current provisions from income taxes have been reclassified from "other 

provisions" to "income tax liabilities" and liabilities from other taxes have been reclassified from 

current "tax liabilities" to "trade and other payables". Overlift liabilities have been reclassified from 

"other provisions" to "trade and other payables".  

 

€ million 30-04-2019 01-01-2019 

   
Exploration assets 140 140 

Provisions from income taxes 1 33 

Liabilities from other taxes 56 57 

Overlift liabilities 29 5 

   
 

In addition, "financial receivables" and "derivative instruments" were separated from "other 

receivables", "decommissioning provisions" were separated from "other provisions" and "financial 

debt" and "derivative instruments" were separated from "other liabilities".  

 

With regard to fixed assets a new structure of asset classes was introduced (see Note 13). Besides the 

reclassification of exploration wells and exploration rights to a separate asset class under intangibles, 

"machinery and technical equipment" as well as "construction in progress" are reclassified to "gas and 

oil assets", where they relate to gas and oil operations, or to "other plant, machinery and equipment", 

where they relate to other operations (e.g. gas transportation business), respectively. Right of use 

assets are no longer shown as a separate asset class but are instead allocated to the individual asset 

classes.  

 

Moreover, the Company made a further adjustment according to IAS 8.41. The adjustment relates to 

the calculation method and disclosure of deferred taxes in Argentina and was carried out 

retrospectively with the following impact on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 
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 30-04-2019 01-01-2019 

€ million 

Before 

restatement 

Restatement 

amount 

After 

restatement 

Before 

restatement 

Restatement 

amount 

After 

restatement 

       

Deferred tax assets 270 -46 224 129 7 136 

Deferred tax liabilities -1,203 -109 -1,312 -1,321 -162 -1,483 

Retained earnings and 

other comprehensive 

income -1,841 155 -1,686 -1,960 155 -1,805 

       
 

 

NOTE 2 – SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 

 

There are 50 fully and 1 partially consolidated companies (30 April 2019: 18; refer to Note 32). Although 

Wintershall Dea has no power over relevant activities of ZAO Gazprom YRGM Trading, it is entitled to 

the company's results on the basis of the profit distribution agreements and controls the company as 

principal.  

 

Number of consolidated companies 
     

       
At the beginning of the year     18 

 First-time consolidations 1) 

 Deconsolidation1) 

 Merged 

    41 

    -6 

    -2 

At the end of the year       51 
1) Refer to Note 3 Acquisitions and Divestitures 

 

There are 7 joint ventures and 7 material associated companies that are accounted for using the 

equity method (30 April 2019: 10). 

 

Joint operations 

A large part of the activities in the Exploration & Production business area are carried out in the 

context of joint operations, which are in parts managed in separate companies. The following joint 

operations are structured as separate entities: 

Name Nature of the joint arrangements 
Principal place of 

business 

Ownership 

interest/ voting 

rights (%) 

    

SUEZ OIL COMPANY (Suco) 
Operating company for the development and 

production phase Cairo, Egypt 50.00 

DEMINEX EGYPT OIL 

COMPANY (Deoco) 

Operating company for the development and 

production phase; performed by Suco as a 

service Cairo, Egypt 50.00 

DISOUQ PETROLEUM 

COMPANY (DISOUCO) 

Operating company for the development and 

production phase; performed by Suco as a 

service Cairo, Egypt 50.00 

Groupement Reggane 
Operating company for the development and 

production phase Algiers, Algeria 19.50 
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Joint operations that are not managed in separate companies are mainly in Germany, Norway and 

Argentina. 

The Group's shares in joint operations are accounted for by recognizing its respective share in assets 

and liabilities as well as its income and expenses. The joint operation AO Achimgaz, Novy 

Urengoy/Russia is operated jointly with Gazprom to produce natural gas and condensate. Wintershall 

Dea holds a 50% interest in the company and controls the company jointly with Gazprom. As a result, 

the company was classified as a joint operation within the meaning of IFRS 11 and hence is 

proportionally consolidated. 

 

Joint ventures and associated companies 

The main joint ventures accounted for using the equity method are WIGA Transport Beteiligungs- 

GmbH & Co. KG, Kassel (50% interest) and its subsidiaries ("WIGA Group") and Wintershall Noordzee 

B.V., Rijswijk/Netherlands (50% interest), both of which are operated with the partner Gazprom. 

 

The WIGA Group comprises the previously fully consolidated subsidiaries WIGA Transport 

Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG , W&G Transport Holding GmbH and Opal Gastransport GmbH Co. KG as 

well as W&G Infrastruktur Finanzierungs-GmbH, GASCADE Transport GmbH and NEL Gastransport 

GmbH which were previously shown as equity-accounted investment ("W&G Infrastruktur Group"). The 

deconsolidation of the mentioned companies took place as of November 30, 2019. The WIGA Group 

comprises the onshore gas transportation activities in Germany. 
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WIGA Transport Beteiligungs- GmbH & Co. KG, Kassel (Group, 100%) 

(in the previous year only W&G Infrastruktur Finanzierungs-GmbH - 

Group,  

100 %) 

May - Dec. 2019/ 

31-12-2019 

Jan. - Apr. 2019/ 

30-04-2019 

€ million   
Balance sheet  

 

 Non-current assets 

 Current assets 

     of which marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents 

2,823 1,703 

516 447 

0 - 

Assets 
 

3,339 2,150 

Equity 796 494 

 Non-current liabilities 1,050 1,400 

     thereof financial indebtedness 400 924 

 Current liabilities 1,493 256 

     thereof financial indebtedness - 4 

Equity and liabilities 3,339 2,150 

Statement of income 1)   

 Revenue 585 332 

 Depreciation and amortization -58 -30 

 Interest expenses -8 -3 

 Income taxes -13 -7 

 Net income (loss) for the year 79 53 

Carrying amount as of the beginning of the year 646 630 

 Proportional net income for the year 40 26 

Total comprehensive income 40 26 

Capital measures/withdrawals/changes in the scope of 

consolidation/other adjustments  520 - 

     of which additions 1,195 - 

     of which disposals -6752) - 

Other adjustments recognized in profit or loss  -19 -10 

Carrying amount according as of the end of the year 1,187 646 

1)  Including the period December for the previously fully consolidated subsidiaries WIGA Transport, W&G Transport Holding 
     and Opal Gastransport 
2)  Disposal of the equity-accounted investment "W&G Infrastructure Group" 
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Wintershall Noordzee B.V. Rijswijk/ Netherlands (100%) 
May - Dec. 2019/ 

31-12-2019 

Jan. - Apr. 2019/ 

30-04- 2019 

€ million   
 

Balance sheet   
 

 Non-current assets 658 591 

 Current assets 75 82 

     of which marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents 29 37 

Assets  733 673 

 Equity 79 123 

 Non-current liabilities 467 470 

     thereof financial indebtedness  - 45 

 Current liabilities 187 80 

     thereof financial indebtedness  124 - 

Equity and liabilities 733 673 

Statement of income  
 

 Revenue 60 49 

 Depreciation and amortization  -71 -508 

 Interest expenses -1 - 

 Income taxes 46 -6 

 Net income (loss) for the year -44 -471 

Carrying amount as of the beginning of the year 61 297 

Proportional net income for the year -22 -236 

Total comprehensive income -22 -236 

Capital measures/withdrawals/changes in the scope of 

consolidation/other adjustments  - - 

     of which withdrawals (includes profit transfer) - - 

Other adjustments recognized in profit or loss  - - 

Carrying amount according as of the end of the year 39 61 
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The tables below contain summarized financial information for material associated companies 

accounted for using the equity method: 

 

• OAO Severneftegazprom, Krasnoselkup/Russia (Wintershall Dea’s share 25%, economic 

participation 35%) 

 

OAO Severneftegazprom, Krasnoselkup/Russia (100%) 
May - Dec. 2019/ 

31-12-2019 

Jan. - Apr. 2019 

30-04-2019 

€ million    
 

Balance sheet    

 Non-current assets 884 857 

 Current assets 258 228 

     of which marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents 79 94 

Assets  1,142 1,085 

 Equity 851 790 

 Non-current liabilities 195 178 

 Current liabilities 97 118 

Equity and liabilities 1,142 1,085 

Statement of income   

 Revenue 472 242 

 Depreciation and amortization  -49 -25 

 Interest income 4 2 

 Interest expenses -5 -2 

 Income taxes -18 -10 

 Net income for the year 65 31 

Carrying amount as of the beginning of the year 310 271 

 Proportional net income for the year 23 10 

 Proportional change in other comprehensive income 14 29 

Total comprehensive income 37 39 

 Capital measures/dividends/changes in the scope of consolidation/other  

 adjustments  

 

-9 

 

- 

     of which dividends (includes profit transfer) -9 - 

Carrying amount as of the end of the year 338 310 
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• Nord Stream AG, Zug/Switzerland (Wintershall Dea’s share 15.5%) 

 

Nord Stream AG, Zug/Switzerland (100%) 
May - Dec. 2019/ 

31-12-2019 

Jan. - Apr. 2019/ 

30-04-2019 

€ million    
 

Balance sheet    

 Non-current assets 5,067 5,264 

 Current assets 586 1,128 

     of which marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents 231 544 

Assets  5,653 6,392 

 Equity 2,350 2,658 

 Non-current liabilities 2,789 3,300 

     thereof financial indebtedness  2,789 3,272 

 Current liabilities 514 434 

     thereof financial indebtedness  514 379 

Equity and liabilities 5,653 6,392 

Statement of income   

 Revenue 715 359 

 Depreciation and amortization  -182 -114 

 Interest income - - 

 Interest expenses -99 -52 

 Income taxes -15 -5 

 Net income for the year 312 170 

Carrying amount as of the beginning of the year 427 398 

 Proportional net income for the year 50 27 

 Proportional change in other comprehensive income 6 2 

Total comprehensive income 56 29 

 Capital measures/dividends/changes in the scope of consolidation/other  

 adjustments  

 

-103 

 

- 

     of which dividends (includes profit transfer) -103 - 

Carrying amount as of the end of the year 380 427 
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• Wintershall AG, Kassel, in which Libyan exploration and production activities (onshore) are 

carried out jointly with Gazprom Libyen Verwaltungs GmbH.  

 

Wintershall AG, Kassel (100%) 
May - Dec. 2019/ 

31-12- 2019 

Jan. - Apr. 2019/ 

30-04-2019 

€ million    
 

Balance sheet    

 Non-current assets 597 641 

 Current assets 107 220 

     of which marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents 1 9 

Assets  704 861 

 Equity 185 190 

 Non-current liabilities 341 517 

     thereof financial indebtedness  80 4 

 Current liabilities 178 154 

     thereof financial indebtedness  51 13 

Equity and liabilities 704 861 

Statement of income    

 Revenue 69 54 

 Depreciation and amortization  -36 -18 

 Interest income - - 

 Interest expenses - - 

 Income taxes -49 2 

 Net income for the year -5 - 

Carrying amount as of the beginning of the year 97 97 

 Proportional net income for the year -3 - 

 Proportional change in other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income -3 - 

 Capital measures/dividends/changes in the scope of consolidation/other 

 adjustments  

 

- 

 

- 

     of which dividends (includes profit transfer) - - 

Carrying amount as of the end of the year 94 97 

 

Wintershall Aktiengesellschaft (WIAG) and Libya's National Oil Corporation (NOC) have signed in 

December 2019 two Exploration and Production Sharing Agreements (EPSAs) for Areas 91 (former 

Concession 96) and 107 (former Concession 97) in the onshore Sirte Basin. WIAG and NOC will establish 

a joint operating company (JOC) named "Sarir Oil Operations" (51% NOC, 49% WIAG) that following a 

transitional 6-month period of continued WIAG operatorship shall assume operational responsibility 

in both contract areas. 
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• Wintershall Dea Wolga Petroleum GmbH, Kassel (Wintershall Dea’s share 100%) 

The equity investment comprises the Holding company Wintershall Dea Wolga Petroleum 

GmbH and it’s 50% interest in the operating joint venture Wolgodeminoil LLC  

 

Wintershall Dea Wolga Petroleum GmbH, Kassel (50% shareholder of  

Wolgodeminoil LLC) 

May - Dec. 2019/ 

31-12-2019 

Jan.- Apr. 2019/ 

30-04-2019 

€ million    
 

Balance sheet    

 Non-current assets 10 13 

 Current assets 38 50 

     of which marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents 30 31 

Assets  48 63 

 Equity 18 32 

 Non-current liabilities 4 3 

     thereof financial indebtedness  - - 

 Current liabilities 26 28 

     thereof financial indebtedness  17 15 

Equity and liabilities 48 63 

Statement of income   

 Revenue 50 27 

 General administrative expenses -4 -2 

 Other interest and similar income 1 - 

 Income taxes -3 -2 

 Net income for the year 9 6 

Carrying amount as of the beginning of the year 36 27 

 Proportional net income for the year 9 6 

 Proportional change in other comprehensive income 1 3 

Total comprehensive income 10 9 

 Capital measures/dividends/changes in the scope of consolidation/other  

 adjustments  -17 - 

     of which dividends (includes profit transfer) -17 - 

Carrying amount as of the end of the year 36 36 
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• Achim Development, Novy Urengoi/Russia and Achim Trading, Moscow/Russia 

 

Wintershall Dea’s share in both companies is 18.01% and the economic participation amounts to 

25.01%. Partner in both companies is Gazprom.  

 

The limited liability company Achim Development comprises blocks IV/V of the Achimov Formation. 

The joint stock company Achim Trading will market the production of Achimov IV/V. The carrying 

amount of the investments as of 31 December 2019 was € 610 million (previous year: € 612 million). 

Economic activity will not commence until the start of production of blocks IV/V, which is scheduled 

for 2020. As a result, no relevant financial information has to be presented for the reporting period in 

accordance with IFRS 12. As of 31 December 2019 assets for Achim Development were € 705 million 

and for Achim Trading € 1 million. 

 

 

NOTE 3 – ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES 

 

Merger with Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG (formerly DEA Deutsche Erdoel AG) 

Effective 1 May 2019, BASF SE and LetterOne Holdings S.A. completed the merger of Wintershall Dea 

GmbH and Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG ("Dea") contemplated by the Business Combination 

Agreement, dated as of 27 September 2018, by and among the BASF SE (BASF), BASF Handels- und 

Exportgesellschaft mbH (BHE), LetterOne Holdings S.A. (LetterOne), L1E Acquisitions GmbH (L1E 

Acquisitions) and Wintershall Dea GmbH. BASF and BHE jointly held all shares in Wintershall Dea. L1E 

Acquisitions, an indirect 100% subsidiary of LetterOne, held all shares in Wintershall Dea Deutschland 

AG.  

 

With the merger, BASF and LetterOne combined the Wintershall business with the Dea business in 

Wintershall Dea GmbH as jointly owned company upon the terms and conditions set out in the Business 

Combination Agreement. The main objective was to increase competitiveness and future viability by 

pooling forces. Wintershall Dea has the strength, know-how and international footprint to make 

inroads in the global market and seize great opportunities. 

 

As part of the transaction, LetterOne has contributed all shares in Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG 

into Wintershall Dea GmbH against issuance of new shares. Furthermore, Wintershall Dea took over a 

loan liability from LetterOne towards Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG of EUR 1.7 billion.  

 

BASF holds 67%, and LetterOne holds 33% of the ordinary shares of Wintershall Dea. In addition, BASF 

holds Preference Shares in Wintershall Dea resulting from an equity contribution, which convert into 

ordinary shares at IPO or May 1, 2022, whichever is earlier. The aggregate amount of Preference Shares 

held by BASF corresponds to an amount which results in an arithmetical participation of the registered 

share capital in Wintershall Dea of 72.7% for BASF and 27.3% for LetterOne. Wintershall Dea is jointly 

controlled by BASF and LetterOne as set out in the corporate governance. 
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Allocation of Purchase Price 

Based on an evaluation of IFRS 3 "Business Combinations", Wintershall was determined to be the 

acquirer in the merger. As consideration for the contribution of all shares in Wintershall Dea 

Deutschland AG, equity interest of Wintershall Dea GmbH (51,716,445 ordinary shares) have been 

issued to LetterOne. The fair value of the consideration is based on the equity value of Wintershall 

Dea Deutschland AG and its subsidiaries as of 1 May 2019. Transaction and integration costs directly 

related to the merger were recognized as general and administration expenses. For the reporting 

period an amount of € 30 million was recorded. 

 

Wintershall Dea has applied the acquisition method of accounting with respect to the assets and 

liabilities of Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG and its subsidiaries, which have been measured at fair 

value as of 1 May 2019. The fair values represent management's best estimate and require a complex 

series of judgments about future net cash flows, discount rates and other factors. Inputs were 

generally determined by considering historical data, supplemented by current and anticipated market 

conditions, and growth rates. 

 

The table below presents the fair value that was allocated to Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG’s 

assets and liabilities based upon fair values as determined by Wintershall Dea. The Company 

estimated the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities as of the date of acquisition based on 

information currently available. The preliminary allocation, which had been presented in the quarterly 

financial statements, was adjusted during the 12 months remeasurement period. The adjustment of 

the consideration was mainly due to improved knowledge about the reservoir of some concessions 

gathered from new information and data received and/or interpreted. 

 
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed on 1 May 2019 Estimated fair value 

€ million Adjusted PPA Initial PPA 

   
Fair values of assets acquired   

 Exploration assets  1,372 1,621 

 Other intangible assets 2,482 2,560 

 Property, plant and equipment and investment property 4,421 4,461 

 Inventories 83 84 

 Financial assets and financial receivables 1,886 1,886 

 Trade and other receivables (incl. derivatives) 500 477 

 Income and deferred tax assets 217 166 

 Cash and cash equivalents 171 171 

Total assets 11,132 11,426 

   
Fair values of liabilities assumed   

   Provisions 1,496 1,472 

   Financial debt 2,204 2,204 

   Trade and other payables (incl. derivatives) 573 581 

   Income tax liabilities 132 133 

   Deferred tax liabilities 2,647 2,766 

Total liabilities 7,052 7,156 

Net assets (consideration for the merger) 4,080 4,270 
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The acquired goodwill amounts to € 1,772 million and is mainly resulting from the recognition of 

deferred taxes. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purpose.  

 

The consolidated income statement includes revenues of € 847 million and net income of                            

€ -344 million for the acquired companies.  

 

Ghasha Concessions United Arab Emirates 

On 25 November 2018, Wintershall Dea Middle East GmbH had signed an accession agreement to the 

concession agreement with the Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC) and the Supreme 

Petroleum Council of the United Arab Emirates to acquire a 10% stake in the Ghasha concession in the 

United Arab Emirates. The acquisition was classified as a joint arrangement accounted for by analogy 

to IFRS 11 joint operation. Due to a lack of sufficient information the purchase price of € 156 million 

was not allocated to the acquired assets as of 30 April 2019. 

 

After obtaining all relevant information, the purchase price allocation was carried out during the 12 

months remeasurement period in November 2019.  

 

€ million 

Estimated fair 

value 

  
Fair values of assets acquired  

   Other intangible assets 23 

   Property, plant and equipment 133 

Total net assets 156 

 

Divestiture of storage business 

As of 28 May 2019, Wintershall Dea has signed a contract for the sale of the oil storage in Blexen. The 

sale was completed on 24 June 2019 with economic effective date 1 January 2019. The storage 

business was not classified as discontinued operation as it does not represent a separate major line 

of business. 

 

In connection with the sale, a purchase price of € 40 million was paid to Wintershall Dea. After 

deduction of disposed cash and cash equivalents the net inflow from divestures amounted to € 33 

million. The disposal of the company led to a gain on deconsolidation in the amount of € 38 million. 

No cumulative other comprehensive income was recorded for the storage business. 

 

The following assets and liabilities were derecognized: 

 

€ million  

  
Non-current assets 15 

Current assets 7 

   thereof cash and cash equivalents 7 

Non-current liabilities 19 

Current liabilities 1 
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Divestiture Gullfaks AS 

The sale of Gullfaks AS was completed on 20 December 2019. Gullfaks AS was the owner of the office 

building in Norway. As the building was leased afterwards the transaction was classified as a sale and 

lease back transaction according to IFRS 16. 

 

In connection with the sale, a purchase price of € 82 million (net of cost) was paid to Wintershall Dea. 

The sales and lease back transaction resulted in a gain on deconsolidation of € 4 million. The 

deconsolidation gain included € 13 million of foreign currency losses that were reclassified from 

equity. 

 

The following assets and liabilities were derecognized: 

 

€ million  

  
Non-current assets 62 

Current assets 2 

   thereof cash and cash equivalents 0 

Non-current liabilities 1 

Current liabilities 3 

 

Deconsolidation of the gas transportation business (WIGA Group) 

The onshore gas transportation activities of the Group in Germany are bundled under the holding 

company WIGA Transport Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG (WIGA), which is owned by Wintershall Dea 

with 50.02 and GAZPROM Germania GmbH (GPG, 49.98%). Historically, the results of WIGA were fully 

consolidated into WD Group's financial statements. The same applies to WIGA's subsidiaries W & G 

Transport Holding GmbH (WGTH) and OPAL Gastransport GmbH & Co. KG (OGT). The remaining 

subsidiaries W & G Infrastruktur Finanzierungs-GmbH, GASCADE Gastransport GmbH and NEL 

Gastransport GmbH were consolidated according to the equity method. 

 

As a result of the merger between Wintershall and Dea, Wintershall Dea and GPG agreed to an 

adjustment of the corporate governance in WIGA with effect from 1 December 2019 which resulted 

in al loss of Wintershall Dea's control over WIGA and led to joint control of Wintershall Dea and GPG. 

This in turn led to a deconsolidation of the previously fully consolidated subsidiaries of the WIGA 

Group in WD Group's consolidated financial statements. The whole WIGA Group is recognized as an 

equity investment as from 1 December 2019 onwards triggering a re-evaluation of WIGA including 

WIGA subsidiaries. 

 

The fair value of the WIGA equity investments amounted to € 1,195 million as of 1 December 2019. The 

deconsolidation and recognition as equity investments led to a gain of deconsolidation in the amount 

of € 385 million. 
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The following assets and liabilities were derecognized: 

 

€ million  

  
Non-current assets 1,620 

Current assets 49 

   thereof cash and cash equivalents 1 

Non-current liabilities 359 

Current liabilities 742 

 

The following assets and liabilities which had previously been eliminated within WD Group were 

recognized: 

 

€ million  

  
Non-current assets (previously eliminated) 200 

Current liabilities (previously eliminated) 574 

 

The consolidated income statements include revenues and expenses for WIGA, W&G Transport 

Holding and OPAL for the period May until November 2019. For the period of December the 

proportional net income is recognized as "net income from equity accounted investments". 

 

Major asset sales 

In September, Wintershall Dea completed the sale of interest in certain non-operated oil and gas 

assets in Emsland and Grafschaft Bentheim in Germany. 

 

In November, Wintershall Dea sold a 45% interest share in the Aguada Federal block situated in the 

Neuquén basin (Argentina) to ConocoPhillips. Wintershall Dea, as the operator, will retain a 45% share 

in the block. ConocoPhillips also acquired a 50% share in the nearby Bandurria Norte block from 

Wintershall Dea. Wintershall Dea retained the other 50% and remains the operator of the block.  

 

In December, Wintershall Dea sold its interest in its Norwegian infrastructure projects in the Nyhamna 

terminal and in the Polarled pipeline. This disposal of the infrastructure assets led to loss of € 46 

million. This was mainly due to a loss of € 51 million from the partial disposal of the goodwill allocated 

to Norway. 
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NOTE 4 – REVENUES AND OTHER INCOME 

 

Revenues May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million    

Revenues gas   

 
Gas sales own production 931 327 

 
Gas sales trading 588 491 

 
Gas derivatives 23 4 

  1,542 822 

Revenues oil   

 
Oil sales own production 1,348 431 

 
Oil sales trading 27 23 

 
Oil derivatives 15 - 

  1,390 454 

Total Revenues gas and oil 2,932 1,276 

   

Revenues midstream 121 73 

Revenues other 219 180 

Total   3,272 1,529 

 

As from the reporting period, gas and oil (crude oil/condensate) revenues from own production also 

include service fees for extraction services in Russia. In the previous year, these revenues were shown 

under "revenues other". In the reporting period, "revenues other" mainly comprise revenues from 

construction services to Achim Development. 

 

Gains and losses from gas derivatives and oil swaps are not considered revenues according to IFRS 15. 

 

Other operating income 

Other operating income mainly include gains from deconsolidation as well as gains from asset 

disposal. 

 

 

NOTE 5 - PRODUCTION AND OPERATING EXPENSES  

 

Production and operating expenses 

May - Dec. 

2019 

Jan. - Apr. 

 2019 

€ million   

 
Production costs 391 148 

 
Change over-/underlift -2 30 

 
Transport fees and leases 181 55 

 
Development costs 16 11 

 
Cost of trade goods 561 425 

 
Other cost of sales 123 2 

 
Other costs 28 -16 

Total   1,298 655 
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Production costs also comprise extraction services in Russia. In the previous year the production cost 

also included construction services for Achim Development. As from the reporting period those costs 

are shown under "other cost of sales".  

 

Cost of trade goods covers the trading activities for oil and gas. The corresponding revenues are 

shown under "gas and oil sales trading". The trading activities of the Russian subsidiary YRGM Trading 

are shown net of cost under "gas sales trading". 

 

Other costs mainly comprise net impairments on operating receivables (gains of € 25 million), losses 

from disposals of fixed assets of € 56 million and restructuring cost (gains of € 3 million). 

 

 

NOTE 6 – EXPLORATION 

 

Exploration expenses in the income statement (€ 148 million) comprise, among other things, expenses 

related to seismology, geology, geophysics, unsuccessful exploration wells, additions and reversals of 

provisions and allocable administrative expenses. Impairment losses and reversals are not included in 

the exploration expenses. 

 

Provisions comprise commitments from exploration (mainly working programs) amounting to € 136 

million. 

 

The cash flow from operating activities attributable to exploration amounts to € 107 million. In 

addition, the cash flow from investment activities by the exploration division amounts to € 77 million. 

 

 

NOTE 7 – ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE: PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND 

EMPLOYEES 

 

Total personnel expenses included in production and other operating expenses, exploration 

expenses and general administration expenses are as follows: 

 

Personnel expenses May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million 
  

 
Wages and salaries 245 68 

 
Social security and other benefits 31 7 

 
Expenses relating to post-employee benefits 47 4 

Total   323 79 
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As of 31 December 2019, the Group had 2,847 employees in fully consolidated and partially 

consolidated companies (30 April 2019: 2,004  employees).  

 

Number of employees 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

WD Group 2,847 2,004 

 
of which trainees 63 52 

 
of which employees on fixed-term contracts 129 161 

 

 

NOTE 8 – FINANCIAL RESULT 

 

Financial result May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million 
  

 
Interest income from third parties 73 35 

 
Interest income from related parties 2 2 

 
Foreign currency exchange gains, net - - 

 
Gains from financial derivatives, net 24 - 

 
Income from investments 3 - 

 
Other financial income 5 1 

Financial income 107 38 

 
Interest expenses to third parties 92 8 

 
Interest expenses to related parties 0 6 

 
Less capitalized borrowing costs -24 - 

 
Foreign currency exchange losses, net 128 1 

 
Losses from financial derivatives, net - 7 

 
Interest from addition to provisions 37 12 

 Net impairment on financial receivables -1 0 

 
Other financial expenses 15 8 

Financial expenses 247 42 

Total financial result -140 -4 

 

Interest income and expense relate to assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost. 

 

 

NOTE 9 – INCOME TAXES 

 

In Germany, a uniform corporate income tax rate of 15.0%, as well as a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% 

thereon, are levied on all distributed and retained earnings. In addition to corporate income tax, 

income generated in Germany is subject to a trade tax that varies depending on the municipality in 

which the company is represented. The weighted average trade tax rate in 2019 was 15.0% (previous 

year: 15.0%). The 30% tax rate used to calculate deferred taxes for German group companies remained 

unchanged in 2019. The income of foreign Group companies is assessed using the tax rates applicable 

in their respective countries. The foreign Group companies use the following tax rates for the deferred 

tax calculation:  

  



  
 
 

39 

 

 

Tax rates for the deferred tax calculation  
 

   
 Norwegian Group company  78%/22% 

 Mexican Group companies  30% 

 Dutch Group companies  25%/65% 

 Russian Group companies  20% 

 Argentine Group company  25% 

   
 

 

Tax expense May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million   
 

 

Income taxes current year (Corporate income tax, solidarity surcharge  

and trade taxes) -144 -229 

 Income taxes for previous years 31 50 

 Current income tax expense -113 -179 

 
from changes in temporary differences -191 287 

 from changes in tax loss carry forwards/unused tax credits 18 0 

 from changes in the tax rate 0 0 

 Deferred tax expenses -173 287 

Income taxes -286 108 

 

Taxes on income are derived from the expected tax expenses as follows: 

 

Reconciliation to the effective tax expense and the tax rate May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million 
  

Result before taxes 601 -959 

Expected corporate income tax based on German corporate  

income tax rate (15%) 
-90 144 

Solidarity surcharge 0 0 

Trade income tax 8 -9 

Effect of different tax rates on income of foreign group companies -131 337 

Taxes for previous years 31 50 

Withholding tax on dividends -24 0 

Tax effects on   

 
Gain from deconsolidation  64 - 

 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes -7 0 

 
Changes in tax loss carry forwards -30 - 

 
Goodwill impairments and disposal -40 -79 

 
Net income from equity-accounted investments 12 -61 

 
Miscellaneous -79 -274 

Effective income taxes -286 108 

Effective income tax rate 48% 11% 

 

Income tax assets and liabilities 

Income tax assets and liabilities consist primarily of income taxes for the respective current year and 

prior-year periods that have not been definitively audited by the tax authorities. The income tax 

liabilities also comprise provisions for uncertain tax positions.  
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are allocable to the following balance sheet items: 

 

    Effects recognized in OCI    

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

May - Dec. 2019 

01-05- 

20191), 

net 

Effects 

recognized 

in income 

Business 

combi-

nations/ 

deconsoli-

dations 

cash 

flow 

hedges 

Remeasure-

ment of 

benefit  

plan 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

31-12-  

2019, 

net 

Deferred 

tax assets 

Deferred 

tax 

liabilities 

€ million 
      

  
  

 
Intangible assets -140 125 -1,773 - - 62 -1,726 47 1,773 

 
Property, plant and equipment -1,877 -285 -1,081 - - 85 -3,158 4 3,162 

 

Inventories, receivables and 

financial assets 65 -47 -94 -7 - 1 -82 9 91 

 
Pension provisions 60 7 51 - 29 -2 145 164 19 

 

Other provisions, liabilities and 

financial liabilities 802 239 342 -12 - -8 1,363 1,391 28 

 
Other 1 -18 26 - - - 9 14 5 

 
Tax loss carry forwards 1 18 49 - - - 68 68 - 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) 

before netting -1,088 39 -2,480 -19 29 138 -3,381 1,697 5,078 

 
Netting (same tax jurisdictions)        -1,601 -1,601 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) 

after netting        96 3,477 

  1) Restated (refer to "changes in financial statement presentation") 

 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities  

Jan. - Apr. 2019 

01-01- 

20191), 

net 

Effects 

recognized  

in income 

Cash flow 

hedges and 

remeasure-

ments of 

benefit plans 

(OCI) 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

(OCI) 

30-04- 

20191), 

net 

Deferred tax 

assets 

Deferred tax 

liabilities 

€ million 
       

 Intangible assets -131 2 - -11 -140 6 146 

 Property, plant and equipment -2,016 176 - -37 -1,877 38 1,915 

 

Inventories, receivables and  

financial assets 55 10 - - 65 75 10 

 Pension provisions 49 1 10 - 60 65 5 

 

Other provisions, liabilities and  

financial liabilities 694 98 - 10 802 807 5 

 Other 1 - - - 1 1 - 

 Tax loss carry forwards 1 - - - 1 1 - 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)  

before netting -1,347 287 10 -38 -1,088 993 2,081 

 
Netting (same tax jurisdictions)      -769 -769 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)  

after netting      224 1,312  

  1) Restated (refer to "changes in financial statement presentation") 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for each company are netted. Deferred tax assets on loss carry 

forwards are netted against deferred tax liabilities. 
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Deferred tax assets as a rule comprise capitalized tax credit claims resulting from the expected 

utilization of loss carry forwards in subsequent years. The realization of these loss carry forwards is 

ensured to an adequate level of certainty. The amount of loss carry forwards not covered by deferred 

tax claims totals € 533 million (previous period: € - million). 

 

Of the total amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, € 127 million (previous period: 

€ 101 million) and € 118 million (prior period: € 380 million) are expected to be realized within twelve 

months. 

 

Current income taxes for current and prior periods are measured at the amount which is expected to 

be paid to or be refunded from the tax authorities taking into account the tax rates applicable in the 

countries of the respective Group companies being effective at balance sheet date. The Group 

companies are liable for taxation in several countries. When assessing the group-wide tax receivables 

and tax liabilities the interpretation of tax law may create uncertainty. There is a potential risk that 

tax authorities and Group companies interpret tax rules differently. Changes in assumptions of tax 

law interpretations which may as an example result from revised jurisprudence are recognized in the 

measurement of uncertain tax receivables and liabilities in the respective period. Uncertain tax 

receivables and liabilities are recognized if their probability is more likely than not. Uncertain tax 

positions are recognized and measured at expected value if their probability is not more likely than 

not. 

 

Tax loss carry forwards 

The deferred tax assets result from domestic and foreign activities. In the fiscal year under review, 

there were tax loss carry forwards of € 106 million (previous year: € 1 million) in Germany and € 177 

million (previous year: € - million) in Mexico, on which deferred taxes € 68 million (previous year € 0.4 

million) were recognized. 

 

 

NOTE 10 – NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

 

Non-controlling interests May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million 
   

 Non-controlling interests in profit or loss 30 18 

    
 

All Group companies with non-controlling interests were deconsolidated as of 1 December 2019 (refer 

to Note 3). The following table shows the equity interest as of 30 April 2019: 

 

  
30-04- 2019 

  
Equity interest 1) 

Group company Partner             % € million 

WIGA Transport Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG, 
GAZPROM Germania 

GmbH, Berlin 
49.97 154 W & G Transport Holding GmbH, 

OPAL Gastransport GmbH & Co. KG 

  1) Partners' equity interest in W & G Transport Holding GmbH and OPAL Gastransport GmbH & Co. KH: 50.02% voting rights and share of  
      earnings: 49.97% 
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NOTE 11 – SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The group's business is conducted in 6 segments: 

 

 E&P Northern Europe 

 E&P Russia 

 E&P Middle East/North Africa (MENA) 

 E&P Latin America (LATAM) 

 Midstream 

 Other 

 

The 4 E&P segments are further divided into 11 divisions, based on countries in the respective region. 

The E&P segments comprise exploration and appraisal, field development and production activities 

in the following divisions: 

 

 E&P Northern Europe: Germany, Norway and Denmark/the Netherlands/UK 

 E&P Russia: Russia 

 E&P Middle East/North Africa: Egypt, Libya, Algeria and United Arab Emirates (UAE) 

 E&P Latin America: Argentina, Mexico and Brazil 

 

The Midstream segment comprises the onshore and offshore gas transportation activities in Europe. 

 

The segment "Other" includes the Board of Management, corporate functions, inter alia Strategy, 

Global Exploration, Technology & Innovation, Digital, holding companies as well as trading activities 

managed by headquarter. 

 

The accounting policies for the operating segments are the same as the group's accounting policies 

described in Note 1. 

 

The consolidation column includes the elimination of inter-segment sales, mainly resulting from the 

gas trading activities between the headquarter and the business segment. Sales between the 

segments are made at prices that approximate market price. 

 

The internal performance measure "adjusted EBITDAX" (EBITDAX) is disclosed as a measure of profit 

and loss for each reporting segment. EBITDAX is not a recognized measure under IFRS. 
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 May - December 2019 

 million/mboed 

E&P 
Northern 
Europe 

E&P 
Russia 

E&P  
Middle 
East/ 
North 

Africa3) 

E&P 
Latin 

America Midstream Other 
Consoli-
dation Total 

         
External revenues 1,623 375 274 348 123 529 - 3,272 

Inter-segment revenues 36 - - 0 - 2 -38 - 
         

Segment revenues 1,659 375 274 348 123 531 -38 3,272 

Depreciation and 
amortization -763 -18 -84 -157 -27 -4 - -1,053 

Net impairment on assets -48 - -6 -244 - 0 - -298 

Exploration expenses -71 - -1 -77 - 1 - -148 

Income tax -156 -44 -51 7 -8 -34 - -286 

Net result 324) 195 81 -301 5145) -206 - 315 

EBITDAX 1,025 246 215 220 170 -97 - 1,779 

   thereof net income from  
   equity-accounted  
   investments -22 21 - - 77 6 - 82 

Capital expenditure 
(without acquisitions) 1) 860 28 204 70 0 2 - 1,164 
       -  
Production (mboed) 2) 6) 198 284 55 78 - - - 615 

   thereof gas 104 229 42 68 - - - 443 

   thereof oil 94 55 13 10 - - - 172 
         

  1)  Cash outflows for intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investment property 
  2)  On working interest basis, including proportional production from at equity valued companies 
  3)  All excluding Libyan onshore 
  4)  Including gains from deconsolidation (€ 42 million) 
  5)  Including gains from deconsolidation (€ 385 million) 
  6)  Production (mboed) is not an IFRS measure. 

 

 

 January - April 2019 

 million/mboed 

E&P 
Northern 
Europe 

E&P 
Russia 

E&P  
Middle 
East/ 
North 

Africa3) 

E&P 
Latin 

America Midstream Other 
Consoli-
dation Total 

         
External revenues 682 240 - 141 74 392 - 1,529 

Inter-segment revenues 1 - - - - 8 -9 - 
         

Segment revenues 683 240 - 141 74 400 -9 1,529 

Depreciation and 
amortization -192 -9 0 -48 -15 -31 - -295 

Net impairment on assets -972 -234 - - - - - -1,206 

Exploration expenses -27 - 0 -36 - -13 - -76 

Income tax 52 -39 -3 65 -13 46 - 108 

Net result -882 -55 23 71 97 -105 - -851 

EBITDAX 429 216 -1 91 105 -55 - 785 

   thereof net income from 
   equity-accounted 
   investments 1 16 0 - 44 - - 61 

Capital expenditure 
(without acquisitions) 1) 94 7 29 39 0 1 - 170 
         
Production (mboed) 2) 4) 127 300 2 69 - - - 499 

   thereof gas 61 243 - 63 - - - 367 

   thereof oil 66 58 2 6 - - - 132 
         

  1)  Cash outflows for intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investment property 
  2)  On working interest basis, including proportional production from at equity valued companies 
  3)  All excluding Libyan onshore 
  4)  Production (mboed) is not an IFRS measure. 
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External revenues are allocated to the following divisions: 

 

External revenues May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million   
 

 Norway 1,135 514 

 Germany 473 168 

 UK/Denmark/Netherlands 15 - 

Northern Europe 1,623 682 

Russia 375 240 

 Egypt 161 - 

 Libya  78 - 

 Algeria 35 - 

Middle East/North Africa 274 - 

 Argentina 299 141 

 Mexico 49 - 

Latin America 348 141 

Midstream 123 74 

Other 529 392 

Total 3,272 1,529 

 

EBITDAX 

EBITDAX derived from the profit/loss (-) before taxes and adjusted by the following item: 

 

a) Interest income and expenses and income from investments shown as financial income and 

expenses in the income statement but adjusted for interest effects regarding pension provisions 

and pension assets which are shown separately in the line "pension items". 

 

b) Income and expenses attributable to exploration but excluding depreciation, amortization, 

impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses, interest income and expenses, currency 

effects and pension items for exploration, since these are adjusted in separate line items. 

 

c) Depreciation, amortization and net impairment on assets as shown in the income statement. 

 

d) Acquisition, disposal and restructuring costs and further identified items as stated below. This 

represents all fees, costs and expenses, stamp duty, registration and other taxes incurred by the 

company in connection with an acquisition or a disposal and material items of an unusual or non-

recurring nature (e.g. resulting from restructuring activities). 

 

e) Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses (including hedging results). 

 

f) Gains over or losses on book value arising from the disposal of any fixed assets (other than sale 

of trading stock). 

 

g) Income from pension assets, interest expenses, service costs or other charges attributable to a 

post-employment benefit scheme (pension item). 
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EBITDAX May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million   
 

Income/loss (-) before taxes 601 -959 

 Interest and other financing costs 6 -9 

 Exploration expenses 146 75 

 Depreciation, amortization and net impairment on assets 1,350 1,502 

 Acquisition, disposal and restructuring costs and identified  

 items 1) -425 187 

 Realized and unrealized gains/losses from foreign currency 

 valuation and financial derivatives 103 8 

 Gains/losses attributable to the disposal of fixed assets 11 -22 

 Pension items -13 3 

EBITDAX 1,779 785 

  1) Includes the following identified items: 

 May - Dec. 2019: including restructuring costs € -33 million, acquisition cost € 5 million, integration cost € 30 million, gain from deconsolidation of 2 subsidiaries  

€ -42 million, the change of consolidation method from WIGA Group € -385 million 

 Jan. - Apr. 2019: including restructuring cost € 180 million, integration cost € 7 million 

 

 

NOTE 12 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

Intangible assets Exploration 

Other 

intangible 

assets Goodwill Total 

€ million 
 

 
  

      
Cost of acquisition and production     

As of 01-05-2019 225 1,288 1,204 2,717 

 Changes in scope of consolidation 1,372 2,482 1,772 5,626 

 Additions 128 57 - 185 

 Disposals -126 -48 -396 -570 

 Transfer 201 -146 0 55 

 Currency effects -31 -48 0 -79 

As of 31-12-2019 1,769 3,585 2,580 7,934 

Accumulated amortization     

01-05- 2019 85 543 132 760 

 Changes in scope of consolidation - - - 0 

 Amortization/depreciation 3 170 - 173 

 Impairment 39 4 212 255 

 Disposals -9 -11 -345 -365 

 Transfer 75 -58 - 17 

 Currency effects -1 12 1 12 

As of 31-12- 2019 192 660 0 852 

Net carrying amount as of 31-12- 2019 1,577 2,925 2,580 7,082 
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Intangible assets Exploration 

Other 

intangible 

assets Goodwill Total 

€ million 
 

 
  

      
Cost of acquisition and production     

As of 01-01- 2019 225 1,203 1,702 3,130 

 Changes in scope of consolidation - - - - 

 Additions - 1 - 1 

 Disposals - 0 -532 -532 

 Transfer - - - - 

 Currency effects - 84 34 118 

As of 30-04- 2019 225 1,288 1,204 2,717 

Accumulated amortization     

01-01- 2019 85 492 130 707 

 Changes in scope of consolidation - - - - 

 Amortization/depreciation - 16 - 16 

 Impairment - - 527 527 

 Disposals - 0 -527 -527 

 Transfer - - - - 

 Currency effects - 35 2 37 

As of 30-04- 2019 85 543 132 760 

Net carrying amount as of 30-04- 2019 140 745 1,072 1,957 

 

 

 

 

Property, plant and equipment and 

investment property 

Land and 

buildings 1) 

Gas and oil 

assets 

Other plant, 

machinery 

and 

equipment 

Fixtures and 

fittings  

and office 

equipment Total 

€ million    
  

Cost of acquisition and production      

As of 01-05-2019 160 11,793 1,548 86 13,587 

 Changes in scope of consolidation  -38 4,360 -1,098 10 3,234 

 Additions  50 1,512 2 7 1,571 

 Disposals  -13 -149 -447 -6 -615 

 Transfers  18 -112 19 5 -70 

 Currency effects  -2 -161 4 0 -159 

As of 31-12-2019 175 17,243 28 102 17,548 

Accumulated amortization      

01-05- 2019 56 6,703 448 69 7,276 

 Changes in scope of consolidation  -14 0 -376 -2 -392 

 Amortization/depreciation  10 854 38 6 908 

 Impairment  1 42 - - 43 

 Disposals  -10 -56 -93 -4 -163 

 Transfers  0 -51 0 0 -51 

 Currency effects  0 -5 0 0 -5 

As of 31-12- 2019 43 7,487 17 69 7,616 

Net carrying amount as of 31-12-2019 132 9,756 11 33 9,932 

    1) Land and buildings include investment property. 
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Land and 

buildings 1) 

Gas and oil 

assets 

Other plant, 

machinery 

and 

equipment 

Fixtures and 

fittings  

and office 

equipment Total 

€ million    
  

Cost of acquisition and production      

As of 01-01- 2019 149 11,285 1,526 84 13,044 

 Changes in scope of consolidation  - - - - 0 

 Additions  9 363 22 1 395 

 Disposals  - -59 - - -59 

 Transfers  - - - - - 

 Currency effects  2 204 - 1 207 

As of 30-04- 2019 160 11,793 1,548 86 13,587 

Accumulated amortization      

01-01-2019 53 6,122 433 67 6,675 

 Changes in scope of consolidation  - - - - - 

 Amortization/depreciation  3 291 15 2 311 

 Impairment  - 209 - - 209 

 Disposals  - - - - - 

 Transfers  - - - - - 

 Currency effects  - 81 - - 81 

As of 30-04- 2019 56 6,703 448 69 7,276 

Net carrying amount as of 30-04-2019 104 5,090 1,100 17 6,311 

    1) Land and buildings include investment property. 

 

Borrowing cost 

In connection with the acquisition and production of qualified assets, in the reporting period borrowing 

costs amounting to € 24 million (prior year: € 0 million) were capitalized as part of acquisition and 

production costs. In the reporting period, the financing cost rate applied in this context was between 

1.3% and 1.5% (previous year: 1.5%).  

 

Impairment testing 

Impairment tests of individual cash-generating units are performed when impairment triggers are 

identified. External triggering events include, for example, changes in oil and gas prices and in the 

estimated reserves. Changes in production processes or physical damage to assets constitute internal 

indicators of impairment. The goodwill test needs to be carried out annually and was performed in 

the fourth quarter 2019 on the basis of business units.  

 

Impairment is recognized when the book value of an asset or a cash-generating unit, including 

goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount corresponds to the fair value less 

cost of disposal (level 3 in fair value hierarchy). For producing licenses and licenses in development 

phase the recoverable amount is estimated based on discounted future after tax cash flows. For the 

reporting period impairment losses amount to € 298 million (thereof goodwill impairment € 212 million). 

The asset impairments relate to producing assets in Germany (€ 47 million) and an exploration license 

in Mexico (€ 39 million). Below is an overview of the key assumptions applied for the impairment test 

as of 31 December 2019. 
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Oil and gas prices 

Forecasted oil and gas prices are based on the current oil and gas price scenario of the Group taking 

into account management's estimates and available market data. The oil and gas price scenario 

includes an oil price of 62.00 USD/bbl and a gas price of 4.20 USD/mmbtu for the year 2020. 

 

Discount rate  

The discount rates applied are based on weighted average cost of capital taking into consideration 

the individual functional currency and specific country risks. The beta factor is based on publicly 

available market data about the identified peer group. For the impairment test in 2019, the applied 

discount rates range between 6.0% and 11.6%.  

 

For the goodwill impairment test of the business units to which a material part of the goodwill was 

allocated, Germany/Denmark and Norway, an interest rate of 6.0% or 6.9% was applied, respectively. 

 

Goodwill impairment  

The goodwill is allocated to the following groups of cash generating units: 

 

Goodwill 31-12- 2019 30-04- 2019 

€ million   

 Germany/Denmark 338 56 

 Argentina 120 120 

 Middle East 6 6 

 Netherlands 10 10 

 Norway 1,658 459 

 Achimgaz 237 237 

 Gazprom YRGM Trading 184 184 

 Egypt 27 - 

 Algeria - - 

 Mexico - - 

Total 2,580 1.072 

 

The goodwill resulting from the merger with Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG was allocated as 

follows: 

 

Goodwill   

€ million   

 Germany/Denmark  281 

 Norway  1,253 

 Egypt  27 

 Algeria  6 

 Mexico  204 

Total  1,772 

 

The goodwill related to the business units Algeria and Mexico was completely impaired in the 

reporting period. The goodwill in Norway was partly disposed (€ 51 million) due to the sale of 

infrastructure assets. 
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Sensitivities 

Oil and gas prices, production volumes and discount rates are considered to be the most critical input 

parameters or assumptions for the goodwill impairment test. In these items, sensitivity analysis was 

carried out. In accordance with IAS 36.134 f, the analysis was focused on the business units Norway 

and Germany/Denmark only. 

 

After determining the corresponding recoverable amounts of the business units by assessing 

reasonable deviations (-20% on prices, -20% on production and +0.5% on WACC) for the stated 3 critical 

input parameters, no indication was seen for the business unit Germany/Denmark that in any case the 

carrying amount would exceed the recoverable amount, and subsequently triggering a goodwill 

impairment. For Norway, this is also valid for sensitivity assessments on production volumes and the 

discount rate. Only in the case of a significant decrease in projected oil and gas prices, there may exist 

a possibility of an impairment risk for allocated goodwill. The recoverable amount of the business unit 

Norway exceeds its carrying amount by € 1.2 billion in the reporting period. The recoverable amount 

would correspond to the carrying amount of the business unit if the oil and gas price forecasts were 

approximately 18% lower. 

 

Cashflows for validation purposes are derived from life of field sheets, which reflect production 

volumes and cost elements for the remaining expected economic lifetime of an gas or oil field and 

end with the year of the field abandonment or with the contractual expiration of the production 

license. 

 

 

NOTE 13 –EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS 

 

Development of equity-accounted investments May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million 
  

 
Net carrying amount at the beginning 2,191 2,566 

 
Additions 1,195 - 

 
Disposals -675 - 

 Dividends -129 - 

 Proportional net income of the period 82 61 

 Proportional other comprehensive income 6 2 

 
Impairments - -470 

 
Currency effects 15 32 

Net carrying amount at the end 2,685 2,191 
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NOTE 14 – INVENTORIES 
 

Inventories 31-12- 2019 30-04-2019 

€ million   
 

 
Raw materials, consumables and supplies, merchandise 207 126 

 
Work in process and finished goods 20 17 

Total   227 143 

 

 

NOTE 15 – FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES 
 

Financial receivables 31-12- 2019 30-04- 2019 

    non-current current non-current current 

 million     

 
Loans to related parties 212 - 151 - 

 Other loans 852 - 754 - 

 Financial receivables from cashpooling - 16 - 16 

 Other - 165 - 715 

Total   1,064 181 905 731 

 

 

NOTE 16 – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

Trade and other receivables 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

    non-current current non-current current 

 million     

Trade accounts receivable     

 Trade accounts receivable from revenues - 629 - 500 

 Other trade accounts receivable - 89 - 51 

  - 718 - 551 

Other receivables     

 Receivables from pensions 0 - - - 

 Receivables from other taxes - 81 - 11 

 Prepaid expenses 2 55 2 47 

 Underlift receivable - 30 - 11 

 Miscellaneous other receivables and assets 133 343 48 183 

  135 509 50 252 

Total   135 1,227 50 803 
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NOTE 17 – EQUITY OF THE PARENT 

 

Subscribed capital and capital reserves 

As of 31 December 2019, the subscribed capital of Wintershall Dea GmbH amounts to € 189 million 

and is divided into 156,716,500 ordinary shares with a single voting right and a nominal value of € 1.00 

each and 32,721,027 preference shares with a nominal value of € 1.00 each. The shares in the Company 

are held by BASF Handels-und Exportgesellschaft mbH and L1E Funding GmbH. The original 

shareholder L1E Acquisitions GmbH was merged into L1E Funding GmbH. In the reporting period, 

Wintershall Dea GmbH increased its registered share capital from € 105 million by € 84 million to € 189 

million by issuance of 51,716,445 ordinary shares and 32,721,027 preference shares with a nominal 

amount of € 1.00 each. 

Changes in capital reserves of the company result from the contribution of Wintershall Dea 

Deutschland AG and the assumption of the loan from Letterone, the contribution of a BASF loan to 

capital reserves and addition and withdrawals from capital reserves. 

 

Retained earnings 

The Group’s retained earnings include the net income and losses of consolidated subsidiaries and 

equity-accounted investments, as adjusted for the purposes of consolidation.  

 

Other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive income comprises gains/losses from currency translation adjustments, 

gains/losses from changes in fair value of hedging instruments as well as actuarial gains and losses 

from defined benefit plans. 

 

 

NOTE 18 – PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS 

 

In addition to state pension plans, most employees are granted company pension benefits from either 

defined contribution or defined benefit plans. Benefits generally depend on the length of service, 

compensation or contributions, and take into consideration the legal framework of labor, tax and 

social security laws of the countries where the companies are located. To limit the risks of changes in 

financial market conditions as well as demographic developments, employees have, for a number of 

years now, been almost exclusively offered defined contribution plans for future years of service.  

 

Description of the defined benefit plans 

The typical plan structure in the individual countries is described in the following. Different 

arrangements may exist, in particular due to the assumption of plans as part of acquisitions; these do 

not, however, have any material impact on the description of plans in the individual countries. 

 

Wintershall Dea Group companies in Germany and Switzerland participate in the BASF Group’s pension 

plans. BASF Pensionskasse VVaG provides a basic level of benefits, a legally independent plan which 

is financed by employer and employee contributions, as well as the return on plan assets. Some of the 

benefits financed via BASF Pensionskasse VVaG are subject to adjustments that must be borne by its 

member companies to the extent that these cannot be borne by BASF Pensionskasse VVaG due to the 

regulations imposed by the German supervisory authority. In 2004, the basic benefit plan was closed 
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for newly hired employees at German Wintershall Dea companies and replaced by a defined 

contribution plan. Occupational pension commitments that exceed the basic level of benefits are 

financed via pension provisions at the German group companies. The benefits are largely based on 

modular plans. Furthermore, employees are given the option of participating in various deferred 

compensation schemes. The Group Pension Committee of BASF SE monitors the risks associated with 

all of the Group’s pension plans and issues guidelines regarding the governance and risk management 

of pension plans, particularly with regard to the financing of pension commitments and the portfolio 

structure of existing plan assets.  

 

Following the merger with Dea, BASF SE is no longer providing required plan information from BASF 

Pensionskasse regarding allocation of assets to WD Group for year-end closing. As a result, and in 

accordance with IAS 19.36, WD Group accounts for BASF Pensionskasse as multi-employer defined 

benefit plan with no access to asset allocation and hence as defined contribution plan within its 

consolidated financial statements for the first time on 31 December 2019. 

 

For Wintershall Dea Norge AS, there is a statutory obligation to provide occupational pension 

benefits. For employees whose remaining length of service until retirement on 1 January 2016 was 15 

years or less, a final salary commitment continues to apply after the closure of the plan. Employees 

whose remaining length of service as of this date was more than 15 years and employees who joined 

the company after this date are entitled to benefits under a defined contribution pension plan. Both 

pension plans are funded via Nordea Liv AS. 

 

With the merger, WD Group assumed WD Deutschland AG’s pension plans in Germany and Norway. 

Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG and its subsidiaries manage its company pension plans on its own. 

With regard to the German pension plan assets have been transferred to WillisTowers Watson 

Treuhand GmbH within the framework of Contractual Trust Arrangements (CTA) and to Willis Towers 

Watson Pensionsfonds AG for insolvency insurance of parts of the company pension plan. Willis 

Towers Watson Pensionsfonds AG falls under the scope of the Act on Supervision of Insurance 

Undertakings and Oversight by the Federal Financial Supervisory Agency (BaFin). Insofar as a 

regulatory deficit occurs in the pension fund, supplementary payment shall be requested from the 

employer. Independently of the aforementioned rules, the liability of the employer shall remain in 

place. The bodies of Willis Towers Watson Treuhand GmbH and Willis Towers Watson Pensionsfonds 

AG are responsible for ensuring that the funds under management are used in compliance with the 

contract and thus fulfil the requirements for recognition as plan assets. In Norway, participations in 

employee benefit pension plans, which are placed and administered in a Norwegian insurance 

company, were assumed in the course of the merger. 

 

Actuarial assumptions 

The amount of the provision for defined-benefit pension schemes was determined by actuarial 

methods on the basis of the following key assumptions. 

 

  
31-12-2019 30-04- 2019 

Key assumptions (%) Germany Norway Switzerland Germany Norway Switzerland 

 Discount rate 1.05 1.80 0.90 1.40 2.60 0.90 

  Pension growth 1.50 0.70 - 1.50 0.80 - 
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The assumptions used to determine the present value of the entitlements as of 30 April 2019 are used 

in the following fiscal year to determine the expenses for pension plans. 

 

The valuation of the defined benefit obligation is generally performed using the most recent actuarial 

mortality tables as of 1 December 2019. 

 

Actuarial mortality tables as of 31-12-2019  
 

 Germany  Heubeck Richttafeln 2018G 

 Norway  K2013 

 Switzerland  BVG 2015 generational tables 

 

Sensitivity of pension obligations 

An increase or decrease in the discount rate and pension growth would have the following impact on 

the defined benefit obligations: 

 

 Impact on defined benefit obligations 

 Change in actuarial assumptions 31-12- 2019 30-12-2019 
     
Discount rate   

 
Increase by 0.5 percentage points  -83 -40 

 
Reduction by 0.5 percentage points 94 44 

Pension growth   

 
Increase by 0.5 percentage points  66 28 

 
Reduction by 0.5 percentage points -60 -26 

 

An alternative valuation of the pension obligations was performed to determine how changes in the 

underlying assumptions influence the amount of the pension obligations. A linear extrapolation of 

these amounts based on alternative changes in the assumptions, as well as an addition of combined 

changes in the individual assumptions, is not possible. 

 

Explanation of the amounts in the statement of income and the statement of financial position 

 

Composition of expenses for pension benefits May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million    

 
Expenses for defined benefit plans  36 5 

 
Expenses for defined contribution plans  6 1 

Expenses for pension benefits (recognized in result from operating 

activities) 
42 6 

 
   

 
Net interest cost  10 2 

Expenses for pension benefits (recognized in the financial result) 10 2 

 

The interest for the net balance sheet amount at the beginning of the year is offset within the 

financial result. This corresponds to the difference between the interest cost on the present value of 

the entitlements and the standardized return on the pension assets. The expected contribution 

payments and benefits paid in the course of the fiscal year are taken into account when determining 

the interest. The net interest expense for the fiscal year is based on the actuarial interest rate and 

the present value of the entitlements at the beginning of the year.  
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Present value 

of defined 

benefit 

obligations 

Fair value of 

plan assets Total 

€ million 
   

As of 01-05-2019 523 179 344 

 
Current service cost 36 - 36 

 
Interest expense/(income) 10 5 5 

  
46 5 41 

Remeasurements 
   

 

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts already 

recognized in interest income - 14 -14 

 
Actuarial gains/losses     

     thereof effect of changes in financial assumptions 88 - 88 

     thereof effect of changes in demographic assumptions -1 - -1 

 
    thereof effect of experience adjustments 3 - 3 

  
90 14 76 

  
   

 
Effect of exchange rate differences -1 0 -1 

 
Contribution to the funded plans:    

 
    Employer 0 17 -17 

 
    Employee 1 -1 2 

 
Benefit payments -27 -19 -8 

 Effects from other events 0 0 0 

  
   

 
Changes in scope of consolidation 610 426 184 

 
Change in estimate1) -193 -151 -42 

As of 31-12-2019 1,049 470 579 

1) Change from defined benefit plan to multi-employer plan accounted for as defined contribution plan 

 
As of 01-01-2019 481 174 307 

 
Current service cost 5 - 5 

 
Interest expense/(income) 3 0 3 

  
8 0 8 

Remeasurements 
   

 

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts already 

recognized in interest income 0 5 -5 

 
Actuarial gains/losses     

     thereof effect of changes in financial assumptions 39 - 39 

 
    thereof effect of experience adjustments -1 - -1 

  
38 5 33 

     

 
Effect of exchange rate differences 1 0 1 

 
Contribution to the funded plans: 

   

 
    Employer 0 1 -1 

 
    Employee 1 1 0 

 
Benefit payments -7 -2 -5 

 Effects from other events 1 - 1 

As of 30-04-2019 523 179 344 
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The present value of the defined benefit obligations less plan assets measured at fair value results in 

the net defined benefit obligation arising from funded and unfunded plans and is recognized as 

provisions for pensions and similar obligations in the balance sheet. Of the present value of defined 

benefit obligations, € 935 million (30 April  2019: € 479 million) refer to benefit obligations in Germany 

and € 112 million (30 April 2019: € 42 million) to benefit obligations in Norway. 

 

The funding of the plans was as follows: 

 

  
31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

Pension plan asset coverage 

Present value of 

entitlements Pension assets 

Present value of 

entitlements Pension assets 

€ million   
  

 
Unfunded pension plans 339 0 248 - 

 
Funded pension plans 710 470 275 179 

Total   1,049 470 523 179 

 

Domestic company pensions are subject to an obligation to review for adjustment every three years 

pursuant to the Act on the Improvement of Company Pensions (Sec 16 of the German Company 

Pension Act (BetrAVG)). Additionally, some commitments grant annual adjustments of pensions, which 

may exceed the legally mandated adjustment obligation. 

 

As of 1 December 2019, the weighted average duration of obligations amounted to 18.0 years (30 April 

2019: 16.1 years). 

 

Explanation regarding plan assets  

The assumed pension assets for the Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG German pension plan are 

continuously monitored and managed from a risk and return perspective. The allocation of funds to 

different asset-classes is based on detailed analysis of the plan assets and pension obligations as 

well as their interactions. Comprehensive Asset-Liability- Management-Studies (ALM-Study) are being 

conducted on a regular basis. As target values, several key asset indicators are considered relative to 

the amount of pension obligations in various scenarios. Thereby, particularly sensitivities of the 

obligation and pension assets to changes in market interest rates are taken into account. By comparing 

different asset allocations, those portfolios are identified that achieve the best target value within a 

given risk budget. On the basis of these efficient portfolios, the strategic asset allocation is derived. In 

order to further increase diversification, the asset allocation war further refined by the addition of a 

new asset class in  2019. 

 

The focus of the strategic investment policy continues to be on European government and corporate 

bonds with strong creditworthiness (investment grade ratings). The portfolio also includes higher 

yielding asset classes such as emerging-market bonds. Compared to bonds, global equities have a 

lower portfolio weight. The investment in equities is intended to earn a risk premium in excess of bonds 

over the long term. 
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31-12-2019 

Composition of plan assets (fair value) 
Germany 

thereof 

active market 
Norway 

thereof 

active market 

€ million         

 
Equity instruments 142 100% 1 100% 

 
Interest-bearing instruments 278 100% 21 100% 

 
Assets held by insurance company 0 0% 19 100% 

 
Other 2 100% 5 100% 

Total 422 422 46 46 

 

Contributions into the CTA in 2020 will be processed in a magnitude that achieves a constant funding 

level. The amount to be contributed will depend amongst other things on plan-asset performance and 

interest rate developments. 

 

The plan assets from the BASF Pensionskasse had the following structure. The amounts shown in 

brackets denote the part of the asset class for which there is an active market. 

 

Composition of plan assets (%) 30-04-2019 

€ million  
 

Equities 25% (100) 

Debt instruments 50% (85) 

    thereof vis-à-vis sovereign debtors 11% (91) 

    thereof vis-à-vis other debtors 39% (84) 

Real estate 6% (2) 

Alternative investments 15% (-) 

Cash and money market-related investments 4% (100) 

Total 100% (70) 

 

The debt instruments asset class comprised promissory notes and covered bonds (Pfandbriefe), as 

well as corporate and government bonds. Government bonds primarily relate to bonds from countries 

with the highest credit ratings, such as the United States, the United Kingdom, Germany and 

Switzerland. Corporate bonds mainly comprise bonds from creditworthy debtors, although a 

conscious decision has been made to also hold high-yield bonds to a limited extent. Alternative 

investments largely comprise investments in private equity, absolute return funds and secured 

corporate loans.  

 

Defined contribution plans and government pensions 

For defined contribution plans, expenses of € 6 million (prior period: € 1 million) were incurred in the 

reporting period.  
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Since Wintershall Dea GmbH has no required information from the BASF Group, it accounts for the 

BASF Pensionskasse as multi-employer defined benefit plan with no access to asset allocation and 

hence as defined contribution. As a consequence the existing pension provisions have mainly been 

realized in the reporting period with impact on profit or loss. The remaining provision of € 40 million 

covers the obligation for future pension adjustment. Other future supplementary payment obligations 

may occur through an unexpected need for funding. Since these obligations are neither predictable 

nor probable they are not included in the pension provisions of the company. 

 

The company contribution to the multi-employer plan is a certain percentage of the employee 

contribution. This percentage is the same for all participating employers, including those outside the 

BASF Group. It takes into account the differences between the actuarial estimates and the actual 

values for the factors used to determine liabilities and contributions. For the next annual reporting 

period the company expect contributions in the amount of € 4 million to the plan. 

 

 

NOTE 19 – DECOMMISSIONING AND OTHER PROVISIONS 

 
 31-12-2019 30-04- 2019 

Decommissioning and other provisions non-current current non-current current 

€ million     

Decommissioning provisions 2,815 58 1,633 27 

Other provisions     

 
Employee obligations  169 167 144 73 

 
Litigation risks, damage claims 0 0 0 1 

 
Other 61 150 55 29 

 230 317 199 103 

Total   3,045 375 1,832 130 

 

Decommissioning obligations pertain mainly to anticipated costs for filling wells and removing 

production equipment after production activities have come to an end. In order to determine the 

present value, discount rates of between 0.0% and 6.56% were applied in the reporting period (previous 

year: 0.4% to 8.6%). The expected settlement of the provisions depends on the ratio of produced 

reserves to expected reserves and varies within a range of less than one year up to approximately 30 

years. 

 

Provisions for employee obligations include, in particular, obligations to pay long-service bonuses and 

anniversary bonuses, variable remuneration including the associated social security contributions and 

provisions due to restructuring measures/for early retirement and phased-in early retirement models.  
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The following table shows the development of decommissioning and other provisions by category. 

Other changes mainly include changes in value due to translation  

 

Development of decommissioning 

and other provisions 

As of  

01-05- 

2019 Additions Utilization Reversal 

Change in 

scope of 

conso-

lidation 

Other 

changes  

As of  

31-12- 

2019 

€ million 
    

 
 

  

Decommissioning provisions 1,660 541 -22 -73 757 10 2,873 

Other Provisions        

 
Employee obligations  217 63 -45 -68 168 1 336 

 
Litigation risks, damage claims 1 0 - -1 0 0 0 

 
Other 84 9 -106 -22 246 0 211 

  302 72 -151 -91 414 1 547 

Total  1,962 613 -173 -164 1,171 11 3,420 

 

 

NOTE 20 – FINANCIAL DEBT 

 
 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

Financial debt non-current current non-current current 

€ million     

 
Bonds 4,000 12 - - 

 
less transaction cost -16 - - - 

  
3,984 12 - - 

      

 
Debt to banks 1,879 2 1,252 1,511 

 

less/plus transaction cost and 

embedded derivatives 8 - - -16 

  
1,887 2 1,252 1,495 

      

 
Financial liabilities to related parties 0 496 200 106 

 
Lease liabilities 157 66 74 29 

Total   6,028 576 1,526 1,630 

 

Bonds 

On 25 September 2019, Wintershall Dea Finance B.V. (fully owned subsidiary of Wintershall Dea 

GmbH) issued bonds in the amount of € 4,000 million. The bonds transaction comprised of four 

tranches.  

 

Wintershall Dea Finance B.V. on-lent the net proceeds to Wintershall Dea GmbH and Wintershall Dea 

Norge AS which, in turn, used it to repay Facility A under the Syndicated Credit Facilities Agreement, 

to finance transaction costs incurred in connection with the take-out financing and for general 

corporate purposes.   

  

The arrangement fee has been capitalised as a reduction of the loan amount and is being amortized 

over the expected life applying the effective interest method.  
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Bonds   

% Maturity Currency 

Nominal 

value 

Fair Value 

31-12-2019 

Carrying 

amount     

31-12-2019 

€ million 
 

 
   

  

 
Bond 2019/2023 0.452 2023 EUR 1,000 1,003 996 

 
Bond 2019/2025 0.840 2025 EUR 1,000 1,013 996 

 
Bond 2019/2028 1.332 2028 EUR 1,000 1,020 996 

 
Bond 2019/2031 1.823 2031 EUR 1,000 1,046 996 

Total      4,000 4,081 3,984 

 

The fair value was determined using quoted prices in an active market. The Group's repayment 

obligation remains unchanged at € 4,000 million. 

 

Debt to banks 

Following the merger with Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG, the previous financing (BASF group 

financing) was replaced by an external financing arrangement via a consortium of banks (Syndicated 

Credit Facilities Agreement). The first tranche was drawn on 30 April 2019 and the second tranche was 

drawn on 2 May 2019. As of 31 December 2019, a nominal amount of € 1,879 million was utilized 

(Facility B and C). Facility A with a nominal amount of € 2,286 million and USD 1,575 million was fully 

repaid in September 2019.  

  

For the remaining Facilities B and C of the Syndicated Credit Facilities Agreement, margins over the 

applicable Euribor and Libor rate apply.  

 

An arrangement fee of € 16 million has been capitalized as a reduction of the loan amount in April 

2019. In addition, the financing facility comprises embedded derivatives which are required to be 

separated. The positive fair value of the embedded derivatives of € 18 million was initially recognized 

as an increase in the loan amount. Both amounts are being amortized over the term of the loans with 

corresponding impact on the financial result. Refer to Note 25 – Financial Instruments for more 

information. 

 

Breakdown of debt to banks 

(incl. accrued interest) Term 

Interest 

rate Currency 

Nominal 

value  

(contract 

currency) 

31-12-

2019 

(€ 

million) 

30-04-

2019 

(€ 

million) 
        

 
Facility A fully repaid 0.3% EUR - - 415 

 
 fully repaid 3.02% USD - - 1,054 

 
Facility B 04/2022 0.6% EUR 584 586 106 

 
 04/2022 2.46 - 3.32% USD 400 358 270 

 
Facility C 04/2024 0.75% EUR 584 587 106 

 
 04/2024 2.61 - 3.47% USD 400 358 270 

 Banking facility deconsolidated1) 0.9% EUR 1,650 - 502 

 
Overnight draft facility Argentina - 46.5 - 95% ARG - - 24 

Total     1,889 2,747 

  1)  Deconsolidated as part of the disposal of the WIGA Group. 
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Credit facility  

A revolving credit facility in the total amount of € 900 million and a tenor of 5-years with additional 

extension options for up to 2 years was agreed with the bank consortium which can be utilised if 

necessary. The facility is currently undrawn. 

 

Reconciliation according to IAS 7 

 

 

30-04- 

2019 

Cash flows 

from 

repayments/ 

proceeds 

Change in 

scope of 

consoli-

dation 

Foreign 

exchange 

effects 

Changes 

in 

accrued 

interest 

Other 

changes 

31-12-

2019 

€ million 
       

 
Bonds - 3,986 - - 12 -2 3,996 

 Debt to banks 2,747 -2,264 1,394 -11 8 15 1,889 

 

Financial liabilities to related 

parties 306 -570 -163 -1 -1 925 496 

 
Lease liabilities 103 -41 68 -1 - 94 223 

Total 3,156 1,111 1,299 -13 19 1,032 6,604 

 

The reconciliation breaks down the changes in financial liabilities into cash-effective and non-cash-

effective changes. The cash flows from repayments/proceeds presented above correspond to the 

figures in cash flows from financing activities.  

 

 

NOTE 21 – TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

 
  31-12-2019 30-04- 2019 

Trade payables and other liabilities non-current current non-current current 

€ million       

Trade accounts payable - 451 - 346 

 
Liabilities from other taxes 3 72 0 56 

 
Prepayments - contract liabilities 12 149 11 62 

 
Deferred income - 1 1 6 

 
Liabilities related to social security - 2 - 3 

 
Liabilities from acquisitions/divestures - 6 - - 

 
Other miscellaneous liabilities 20 415 8 3,6311) 

Other liabilities 35 645 20 3,758 

Total   35 1,096 20 4,104 

  1)  Including loans/cash pooling liabilities 
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NOTE 22 – LEASES 

 

The lease agreements of the Group are essentially related to transport and production vessels, office 

buildings, drilling rigs and other assets used in operations. The capitalized right-of-use-assets are 

allocated to the following asset classes: 

 

Right-of-use-assets 

Additions 

May-Dec. 2019 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

€ million     

 Exploration 21 19 - 

 
Land and buildings 60 63 9 

 
Gas and oil assets 78 129 91 

 
Other technical equipment and machinery 0 0 - 

 
Other equipment, operating and office equipment 1 1 1 

Total   160 212 101 

 

The following amounts have been recognized in the income statement: 

 

Lease expense May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million   
 

 
Depreciation right of use assets 37 14 

 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 4 1 

 
Expense relating to short-term leases 3 1 

 

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (not including 

short-term leases) 0 0 

 

Expense from variable lease payments (not included in lease 

liability) 1 0 

Total   45 16 

 

The depreciation of the right-of-use-assets is allocated to the following asset classes for the 

reporting periods: 

 

Depreciation right-of-use-assets May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million    

 Exploration 2 - 

 
Land and buildings 5 1 

 
Gas and oil assets 30 13 

 
Other technical equipment and machinery 0 - 

 
Other equipment, operating and office equipment 0 0 

Total   37 14 

 

Some of the lease contracts contain price-adjustment clauses as well as extension and termination 

options. Such options are taken into account in the determination of the lease term only if extension 

or non-termination options can be assumed with reasonable certainty.  

 

  



  
 
 

62 

 

The cash flow statement comprises cash outflows for leases amounting to € 49 million. In addition to 

the cash payments for the interest and principal portions of recognized lease liabilities, amounts 

reported in the cash flow statement also include payments for unrecognized short-term leases and 

for leases of low-value assets. Cash payments for the principal portion are within cash flow from 

financing activities and those for the interest portion are reported within the cash flow from operating 

activities. 

 

 

NOTE 23 – OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 

 

Contingent liabilities 

WD Group is subject to statutory liability with regard to participations in various joint ownerships. If the 

amount of the obligation is unlimited, the amount of the principal liability as of the balance sheet date 

is decisive. In cases of joint and several liability, the full amount must be stated; in the case of pro rata 

liability, the corresponding share is to be stated. Other contingent liabilities relate to legal disputes. 

 

Obligations from purchase contracts 

As of 31 December 2019, the Group has commitments from firm contracts for property, plant and 

equipment as well as from field development projects in the amount of € 489 million. 

 

Furthermore, WD Group is committed to a certain number of exploration wells and seismic in the 

context of exploration licenses. The estimated expenditures amount to € 188 million. 

 

The obligations from purchase contracts resulted primarily from long-term purchase commitments 

for natural gas. The firm purchase commitment amounted to € 3,559 million as of 31 December 2019 

(30 April 2019: € 4,763 million). 

 

Obligations arising from purchase contracts 31-12-2019 30-04- 2019 

€ million    

 2019 - 660 

 
2020 783 1,122 

 
2021 928 1,097 

 2022 1,022 1,049 

 
2023 821 830 

 
2024  1 5 

 
2025 and maturities extending beyond this 4 - 

Total    3,559 4,763 
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NOTE 24 – RISKS AND LEGAL DISPUTES AND PROCEEDINGS  

 

In 2009, the German grid agency (Bundesnetzagentur, BNetzA) decided to largely exempt the OPAL 

capacities from regulation for 22 years from the time of commissioning, with entry on German 

territory and exit in the Czech Republic. The European Commission (EU-COM) made this exemption 

subject to usage restrictions for companies with a dominant position on the Czech gas market. In 

order to enable full booking of the OPAL capacities, the companies OPAL Gastransport GmbH & 

Co. KG (OGT), PAO GAZPROM, OOO Gazprom Export and the BNetzA concluded a settlement 

agreement on 11 May 2016, which EU-COM approved on 28 October 2016 subject to conditions. The 

conditions imposed by EU-COM are implemented in the settlement agreement newly signed by the 

contracting parties on 28 November 2016. Due to pending appeals (main proceedings and summary 

proceedings), the settlement agreement concluded in 2016 could initially only be implemented in 

January 2017. The state of Poland and the partly state-owned Polish company Polskie Górnictwo 

Naftowe i Gazownictwo SA, Warsaw, Poland (PGNiG SA), its German trading subsidiary PGNiG 

Supply & Trading GmbH (PGNiG S&T) and the Urkainian Naftogaz (only lawsuit) have filed suit and 

urgent applications against EU-COM and BNetzA. Both, the General Court of the European Union 

(EuG) and the Düsseldorf Higher Regional Court (OLG) issued interim injunctions at the end of 2016, 

which as a result suspended further implementation of the settlement agreement until a decision 

is made in the summary proceedings. On 21 July 2017, the CFI reversed the interim injunctions issued 

at the end of 2016 and dismissed the urgent applications. Subsequently, both the OLG Düsseldorf 

and the BNetzA suspended their decisions. Since August 2017, the partially regulated transit 

capacities have been marketed. On 11 October 2017, the OLG Düsseldorf dismissed the urgent 

applications of PGNiG. In December 2017 and March 2018 respectively, the CFI dismissed the actions 

for annulment brought by PGNiG S&T, Naftogaz and PGNiG SA against EU-COM's approval of the 

OPAL settlement agreement as inadmissible. 

 

By decision of the EuG of 10 September 2019, the approval of EU-COM of 28 October 2016 to the 

public law settlement agreement was declared null and void. In accordance with the BNetzA's 

decision of 13 September 2019, which follows the decision of the EuG, OGT is no longer permitted 

to market the interconnection capacities offered under the terms of the settlement agreement of 

28 October 2016, or to carry out any transports based on such capacities already booked. The 

Federal Republic of Germany, as a party to the proceedings, filed an appeal against the decision 

of the European Court of Justice (ECJ) on 20 November 2019. 

 

On 9 January 2019, several private E&P companies including Deutsche Erdoel México S. de R.L. de 

C.V. (DEM) and Sierra O&G Exploracíon y Produccíon S. de R.L. de C.V. (Sierra) were summoned as 

interested third parties in a constitutional challenge (Amparo) filed by indigenous groups in relation 

to certain offshore blocks which were awarded as part of CNH bid rounds 1.1, 2.1 and 3.1.  

 

The law suit is challenging among others, the constitutionality of the Hydrocarbons Law., the CNH 

bid rounds and, consequently, the PSCs which have been awarded. The Amparo has been filed 

against certain governmental authorities (Office of the President, SENER, CNH etc.). It specifically 

mentioned, inter alia, blocks 30 (round 3.1 DEM) and 2 (round 1.1, Sierra).  
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The main argument of the petitioners is that, according to indigenous laws, customs and traditions, 

they consider themselves as owners of the offshore territory affected by the public bid procedures 

and related awards. The petitioners claim that the awards transgressed the indigenous right to 

preserve their territories, the use of the natural resources and the respect for their property and 

possessions. 

 

Amparo proceedings usually take 2 to 3 years. The Amparo court's decision is subject to an appeal 

before a Federal Circuit Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals' decision is final and binding. 

 

In addition, Wintershall Dea GmbH and its participating interests are regularly involved as 

defendants or other parties in judicial and arbitration proceedings, as well as official proceedings. 

On the basis of the knowledge available at present, these proceedings have no significant impact 

on Wintershall Dea's economic situation. 

 

Provisions for legal risks and trial costs are included in other provisions (refer to Note 19) and 

amount to € 0 million (previous year: € 1 million). Further provisions for legal risks were not to be 

considered. 

 

 

NOTE 25 – REPORTING ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Financial risks 

Operating in an international environment, WD Group is exposed to credit, liquidity, interest rate 

and market risks (price and currency risks) within the ordinary course of its business. The subsidiaries 

are subject to a strict risk management regime. The scope of action, responsibilities and controls is 

regulated in binding, internal corporate instructions. Financial derivatives are used exclusively to 

hedge the risk related to underlying transactions, not for speculative purposes. 

 

Foreign currency risks 

Changes in exchange rates could lead to losses in the value of financial instruments and adverse 

changes in future cash flows. Foreign currency risks from financial instruments result from the 

translation at the closing rate of financial receivables, loans, cash and financial liabilities into the 

functional currency of the respective group company. The Group monitors and manages foreign 

currency exposure on a daily basis aiming to eliminate income statement effects of currency 

fluctuations. Currency risks are monitored both on group and entity levels and the Group’s net 

foreign currency exposure (after natural hedges) is actively hedged where feasible with linear 

contracts. 

 

The sensitivity analysis is conducted by simulating a 10% appreciation, 10% depreciation 

respectively, of the functional currency against the other currencies. The effect on WD Group’s 

result before taxes would have been € -84 million, € 84 million respectively, as of 31 December 2019, 

as against € -118 million, € 118 million respectively, as of 30 April 2019. The currency exposure as of 

31 December 2019 came to € 811 million as against € 1.299 million as of 30 April 2019. 
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31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

Exposure and sensitivity by currency Exposure 
Sensitivity 

(+10%) 

Sensitivity 

(-10%) 
Exposure 

Sensitivity 

(+10%) 

Sensitivity 

(-10%) 

€ million         

 RUB 411 -37 37 485 -44 44 

 ARS 44 -4 4 -22 2 -2 

 USD 753 -69 69 460 -42 42 

 EUR 1,289 -117 117 1,561 -142 142 

 GBP -44 3 -3 -84 8 -8 

 NOK -1,647 141 -141 -1,101 100 -100 

 MXN 5 -1 1 - - - 

Total 811 -84 84 1,299 -118 118 

 

In order to hedge against currency risks, linear products with symmetrical sensitivity were used in 

particular.  

 

Interest rate risks 

Interest rate risks arise due to potential changes in prevailing market interest rates, which can lead 

to changes in the fair value of fixed-rate instruments and in interest payment fluctuations for 

variable-rate instruments. These risks are relevant to WD Group’s financing activities but are not 

of material significance for WD Group’s operating activities. 

 

The variable interest rate risk position amounted to € -1,874 million as of 31 December 2019               

(€ -2,821 million as of 30 April 2019). An increase in all relevant interest rates by one percentage 

point would have lowered the result before taxes by € -12 million as of 31 December 2019 (€ -5 

million as of 30 April 2019). 

 

     

 
31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

Exposure and interest rate sensitivity Exposure Sensitivity Exposure Sensitivity 

€ million       

Loans  -1,874 -12 -2,821 -5 

Total -1,874 -12 -2,821 -5 

 

Commodity price risks 

The Groups revenue, cash flows and profitability depend substantially on prevailing international 

and local commodity prices. Any resulting adverse changes in market prices could have a negative 

impact on Wintershall Dea’s earnings and equity. 

Commodity price risks arise in the ordinary course of business for contracted gas purchase and supply 

agreements. Wintershall Dea counters the specific price risks associated with these trading 

transactions, which result from the valuation of the gas agreements concluded in the event of an 

adverse change in market prices, by imposing and constantly monitoring limits on the type and scope 

of the transactions concluded. Commodity price risks related to production are assessed regularly 

and mitigated when necessary in accordance with the Group’s hedging policy.  
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All hedging transactions exclusively serve the purpose of reducing risks from planned transactions 

exposed to commodity prices and associated with a high degree of certainty. The Group continues 

hedging oil and gas price risks by exception when required to protect its investment grade rating. 

This serves to ensure sufficient debt capacity and thus to provide the management with flexibility 

to adapt its strategy in situations of critically low commodity prices. Amounts to be hedged depend 

on the Group’s financial situation, its commodity price exposures, and commodity market 

conditions. The maximum hedge volume is set to 75%, 50%, and 25% of efficiently hedgeable 

exposure for a one, two, and three-year horizon, respectively. 

 

Existing hedges as of 31 December 2019, include physical gas forward sales to stabilize parts of 

gas revenues until 2023, and Dated Brent Crude Oil swaps to stabilize parts of the Group’s oil sales 

until 2022. For the latter, the German oil production currently serves as a hedge item for achieving 

the hedging target. The contracted price is defined via a price formula. Regression analysis shows 

a high correlation between Dated Brent oil prices and contracted prices and provides the basis for 

the determination of the optimal hedge ratio. 

 

Wintershall Dea carries out value-at-risk analyses for the existing commodity derivatives. Using the 

value-at-risk analysis, we continually quantify market risk and forecast the maximum possible loss 

within a given confidence interval over a defined period. The value-at-risk calculation is based on a 

confidence interval of 95% and a holding period of one day. Wintershall Dea uses the exponentially 

weighted variance-covariance approach. Wintershall Dea uses value-at-risk in conjunction with other 

risk management tools. Besides value at risk, the Group sets volume-based limits, as well as exposure 

and stop-loss limits.  

 

€ thousand Exposure Value-at-risk 

   
Natural gas -357 145 

 

The exposure corresponds to the net amount of all long and short positions in the commodity 

category in question. Since Brent dated oil swaps are used for hedging purposes only and are highly 

effective as a hedging instrument, considered together with the respective designated quantities of 

the German oil production, they constitute no exposure and value-at-risk. 

 

Default or credit risks 

Default or credit risks arise when contractual partners do not fulfil their obligations. The Group is 

exposed to credit risks from its operating activities (primarily trade accounts receivable) and from 

its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, favorable derivative 

financial instruments (positive fair value) and other financial receivables. Credit risk is managed on 

a group basis. To manage credit risk, the WD Group has group-wide procedures in place covering 

the application for credit approvals, granting and renewal of counterparty limits, proactive 

monitoring of exposures against these limits and requirements triggering secured payment terms. 

As part of these processes, the credit exposures with all counterparties are regularly monitored 

and assessed on a timely basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated 

parties with an investment grade rating are accepted. 
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If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent 

rating, risk management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its 

financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal 

or external ratings in accordance with set limits. There are no significant concentrations of credit 

risk, whether through exposure to individual customers or regions. Country specific payment risks 

are within limits stipulated by the management and closely monitored.  

 

A default event occurs if management has reasons to believe that a customer will not repay his 

liability towards WD Group, mainly due to financial difficulty of the customer. A delay of payments 

in the cause of regular business practices does not alone indicate a customer default.  An 

assessment of the overall situation is required on a case-by-case basis. 

 

The maximum risk of default corresponds to the carrying amounts (less loss allowance) of the 

financial assets. For some trade accounts receivable the Group obtains security in the form of 

guarantees, deeds of undertaking or letters of credit which can be called upon if the counterparty 

is in default under the terms of agreement. 

 

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery of contractual 

cash flows. The loss from financial assets that are written off is not material for both, the reporting 

period and the previous year. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

In order to determine the impairment losses of financial assets, WD Group is using the general 

three-stage approach or the simplified approach according to IFRS 9, as applicable. For all financial 

assets, for which the simplified approach does not apply, it is assessed, at each reporting date, 

whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.  

 

Trade accounts receivables, other receivables and financial receivables and deposits with banks 

are subject to the expected credit loss model. 

 

For all trade accounts receivables, WD Group applies the simplified approach according to IFRS 9. 

Accordingly, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit 

losses. For trade accounts receivables the contractual payment term is usually 30 days. Deviating 

from this general rule, terms of up to 1 year is considered for the calculation of expected credit 

losses due to different regional payment practice. 

 

The loss allowance for other receivables, financial receivables and deposits with banks is measured 

at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit loss. If the term of the financial instrument is 

shorter than 12 months, the lifetime expected credit loss is applied.  
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The loss allowance was determined as follows: 

 

Valuation allowances for receivables 

(financial instruments) 

As of  

01-05- 

2019 Addition Reversal 

Reclassi-

fication 

between 

stages 

Translation 

effect 

As of 

31-12- 

2019 

€ million         
       

  
Trade receivables third party 19 23 -29 0 0 13 

of which Stage 2 3 22 -28 6 0 3 

 
Stage 3 16 1 -1 -6 0 10 

        

Financial receivables 63 1 -1 - - 63 

of which Stage 1 2 - -1 - - 1 

 Stage 2 - - - - - - 

 Stage 3 61 1 - - - 62 

        

Other receivables - 0 0 - - 0 

of which Stage 1 - - - - - - 

 
Stage 2 - 0 0 - - 0 

 
Stage 3 - - - - - - 

        

Total    82 24 -30 0 0 76 

 

 

Valuation allowances for receivables 

(financial instruments) 

As of  

01-01-  

2019 Addition Reversal 

Reclassi-

fication 

between 

stages 

Translation 

effect 

As of 

30-04- 

2019 

€ million         
       

  
Trade receivables third party 14 13 -8 - 0 19 

of which Stage 2 4 3 -4 - 0 3 

 
Stage 3 10 10 -4 - 0 16 

         

Financial receivables 63 0 - - - 63 

of which Stage 1 2 0 - - - 2 

 
Stage 2 0 - - - - 0 

 
Stage 3 61 - - - - 61 

       
  

Total    77 13 -8 - 0 82 

 

The identified impairment loss regarding deposits with banks was immaterial and therefore not 

recognized. 

 

Changes recognized in income include valuation allowances. Changes not affecting income result 

from changes in the scope of consolidation, translation-related changes in value and the 

derecognition of impaired receivables. 
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In the current economic environment, there are no signs of any significant changes in the credit quality 

of receivables. In the reporting period, valuation allowances of € 23 million were recognized on trade 

receivables and valuation allowances of € 29 million were reversed. In the previous year, specific 

valuation allowances of € 13 million were recognized on trade receivables and specific valuation 

allowances of € 8 million were reversed. 

 

Liquidity risks 

Our liquidity risk management ensures that the required liquidity to meet financial obligations is 

available at all times and that the liquidity position of the WD Group is optimized. Centralized 

financial planning for the WD Group is the basis of the liquidity risk management. Financial planning 

for the respective currencies is performed for the following twelve months on a monthly basis and 

for the following two months on a daily basis. 

 

The Group monitors its liquidity risk by reviewing the cash flow requirements on a regular basis 

taking into consideration our funding sources, existing bank facilities and cash flow generation 

from our producing asset base. Specifically, it is ensured that there is sufficient liquidity to meet 

operational funding requirements and debt servicing.  

 

Maturity analysis 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on 

contractual undiscounted cash flows. Derivatives are included in the maturity analysis, provided 

they have negative fair values and therefore represent a liability. Commodity derivatives that are 

settled in cash are shown based on their net cash flows. Commodity derivatives that are generally 

based on future physical delivery and therefore do not result in an outflow of cash are not 

included. Foreign currency derivatives are shown based on their gross cash outflows. Derivatives 

with positive fair values are assets and are therefore not taken into account.  Other financial 

liabilities include trade and other liabilities within the scope of IFRS 7. They are essentially non-

interest-bearing and due within one year. As a result, their carrying amount corresponds to the sum 

of future cash flows. 

 

31-12-2019 ≤1 year 1 – 5 years  >5 years Total 

€ million 
   

  

 
Bonds 12 1,000 3,000 4,012 

 
Debt to banks 2 1,879 - 1,881 

 
Financial liabilities to related parties 496 - - 496 

 
Lease liabilities 69 122 41 232 

 Commodity derivative liabilities 9 - - 9 

 Foreign currency derivatives liabilities1) 987 - 1,046 2,033 

 
Trade and other payables in the scope of IFRS 7 818 - - 818 

Total  2,393 3,001 4,087 9,481 

  1)   The shown cash outflows are offset by cash inflows of a comparable amount.  

 

30-04-2019 ≤1 year 1 – 5 years  >5 years Total 

€ million 
    

 
Debt to banks 1,510 1,252 - 2,762 

 
Other financial liabilities/other liabilities 3,622 74 - 3,696 

Total   5,132 1,326 - 6,458 
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Classes and categories of financial instruments 

For financial receivables, trade and other receivable and cash and cash equivalents the carrying 

amount approximates the fair value. The balance sheet item "other financial assets" mainly includes 

affiliated companies and equity investment which are not fully consolidated or recognized as equity-

accounted investments for materiality reasons. Other investments shown under this position are not 

material and are therefore also recognized at cost. For financial debt, other than bonds, trade and 

other payables, and other liabilities the carrying amount approximates the fair value.  

 

Financial assets and liabilities have been assigned to the following valuation categories according 

to IFRS 9: 

 

 Carrying amount 

 
Amortised 

costs 
FVPL 1) 

Fair value  

(in hedge 

relationship) 

Beyond the 

scope of  

IFRS 9 / IFRS 7 

Total  

31-12-2019 

€ million        

Financial receivables 1,245 - - - 1,245 

Trade and other receivables 1,064 23 - 275 1,362 

Derivative financial assets - 99 30 - 129 

Cash and cash equivalents 814 - - - 814 

Bonds 3,996 - - - 3,996 

Debt to banks 1,889 - - - 1,889 

Financial liabilities to related parties 496 - - - 496 

Lease liabilities 223 - - - 223 

Trade and other payables/liabilities 838 - - 293 1,131 

Derivative financial liabilities - 59 14 - 73 

      
1)  Fair value through profit and loss      

 

Fair value hierarchy 

Total 

31-12-2019 Level 1 1) Level 2 2) Level 3 3) 

€ million     

Other receivables 23 - - 23 

Derivative financial assets 129 - 129 - 

 thereof commodity derivatives 72 - 72 - 

 thereof currency derivatives 26 - 26 - 

 thereof embedded derivatives 31 - 31 - 

     

Derivative financial liabilities 73 - 73 - 

 thereof commodity derivatives 52 - 52 - 

 thereof currency derivatives 21 - 21 - 

     
1) The fair value was determined on the basis of listed (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities on active markets.  
2) The fair value was determined based on parameters for which directly or indirectly quoted prices on active markets were available. 
3) The fair value was determined based on parameters for which there was no observable market data 
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 Carrying amount 

 
Amortised 

costs 
FVPL 1) 

Fair value  

(in hedge 

relationship) 

Beyond the 

scope of  

IFRS 9 / IFRS 7 

Total  

Apr. 30, 2019 

€ million        

Financial receivables 1,636 - - - 1,636 

Trade and other receivables 791 - - 62 853 

Derivative financial assets - 17 - - 17 

Cash and cash equivalents 889 - - - 889 

Debt to banks 2,747 - - - 2,747 

Financial liabilities to related parties 306 - - - 306 

Lease liabilities 103 - - - 103 

Trade and other payables/liabilities 4,101 - - 23 4,124 

Derivative financial liabilities - 35 - - 35 

      
1)  Fair value through profit and loss      

 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

Total 

30-04-2019 Level 1 1) Level 2 2) Level 3 3) 

€ million     

Derivative financial assets 17 - 17 - 

 thereof commodity derivatives 12 - 12 - 

 thereof currency derivatives 5 - 5 - 

     

Derivative financial liabilities 35 - 35 - 

 thereof commodity derivatives 34 - 34 - 

 thereof currency derivatives 1 - 1 - 

     
1) The fair value was determined on the basis of listed (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities on active markets.  
2) The fair value was determined based on parameters for which directly or indirectly quoted prices on active markets were available. 
3) The fair value was determined based on parameters for which there was no observable market data 

 

Fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined using customary market 

valuation methods taking into account the market data available on the measurement date as well 

as the default risk. 

 

No transfers between the levels occurred during the current and previous year. 

 

The other receivables of € 23 million as of 31 December 2019 comprise the fair value of contingent 

consideration resulting from the Sierra Oil & Gas purchase agreement. This receivable was part of 

the assets acquired in the course of the merger with Dea. The valuation has not affected profit or 

loss in the reporting period.  
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Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

 Offset amounts Amounts that cannot be offset 

Offsetting of financial assets and 

liabilities as of 31-12-2019 

Gross 

amount 

Amount 

offset 

Net 

amount 

Due to 

global 

netting 

agreemen

ts 

Relating 

to 

financial 

collateral 

Potential 

net 

amount 

€ million        

Derivatives with a positive fair value 199 -100 99 - - 99 

Derivatives with a negative fair value 159 -100 59 - - 59 

 

  Offset amounts Amounts that cannot be offset 

Offsetting of financial assets and 

liabilities as of 30-04-2019 

Gross 

amount 

Amount 

offset 

Net 

amount 

Due to 

global 

netting 

agreemen

ts 

Relating 

to 

financial 

collateral 

Potential 

net 

amount 

€ million       

Derivatives with a positive fair value 37 -20 17 -5 - 12 

Derivatives with a negative fair value 55 -20 35 -5 - 30 

 

The table "offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities" shows the extent to which financial 

assets and financial liabilities were offset in the balance sheet, as well as potential effects from the 

offsetting of instruments subject to a legally enforceable global netting agreement (primarily in the 

form of EFET agreements for gas purchase and supply agreements that have been concluded) or a 

similar agreement.  

 

Deviations from the derivatives with positive fair values and derivatives with negative fair values 

reported in derivative instruments assets and derivative instruments liabilities at the end of 2019 

arose from derivatives not subject to any netting agreements as well as from embedded derivatives 

and are therefore not included in the table above. 

 

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
WD Group is exposed to currency, interest rate and commodity price risks during the normal course 

of business. These risks are hedged using derivative instruments as necessary in accordance with a 

centrally defined strategy. Hedging is only employed for underlying items from the operating 

business, cash investments, financing, as well as for planned capital measures. The risks associated 

with the hedged items and the derivatives are constantly monitored. Where derivatives have a 

positive market value, the Group is exposed to credit risks from derivative transactions in the event 

of nonperformance of the other party. To minimize the default risk on derivatives with positive 

market values, transactions are exclusively conducted with creditworthy banks and partners and are 

subject to predefined credit limits.    
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The contracting and execution of derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes are 

conducted according to internal guidelines and are subject to strict control mechanisms.  

 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

€ million   
 

 Foreign currency derivatives 5 5 

     of which designated hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9 

     (hedge accounting) -4 -  

 Commodity derivatives 20 -23 

     of which designated hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9 

     (hedge accounting) 20 -  

Interest derivative (Embedded derivative) 31 - 

Total 56 -18 

 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. In interpreting positive or negative fair 

values, it has to be considered that they are offset by underlying transactions with compensating 

risks. All derivative financial instruments are reported as assets or liabilities.  

 

Fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined using customary market valuation 

methods taking into account public market data available on the measurement date. Credit Value 

Adjustments (CVA) and Adjustments for Own Credit Risk (DVA) are applied to all derivatives. The CVA 

adjustment depends on the expected positive risk exposure and on the creditworthiness of the 

counterparty. DVA is determined by the expected negative exposure and the credit quality of the 

WD Group. The exposure calculation implied all derivatives and is based on a Monte Carlo approach 

by using market values and market- based default probabilities. 

 

Commodity derivatives 

The group has designated oil-sales derivatives as hedging instruments within the scope of cash flow 

hedges. Cash flow hedges are used to hedge the risk of variability in cash flows related to highly 

probable forecast transactions. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivates that 

are designated as cash flow hedges is recognized as other comprehensive income within equity. The 

gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognized immediately in profit or loss. The 

price of the hedged item is defined via a price formula in the sales contract. The instruments used are 

Brent dated oil swaps for which a liquid market exists. Furthermore, a regression analysis shows a high 

correlation between Brent dated oil and the price formula. This is also the basis to determine the 

hedge ratio in order to achieve the highest level of hedge efficiency.  

 

Derivatives related to the gas trading business are recognized at fair value through profit and loss 

and disclosed based on a net risk exposure in accordance with IFRS 13.48.  

 

Foreign currency derivatives 

In the context of the Group’s ordinary net foreign currency exposure derivatives are recognized at fair 

value through profit and loss.  
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Wintershall Dea Finance B.V. has partly on-lent the net proceeds from the bond transactions to 

Wintershall Dea Norge AS.  The transfer of funds was done via USD intercompany loans. In order to 

hedge the foreign currency risk from future USD repayments, the company entered into cross currency 

swaps. The future cash flows resulting from the repayment of the intercompany loans have been 

designated as hedged items. The spot elements and the forward elements of the cross currency 

swaps have been separated, whereas only the value changes of the spot elements have been 

designated as hedging instruments. The forward elements are recognized as cost of hedging in other 

comprehensive income and are reclassified to profit or loss on a systematic (linear) basis. Hedge 

ineffectiveness is immediately recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Interest derivatives 

In the context of financing activities, embedded derivatives have been identified which are required 

to be separated. The contractual terms of the credit facilities entered into by the company contain 

early termination options as well as in individual cases extension options within the discretion of the 

company. Early termination and extension options represent embedded derivatives which have to be 

separated and measured at fair value through profit and loss. Changes in fair value are based on 

changes of interest rates and company's own credit risk. To determine the fair value an option pricing 

model is used, taking into account simulations of interest rates and company's own credit risk.  

 

Effects of hedge accounting on financial positions and performance 

 

 
31-12-2019 / May - Dec. 2019 

€ million 

Commodity derivatives 

(oil-sales derivatives) 

Foreign currency 

derivatives 

   Carrying amount   

Derivative assets 29 1 

Derivative liabilities 9 5 

Nominal amount 505 1,402 

Maturity date 01/2020 - 12/2022 09/2023 - 09/2028 

Average price or rate 61.5 USD/bbl 1.10 USD/€ 

Amounts recognized in profit or loss or other comprehensive 

income 

 
 

Change in fair value of hedging instrument recognized in OCI -49 -14 

Reclassified from OCI to profit or loss 15 25 

 

The changes in fair value of foreign currency derivatives in other comprehensive income are 

completely related to cost of hedging. 

 

Gains or losses from commodity derivatives are reclassified from other comprehensive income to 

revenues and gains and losses from foreign currency derivatives are reclassified to financial 

income/expenses. 

 

Hedge ineffectiveness is determined at inception of the hedge relationship and through periodic 

prospective effectiveness assessment to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the 

hedged item and the hedging instrument. With regard to commodity derivatives, sources of 

ineffectiveness result from CVA/DVA adjustments and from a change in the correlation of the 

hedged item and the hedging instrument. For foreign currency derivatives (cross currency swap), 

ineffectiveness relates to the exclusion of intercompany interests from the hedging relationship. 
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Hedge ineffectiveness as of 31 December 2019 is calculated as follows: 

 

  May - Dec. 2019 

€ million Commodity derivatives 

Foreign currency  

derivatives 

   Change in fair value of the hedging instrument 62 -4 

Change in fair value of the hedged item -62 -32 

Hedge ineffectiveness 0 -15 

 

For commodity derivatives the hedge ineffectiveness is recognized under revenues and foreign 

currency derivatives under financial income/expenses. 

 

NOTE 26 - CAPITAL STRUCTURE MANAGEMENT 

 

The objective of capital structure management is to maintain the financial flexibility needed to 

further develop the business portfolio and take advantage of strategic opportunities. The objectives 

of the company’s financial policy are to ensure solvency, limit financial risks and optimize the cost of 

capital.  

 

The Group aims to ensure financial stability through its long-term commitment to an investment 

grade credit rating. The Group is focused on maintaining cashflow discipline and active cash 

management will be a priority. The Group manages capital commitments to generate positive cash 

flow from operations to sustain its investments, service debt, pay dividends and create financial 

flexibility through the economic cycles. 

 

Moreover, the shareholders continue to evaluate the optimal capital structure and strategy for the 

Group. 

 

Net Debt 31-12- 2019 30-04-2019  

€ million  
  

 Cash and cash equivalents  -814 -889  

 Financial receivables from cashpooling   -16 -  

   

 Bonds  3,995 -  

 Debt to banks  1,889 2,746  

 Financial liabilities from cashpooling  485 445  

 Lease liabilities  223 103  

Net Debt  5,762 2,405  
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NOTE 27 – SHARE PRICE-BASED COMPENSATION PROGRAM AND BASF 

INCENTIVE SHARE PROGRAM 

 

Share price-based compensation program 

Following the merger, the share price-based compensation program (BASF: long-term incentive (LTI) 

program/Wintershall Dea: BASF option program (BOP)) has been terminated and existing option rights 

for active employees have been settled in the reporting period. For remaining obligations towards 

retired and former employees returning to BASF a provision in the amount of € 391 thousand was 

recognized as of 31 December 2019. As of 30 April 2019 the number of held options was 285,647 and 

the provision amounted to € 2 million. 

 

BASF employee participation program  

The "plus" employee participation program is open to all employees except the executives who are 

entitled to take part in the BOP. The program was launched in 1999. Employees who participate in the 

"plus" incentive share program acquire shares in BASF from their variable compensation. For every 10 

BASF shares purchased as part of the program, a participant receives one BASF share at no cost after 

one, three, five, seven and ten years of holding these shares. As a rule, the first and second block of 

ten shares entitles the participant to receive one BASF share at no extra cost in each of the next 10 

years.  

 

The right to receive free BASF shares lapses if a participant sells the individual investment in BASF 

shares, if the participant stops working for a group company or one year after retirement. The number 

of free shares to be granted amounted to 13,872 as of the reporting date for the short fiscal year 

(previous year: 12,319).  

 

The free shares to be provided are measured at the fair value on the date on which the employees 

acquire the subscription right by way of their investment. Fair value is determined on the basis of the 

BASF share price, taking into account the present value of dividends, which are not paid during the 

term of the program. The weighted-average fair value on the grant date amounted to €68.21 for the 

2019 program. 

 

 

NOTE 28 – RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 

A related party is a natural person or legal entity that can exert influence on 

the Wintershall Dea Group or over which the Wintershall Dea Group exercises control, joint control or 

a significant influence.   

  

As of 1 May 2019, Wintershall Dea is jointly controlled by BASF and LetterOne. Therefore, BASF and 

LetterOne and its subsidiaries are considered as related parties. In addition, related parties include 

non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies. Until 30 April 2019, 

Wintershall Dea was controlled by BASF and its subsidiaries.  
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The following tables show the volume of business with related parties that are included in the 

consolidated financial statements at amortized cost or accounted for using the equity method. 

 

Revenues with related parties May - Dec.. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ million   

 Non-consolidated subsidiaries 2 1 

 Joint ventures/associated companies 124 5 

 Shareholders and their affiliates 240 214 

Total 366 220 

 

 

 Trade accounts receivable Trade accounts payable 

Trade accounts receivable from/ 

trade accounts payable to related parties 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

€ million     

 Non-consolidated subsidiaries 1 1 1 1 

 Joint ventures/associated companies 52 10 4 6 

 Shareholders and their affiliates 42 42 4 4 

Total 95 53 9 11 

 

 Financial and other receivables Financial and other liabilities 

Financial and other receivables from/ 

liabilities to related parties 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 31-12-2019 30-04-2019 

€ million     

 Non-consolidated subsidiaries 31 40 2 0 

 Joint ventures/associated companies 362 168 484 439 

 Shareholders and their affiliates 1 594 9 3,094 

Total 394 802 495 3,533 

 

Revenues with, as well as trade accounts receivable from, and trade accounts payable to related 

parties mainly comprised transactions with the company’s own products, as well as other typical 

business transactions. 

 

Other receivables and liabilities resulted mainly from financing transactions, outstanding dividend 

payments and profit and loss transfer agreements, as well as other financing-related and operating 

transactions.  

 

The financial and other receivables from shareholders and their affiliates decreased mainly due to 

the settlement of the receivable from profit and loss transfer against the capital reserve. The 

shareholder loan from BASF of € 3,000 million was contributed to equity in the course of the merger 

(see Note 3).  

 

Cash-effective changes in financial liabilities to related parties (see "Consolidated Statement of Cash 

Flows") are mainly related to liabilities from cashpooling. 

 

All transactions are subject to market terms and conditions. 
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Related persons are the members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board of WD Group 

and of the parent company. No business relations exist with members of the Board of Management 

and of the Supervisory Board or individuals close to them.  

 

Remumeration paid May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ thousand   

 Short-term benefits 3,474 1,080 

 Post-employment benefits 28,902 27,412 

 Other long-term benefits - - 

 Termination benefits - - 

 Share-based payment - - 

Total 32,376 28,492 

 

For more information on the members of the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board, 

see Note 29. 

 

NOTE 29 – COMPENSATION RECEIVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 

SUPERVISORY BOARD 

 

The compensation paid to the management amounted to € 6,115 thousand in the reporting period 

(Jan. – Apr. 2019: € 1,060 thousand). 

 

In the reporting period ended 31 December 2019, no option rights were granted to active members 

of the Board of Management. As of 31 December 2019, 5,724 option rights were granted to former 

members of the Board of Management. Together with the option rights granted in previous years, 

former members of the Board of Executive Directors hold a total of 64,850 option rights. 

 

Compensation Management Board 

May - Dec. 

 2019 

Jan. - Apr.  

2019 

€ thousand   
 

 Total compensation paid to the Board of Management 3,413 1,060 

 Provisions for Long-Term/Short-Term Incentive Plans (LTI/STI) 2,702 - 

 Total remuneration Board of Management 6,115 1,060 

 Compensation paid to the Supervisory Board 61 20 

 Pension expenses for members of the Management Board 1,322 1,437 

 Total compensation paid to former members of the Management Board 631 358 

 Pension provisions for former members of the Management Board and  

 their surviving dependents 26,949 25,617 
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NOTE 30 – SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

 

WD Group recognized the following fees as expenses for services rendered by the auditor of the 

consolidated financial statements, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main 

(KPMG AG) and companies belonging to KPMG's international network. In the previous year, the 

presented fees only comprise services rendered by KPMG AG. 

 

Services provided by the auditor May - Dec. 2019 Jan. - Apr. 2019 

€ thousand 
  

 Audit services 1,726 732 

     thereof KPMG AG 922 732 

 Other services 1,219 14 

     thereof KPMG AG 1,028 14 

Total   2,945 746 

 

The auditor's services mainly include services for the annual audit of the financial statements and 

other services. 

 

The audit services expenses related to the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the WD 

Group, as well as the legally required financial statements of Wintershall Dea GmbH and the 

subsidiaries and joint operations included in the consolidated financial statements. Fees for other 

services mainly include project-related audits in connection with regulatory requirements as well as 

other confirmation services and the issuance of a Comfort Letter. 

 

 

NOTE 31 – EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

 

No events subject to mandatory disclosure occurred after the balance sheet date that have not been 

reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 32 - WD GROUP LIST OF SHARES HELD PURSUANT TO SECTION 313(2) 

OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)  

 

The list of consolidated companies and the complete list of all companies in which WD Group holds 

shares as required by section 313(2) HGB and information on the exemption of subsidiaries from 

accounting and disclosure obligations are an integral component of the audited consolidated 

financial statements submitted to the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).  

 

I. Companies included the consolidated financial statements on a full or proportional basis, or accounted for using the 

equity method 
 

  
Fully consolidated subsidiaries  

  

Company Registered office 
Share of 

capital (%) 

Europe   

Wintershall Dea GmbH (formerly: Wintershall Holding GmbH) Kassel 100.00 

E & A Internationale Explorations- und Produktions-GmbH 4) Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH (formerly: 

Wintershall Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH4) 
Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Middle East GmbH (formerly: Wintershall Middle  

East GmbH) 4) 
Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea TSC GmbH & Co. KG Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea TSC Management GmbH Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Deutschland AG (fomerly: DEA Deutsche Erdoel AG) Hamburg 100.00 

DEA E&P GmbH4) Hamburg 100.00 

DEA Cyrenaica GmbH4) Hamburg 100.00 

DEA North Africa/Middle East GmbH4) Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Suez GmbH (formerly: DEA Suez GmbH) 4) Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Nile GmbH (formerly: DEA Nile GmbH) 4) Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea WND GmbH (formerly: DEA WND GmbH) 4) Hamburg 100.00 

DEA Trinidad & Tobago GmbH Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Algeria GmbH (formerly: DEA Suriname GmbH) 4) Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Immobilien Management GmbH Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Schweiz AG (formerly: Wintershall Oil AG) Zug, Switzerland 100.00 

DEA Global Limited London, Great Britain 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Norge AS (formerly: Wintershall Norge AS) Stavanger, Norway 100.00 

DEA Nederland B.V. Amsterdam, Netherlands 100.00 

DEA Nederland Erdoel B.V. Amsterdam, Netherlands 100.00 

DEA Nederland Upstream B.V. Amsterdam, Netherlands 100.00 

Sierra Oil & Gas Management Holdings B.V.  Amsterdam, Netherlands 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Nederland B.V. (formerly: Wintershall Nederland B.V.) Rijswijk, Netherlands 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Nederland Transport and Trading B.V.  

(formerly: Wintershall Nederland Transport and Trading B.V) 
Rijswijk, Netherlands 100.00 

Wintershall Petroleum (E&P) B.V. Rijswijk, Netherlands 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Finance B.V. Rijswijk, Netherlands 100.00 

Russia     

ZAO Gazprom YRGM Trading 
Krasnoselkup, Russian 

Federation 
      25.00 1) 
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Latin America     

Wintershall Dea Argentina S.A. (formerly: Wintershall Energía S.A.) Buenos Aires, Argentina 100.00 

Deutsche Erdoel México S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

DEM México-Alemania S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

DEM México Upstream, S.A.P.I. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

DEM México Erdoel, S.A.P.I. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Oil & Gas S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra O&G Exploracíon y Produccíon S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Xitle Energia, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Offshore Exploracíon S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Perote Energia, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Perote E&P, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Coronado Energia, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Coronado E&P, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Nevada Energia, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Nevada E&P, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Blanca Energia, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Sierra Blanca P&D, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Itza Energia, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico-City, Mexico 100.00 

Wintershall Dea do Brasil Exploração e Produção Ltda (formerly: 

Wintershall do Brasil Exploração e Produção Ltda) Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100.00 

North America 
 

 

Sierra Oil & Gas Holdings, L.P. Ontarrio, Canada 100.00 

Paricutin Energia, LLC Houston, USA 100.00 
 

  
Proportionally consolidated joint operations 

  

Company Registered office 
Share of 

capital (%) 

Russia   

AO Achimgaz Novy Urengoi, Russian 

Federation 

50.00 

 
  

Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 
  

Company Registered office 
Share of 

capital (%) 

Europe   

WIGA Transport Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG Kassel 50.02 

W & G Transport Holding GmbH Kassel 50.02 

OPAL Gastransport GmbH & Co. KG Kassel 50.02 

W & G Infrastruktur Finanzierungs-GmbH Kassel 50.02 

NEL Gastransport GmbH Kassel 50.02 

GASCADE Gastransport GmbH Kassel 50.02 

Wintershall Noordzee B.V. Rijswijk, Netherlands 50.00 
 

  
Associated companies accounted for using the equity method 

  

Company Registered office 
Share of 

capital (%) 

Europe   

Wintershall Dea Wolga Petroleum GmbH (formerly: Wintershall Wolga 

Petroleum GmbH) 
Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall AG Celle 51.00 

Nord Stream AG Zug, Switzerland   15.50 2) 
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Russia 
  

Joint Stock Company Achim Trading  Moscow, Russian Federation   18.01 2) 

Limited Liability Company Achim Development Novy Urengoi, Russian 

Federation 

25.01 

OAO Severneftegazprom Krasnoselkup, Russian 

Federation 

   25.00 3) 

Limited Liability Company Joint Venture "Wolgodeminoil" Wolgograd, Russland 50.00 

   

   

II. Associated companies not consolidated due to immateriality 
  

 
  

Subsidiaries not consolidated due to immateriality 
  

Company Registered office 
Share of 

capital (%) 

Europe   

Wintershall Libyen Oil & Gas GmbH Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Deutschland GmbH (formerly: Wintershall Venture GmbH) Kassel  100.00 

Wintershall Dea Russia GmbH (formerly: Wintershall Russland GmbH) Kassel 100.00 

Wintershall Dea Technology Ventures GmbH Kassel 100.00 

Nordkaspische Explorations- und Produktions GmbH Kassel 100.00 

WIGA Verwaltungs-GmbH Kassel 50.02 

OPAL Verwaltungs-GmbH Kassel 50.02 

Wintershall Dea Global Support B.V. (formerly: Wintershall Global  

Support B.V.) 
Rijswijk, Netherlands 100.00 

Wintershall  Dea Exploration and Production International C.V. 

(formerly: Wintershall Exploration and Production International C.V.) 
Rijswijk, Netherlands 100.00 

AWIAG Limited Birkirkara, Malta 100.00 

DEA Ukraine LLC (in liquidation) Kiev, Ukraine 100.00 

Latin America 
  

Wintershall Dea do Brasil Servicos Ltda. (formerly: Wintershall do Brasil 

Servicos Ltda.) 
Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100.00 

Wintershall Dea BM-C-19 Ltda. (formerly: Wintershall BM-C-19 Ltda.) Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100.00 

Wintershall Dea BM-ES-1 Ltda. (formerly: Wintershall BM-ES-1 Ltda.) Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100.00 

DEA Petróleo e Gás do Brasil Ltda. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100.00 

Wintershall Chile Ltda. Santiago de Chile, Chile 100.00 

North America 
 

 

DEA México Holdings GP Ltd.  N. Brunswik, Canada 100.00 

   
 

  
Joint ventures not accounted for using the equity method due to immateriality 

 

Company Registered office 
Share of 

capital (%) 

Europe   

Erdgas Münster GmbH Münster 33.66 

   
1) Fully consolidated due to IFRS 10 

2) Wintershall Dea exerts a significant influence over financial and corporate policy. 

3) Share of result totals 35% via an additional preference share. 

4) Application of Section 264 (3) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
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NOTE 33 – MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

 

Supervisory Board 

Dr. Hans-Ulrich Engel (Chairman) 

Deputy Executive Chairman BASF SE, Ludwigshafen am Rhein 

 

Lord Edmund John Philip Browne of Madingley (Chairman) 

Executive Chairman L1 Energy (UK) LLP, London, United Kingdom 

 

Michael Winkler (Deputy Chairman) 

Union Secretary, Union of Mining, Chemical and Energy Industries (IG Bergbau, Chemie, Energie) 

 

Birgit Böl 

Chairman of the Joint Works Council Wintershall Dea GmbH 

 

Sabine Brandt 

Consultant for HSE, Erdölwerke Barnstorf 

 

Michael Heinz 

Member of the Board of Management BASF SE, Ludwigshafen am Rhein 

 

Saori Dubourg 

Member of the Board of Management BASF SE, Ludwigshafen am Rhein 

 

Dr. Wolfgang Haas 

President Legal, Tax, Insurance and Intellectual property, BASF SE, Ludwigshafen am Rhein 

 

German Khan 

Director LetterOne Holdings S.A., London, United Kingdom 

 

 

Board of Management 

Mario Mehren 

CEO 

 

Thilo Wieland 

Region Russia, Latin America and Transportation 

 

Paul Robert Smith (since 1 May 2019) 

CFO 

 

Hugo Dijkgraaf (since 1 May 2019) 

CTO 

 

Maria Moræus Hanssen (since 1 May 2019 until 31 December 2019) 

Deputy CEO and COO 
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Kassel/Hamburg, February 26, 2020 

 

The Management Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mehren Dijkgraaf Smith Wieland 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

 

To Wintershall Dea GmbH, Celle 

Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wintershall Dea GmbH (Up until 16 May 

2019: Wintershall Holding GmbH), Celle and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consoli-

dated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of income, the consoli-

dated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consoli-

dated statement of cash flows for the short fiscal year from 1 May to 31 December 2019, and notes to 

the consolidated financial statements including a segment reporting as well as a summary of significant 

accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group management report of Wintershall Dea 

GmbH for the short fiscal year from 1 May to 31 December 2019. In accordance with German legal 

requirements, we have not audited the content of those components of the group management report 

specified in the "Other Information" section of our auditor's report. 

The group management report contains cross-references to a separate sustainability report marked as 

unaudited and not required by law. In accordance with German legal requirements, we have not 

audited the content of these cross-references or the information to which they refer. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

– the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs 

as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec-

tion 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] and, in compliance with these 

requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the Group 

as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance for the short fiscal year from 1 May to 31 

December 2019, and  

– the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the 

Group's position. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the con-

solidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately pre-

sents the opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the group management 

report does not cover the content of those components of the group management report specified 

in the “Other Information” section of the auditor´s report. The group management report contains 

cross-references to a separate sustainability report marked as unaudited and not required by law. 

Our audit opinion does not cover these cross-references or the information to which they refer. 

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations 

relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 

report. 



2 

Basis for the Opinions 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report 

in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the German Generally Accepted Standards of Financial State-

ment Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germa-

ny] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the 

"Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 

Management Report" section of our auditor's report. We are independent of the group entities in 

accordance with the requirements of German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled 

our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 

the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the 

consolidated financial statements and on the group management report. 

Other Information 

Management respectively supervisory board are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the following components of the group management report, whose content 

was not audited:  

– information extraneous to group management reports and marked as unaudited.  

The other information also includes the remaining parts of the annual report, which is expected to be 

made available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements, the group management 

report information audited for content and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not 

cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to 

consider whether the other information 

– is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group management 

report information audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

– otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial State-

ments and the Group Management Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that comply, 

in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German 

commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in 

compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial posi-

tion, and financial performance of the Group. In addition, management is responsible for such internal 
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control as they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial state-

ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Group's ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting 

based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the group management report that, as 

a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group's position and is, in all material respects, con-

sistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and 

appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, management is 

responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to 

enable the preparation of a group management report that is in accordance with the applicable Ger-

man legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in 

the group management report. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process for the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 

Management Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial state-

ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 

the group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group's position and, in 

all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge 

obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the 

opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor's report that includes our 

opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Section 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always 

detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-

nomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this group 

management report. 
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We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 

also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and 

of the group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit proce-

dures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to pro-

vide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group man-

agement report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these systems. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by management and the reasonableness 

of estimates made by management and related disclosures. 

– Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor's 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the group man-

agement report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our con-

clusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going con-

cern. 

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underly-

ing transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in com-

pliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial 

law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB. 

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements 

and on the group management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and per-

formance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions. 

– Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial state-

ments, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group's position it provides. 

– Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by management in the group 

management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particu-

lar, the significant assumptions used by management as a basis for the prospective information, 

and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do 

not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a 

basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the pro-

spective information. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

  

Frankfurt am Main, 27 February 2020   

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft  
[Original German version signed by:] 

 

  

 

Janz 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] 

Wetzel 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] 
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